

Progress in Neurobiology Vol. 56, pp. 613 to 672, 1998 © 1998 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved Printed in Great Britain 0301-0082/98/\$ - see front matter

# PII: S0301-0082(98)00060-4

# MEASURING REWARD WITH THE CONDITIONED PLACE PREFERENCE PARADIGM: A COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW OF DRUG EFFECTS, RECENT PROGRESS AND NEW ISSUES

# THOMAS M. TZSCHENTKE\*

Department of Neuropharmacology, Zoological Institute, University of Tübingen, Mohlstr. 54/1, D-72074 Tübingen, Germany

# (Received 22 April 1998)

Abstract—This review gives an overview of recent findings and developments in research on brain mechanisms of reward and reinforcement from studies using the place preference conditioning paradigm, with emphasis on those studies that have been published within the last decade. Methodological issues of the paradigm (such as design of the conditioning apparatus, biased vs unbiased conditioning, state dependency effects) are discussed.

Results from studies using systemic and local (intracranial) drug administration, natural reinforcers, and non-drug treatments and from studies examining the effects of lesions are presented. Papers reporting on conditioned place aversion (CPA) experiments are also included. A special emphasis is put on the issue of tolerance and sensitization to the rewarding properties of drugs.

Transmitter systems that have been investigated with respect to their involvement in brain reward mechanisms include dopamine, opioids, acetylcholine, GABA, serotonin, glutamate, substance P, and cholecystokinin, the motivational significance of which has been examined either directly, by using respective agonist or antagonist drugs, or indirectly, by studying the effects of these drugs on the reward induced by other drugs.

For a number of these transmitters, detailed studies have been conducted to delineate the receptor subtype(s) responsible for the mediation of the observed drug effects, particularly in the case of dopamine, the opioids, serotonin and glutamate.

Brain sites that have been implicated in the mediation of drug-induced place conditioning include the 'traditional' brain reward sites, ventral tegmental area and nucleus accumbens, but the medial prefrontal cortex, ventral pallidum, amygdala and the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus have also been shown to play important roles in the mediation of place conditioning induced by drugs or natural reinforcers.

Thus, although the paradigm has also been criticized because of some inherent methodological problems, it is clear that during the past decade place preference conditioning has become a valuable and firmly established and very widely used tool in behavioural pharmacology and addiction research. © 1998 Elsevier Science Ltd. All rights reserved

#### **CONTENTS**

1.	Introduction	615
2.	Methodological issues	616
	2.1. The conditioning principle	616
	2.2. Design of conditioning apparatus	616
	2.3. Biased vs unbiased design, conditioning to preferred vs non-preferred side	617
	2.4. Route of drug administration	617
	2.5. Time effects	617
	2.6. State dependency	618
	2.7. Latent inhibition	618
	2.8. The operant approach	618
	2.9. The relationship between CPP, response to novelty, locomotor activity and dopaminergic	
	neurotransmission in the mesocorticolimbic system	618
	2.10. Definitions, use of words	619
3.	Studies using systemic drug treatments	619
	3.1. 'Single-drug treatments'	619
	3.1.1. Stimulants, dopaminergic drugs	619
	3.1.2. Opiates	625
	3.1.3. Ethanol	626
	3.1.4. Nicotine/cholinergic drugs	627

\* Tel.: +49 7071-2975017; Fax: +49 7071-922868; E-mail: thomas.tzschentke@uni-tuebingen.de; Internet: http://www.uni-tuebingen.de/neuropharmacology/.

T. M. Tzschentke

		3.1.5. GABAergic drugs	627
		316 Serotonergic drugs	628
			(20
		3.1.7. Glutamatergic drugs	028
		3.1.8. $\Delta$ (9)-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)	629
		3.1.9. Substance P (SP)	629
		21.10 Chologystakinin (CCK)	620
		5.1.10. Cholecystokhimi (CCK)	629
		3.1.11. Hormones	629
		3.1.12. Calcium channel blockers	629
		3 1 13 Adrenergic drugs	629
		2.1.14. Adversignments deven	(20
		3.1.14. Adenosinergic drugs	629
		3.1.15. Diverse drugs	629
		3.1.16. Natural reinforcers	630
	3 2	"Drug combinations"	630
	3.2.		030
		3.2.1. Place conditioning induced by dopaminergic drugs	630
		3.2.1.1. Effects of dopaminergic drugs	630
		3.2.1.2 Effects of opioidergic drugs	638
		2.2.1.2. Effects of CADA and anyon	620
		5.2.1.5. Effects of GABAergic drugs	030
		3.2.1.4. Effects of serotonergic drugs	638
		3.2.1.5. Effects of glutamatergic drugs	638
		3.2.1.6 Effects of calcium channel blockers	630
		2.2.1.7. Effects of calcium channel ofockets	(20
		3.2.1.7. Effects of other substances and treatments	639
		3.2.1.8. Effects of environmental factors	639
		3.2.2. Place conditioning induced by opioids	639
		3.2.2.1 Effects of dopaminargic drugs	620
		3.2.2.1. Effects of dopartificities drugs	039
		<i>3.2.2.2.</i> Effects of opioidergic drugs	640
		3.2.2.3. Effects of GABAergic drugs	640
		3.2.2.4. Effects of serotonergic drugs	640
			640
		3.2.2.5. Effects of glutamatergic drugs	640
		3.2.2.6. Effects of CCKergic drugs	641
		3.2.2.7. Effects other drugs and treatments	641
		3.2.2.8 Effects of environmental factors	641
		3.2.3 Place conditioning induced by ethanol	641
		3.2.3. The controlling induced by challen	641
		3.2.3.1. Effects of serotonergic drugs	641
		3.2.3.2. Effects of other drugs or treatments	642
		3.2.4. Place conditioning induced by nicotine	642
		3.2.5 Place conditioning induced by GABAergic drugs	642
		3.2.6 Place conditioning induced by serotonergic drugs	642
		5.2.7. The conditioning induced by scrotonergic drugs	(42
		3.2.7. Various combinations	642
		3.2.8. Place conditioning induced by natural reinforcers	642
4.	Stud	lies using intracranial drug injections	643
	41	'Single drug treatments'	643
		111 Donaminergic drugs	643
		1.1.2 Opiningia drugs	(42
		4.1.2. Opioletgic drugs	045
		4.1.3. Cholinergic drugs	644
		4.1.4. GABAergic drugs	644
		4.1.5. Serotonergic drugs	644
		116. Chutamataraic drugs	644
		A 17 Culatone D	611
		4.1.7. Substance P	044
		4.1.8. Hormones	644
		4.1.9. Diverse drugs	644
		4.1.10. Non-drug treatments	644
	42	'Drug combinations'	647
	т.4.	2.1. Diago conditioning induced by denominargic day	617
		4.2.1. Frace conditioning induced by dopaminergic drugs	04/
		4.2.2. Place conditioning induced by opioids	647
		4.2.3. Various combinations	648
		4.2.4 Place conditioning induced by electrical stimulation	648
		12.5 Place conditioning induced by natural reinforcers	619
-	a. 1	4.2.5. Frace controlling induced by natural remoters	040
э.	Stud	lies examining the effects of lesions	648
	5.1.	6-Hydroxy-dopamine (6-OHDA) lesions	648
	5.2.	Excitotoxic lesions (by ibotenic acid, kainic acid or quinolinic acid)	648
	53	Other types of lesions	650
6	Ger		651
0.	Gen		031
	6.1.	Different strains of rats	651
	6.2.	Different strains of mice	651
	6.3	Genetically engineered animals	654
7	The	issue of tolerance and sensitization to the rewarding effects of drugs	654
/ ·	1110	is a seriar of the seriar of the few and the few and the few and the series of the ser	654
ð.	Stud	nes explicitly examining CPA	030
	8.1.	CPA produced by opiate antagonist-precipitated withdrawal	656
	8.2.	CPA produced by lithium chloride	657
9	Con	cluding remarks	657
- •	Ach	nowledgements	658
	Daf		650
	IN PIE		D 1A

614

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine	mPFC	medial prefrontal cortex
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine	NAS	nucleus accumbens septi
AMPA	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolpro-	NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
	pionic acid	PAG	periaqueductal gray
CCK	cholecystokinin	PCP	phencyclidine
CPA	conditioned place aversion	PPTg	pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus
CPP	conditioned place preference	SC	subcutaneous
DA	dopamine	SN	substantia nigra
GABA	γ-amino-butyric acid	SP	substance P
ICV	intracerebroventricular	THC	$\Delta(9)$ -tetrahydrocannabinol
IP	intraperitoneal	VP	ventral pallidum
IV	intravenous	VTA	ventral tegmental area

# ABBREVIATIONS

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

The last few years have seen an enormous increase in published studies using the conditioned place preference (CPP) paradigm (Fig. 1). Several reviews of this literature have been published over the years, but since the number of studies employing this paradigm is still increasing from year to year, a new survey of this literature seemed warranted.

Two comprehensive and now widely cited reviews of the literature on CPP were published in 1989 (Carr *et al.*, 1989; Hoffman, 1989). A cross-indexed bibliography covering the literature until 1991 became available in 1993 (Schechter and Calcagnetti, 1993), and a meta-analysis of data for opiate and stimulant drugs was published in 1995 (Bardo *et al.*, 1995b). Other reviews on the topic of CPP can be found in Bozarth (1987b), van der Kooy (1987), White *et al.* (1987) and Calcagnetti *et al.* (1995), and a number of further reviews also make reference to place conditioning experiments (Beninger *et al.*, 1989; Beninger, 1989; Beninger and Miller, 1998; Franklin, 1998; Koob *et al.*, 1989; Ettenberg, 1989; Altman *et al.*, 1996; White, 1996; Nader *et al.*, 1997; Stolerman and Shoaib, 1991; Wise, 1989; Self and Stein, 1992; Bardo, 1998; Witt, 1994; Shaham, 1996; Phillips and Fibiger, 1990; Carney *et al.*, 1991). The reader is referred to these publications for overviews of the older literature and for detailed discussions and considerations of



Fig. 1. This figure shows the number of published studies per year that have used the place preference conditioning paradigm to assess the motivational properties of drugs and other treatments. The figure illustrates the steady increase of the number of studies using place conditioning procedures from year to year and also demonstrates the considerable amount of data that has accumulated since the publication of the last comprehensive reviews in 1989. The numbers are based on a Medline/Current Contents search with 'place preference', 'place aversion' and 'place conditioning' as search terms.

basic methodological issues of the CPP paradigm (see in particular Carr *et al.*, 1989; Bardo *et al.*, 1995b) which will largely be omitted from the present review.

This review will give an overview of new methodological approaches and of new findings about anatomical and neurochemical aspects of rewardand reinforcement-related mechanisms in the brain. It will focus primarily on the studies of the last decade, but if necessary to provide the context, older studies will be included as well. No attempt will be made to provide a complete bibliography including every single study that has employed the place conditioning approach, but the intention of this article is to give a comprehensive review of those studies that have used the paradigm to explicitly test the motivational effects of drugs or non-drug treatments or the effects of lesions or genetical manipulations on brain reward mechanisms. In those instances where inconsistent results have been reported, attempts are made to resolve these discrepancies and to provide explanations for the contradicting results. A concluding chapter will provide a synthesis of those findings that have been reported consistently across different studies and tries to highlight the neurochemical and anatomical foundations of brain reward mechanisms as far as this knowledge has been derived from place preference conditioning studies reviewed in this paper.

#### 2. METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES

#### 2.1. The Conditioning Principle

In the place conditioning paradigm, the primary motivational properties of a drug or non-drug treatment serve as an unconditioned stimulus (UCS) that is repeatedly paired with a previously neutral set of environmental stimuli which acquire, in the course of conditioning, secondary motivational properties such that they can act as conditioned stimuli (CS) which can elicit approach (or withdrawal, if the primary motivational properties of the treatment were aversive) when the animal is subsequently exposed to these stimuli.

Although some conceptual problems do exist, the mechanisms determining place conditioning appear to follow the principles of classical (Pavlovian) conditioning. This is manifest, for example, in contextdependent blocking/unblocking effects (McKee et al., 1994), and in the fact that CPP can show extinction when the animals are repeatedly exposed to the CS in the absence of the UCS (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1993a; Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995; Hughes et al., 1995; Hinson et al., 1993; Bardo et al., 1986). There is also some evidence for withinsession extinction during the test for CPP (Cunningham et al., 1995). This property might make the CPP paradigm a potentially useful tool to test drugs for anti-craving activity, since the extinction of drug-associated conditioned cues, which are presumed to be largely responsible for craving and relapse in drug-free former addicts, and the effects

of drugs on this extinction, could be easily examined in place conditioning experiments.

A first-order CPP (with a place/context as the CS) can also serve as the basis of a second-order conditioning procedure to produce second-order taste-preference conditioning (with a taste as the new CS), and vice versa, a first-order conditioned taste aversion (CTA) can be the basis of a second-order CPA (Stefurak *et al.*, 1990).

#### 2.2. Design of Conditioning Apparatus

By far the most CPP studies used either two- or three-compartment conditioning boxes (in the latter design, a third, 'neutral' compartment usually serves as a connection between the two conditioning compartments and is used as a 'start box'). However, a number of studies have explored the properties and utility of novel conditioning apparatuses (Vezina and Stewart, 1987a,b; Cabib et al., 1996). Vezina and Stewart (1987a,b) used open fields to pair morphine or saline with different tactile cues of the open field floor. During conditioning, all four quadrants of the open field had the same texture. During the test the open field floor consisted of different proportions of quadrants with the two textures that had been paired with morphine or saline, and time was measured that the animals spent in the quadrants with the morphine-paired floor. It was demonstrated that under these circumstances the animals will exhibit a strong preference for the morphinepaired tactile cues.

A concern about CPP experiments is to what extent reaction and habituation to novelty (which might be differentially affected by different drugs) influences the outcome of the conditioning experiment (Reid et al., 1989). To examine the relative role of novelty, Parker (1992) employed a threechoice apparatus, with one compartment that was paired with a rewarding drug, one compartment that was paired with saline and one compartment to which the animals were never exposed until the test day. During the test, the animals preferred the compartment paired with amphetamine, morphine or apomorphine over both the novel and the salinepaired compartment. However, they also preferred the novel compartment over the saline-paired compartment. These results indicate that if a drug blocks the habituation to novelty during conditioning, this effect might contribute to the CPP observed subsequently in the drug-free test. A three-choice apparatus was also used to assess the relative strength of morphine- and cocaine-induced CPP (Parker et al., 1994). With this approach it was shown that short conditioning sessions yielded a relative preference for cocaine, while longer conditioning sessions produced a relative preference for morphine, an effect which is probably due to the different pharmacokinetics of both drugs (Parker et al., 1994). These studies show that a multi-choice apparatus can be useful to assess and compare the *relative* potency of different treatments. A multi-choice conditioning apparatus was also described by Hasenöhrl et al. (1989), who used a circular open field consisting of four separated uniform quadrants.

CPP experiments usually involve test-sessions with a duration of 15–20 min. The sojourn times of the animals in the different conditioning compartments are determined either by direct observation, which is very time-consuming, or by automated monitoring systems, usually based on photo-cell beam devices. Attempts have been made to improve these automated systems and to collect additional information during the experiment, primarily with respect to locomotor activity (Brockwell *et al.*, 1996).

# 2.3. Biased Vs Unbiased Design, Conditioning to Preferred Vs Non-Preferred Side

A conditioning apparatus can be designed such that naive animals do not show a significant preference for one of the conditioning compartments upon initial exposure ('pretest') (unbiased design), or it can be designed such that the animals show an unconditioned preference for one side over the other (biased design). In the latter case, drug administration can be paired with exposure of the animals to either the preferred or the non-preferred compartment, or the pairing can be counterbalanced, such that for half of the animals the treatment is paired with the preferred compartment, while for the other half of the animals the treatment is paired with the non-preferred compartment.

In general, a trend can be observed over the years to prefer unbiased experimental designs rather than biased designs. The biased design has often been criticized because it is susceptible to yielding false-positive results in place conditioning experiments, for example if a drug has a strong anxiolytic component that could overcome the initial aversion for the nonpreferred compartment, thus increasing the preference scores for that particular compartment. However, this argument is only valid as long as a treatment only produces a relative increase in the preference for the initially non-preferred side, without producing an absolute preference (e.g. Papp and Moryl, 1994). But if, with the biased design, a genuine, absolute preference for the initially non-preferred side is obtained (e.g. Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995), this effect cannot be explained solely by anxiolytic actions of a treatment, although such actions might contribute to the observed effects. Nevertheless, as mentioned above, researchers now seem to tend to prefer the unbiased design in order to circumvent the interpretational problems outlined in this paragraph.

Schechter (1995) demonstrated that, using a biased design, cocaethylene produces a CPP only when paired with the initially non-preferred side, but not when paired with the initially preferred side. The same was found for IP cocaine (but not IV cocaine) (Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988b), SC heroin (Schenk *et al.*, 1985) and for IP clonidine (Cervo *et al.*, 1993). For IP [Leu]enkephalin it was reported that it produced a place preference when paired with the initially non-preferred compartment, but a place aversion when paired with the initially preferred compartment (Heinrichs and Martinez, 1986). A dependence of the magnitude of CPP on the base-line preference of the animals was also reported for

amphetamine (Costello *et al.*, 1989). This suggests that the biased, non-balanced design may be useful to detect motivational effects of a drug that depend on the motivational baseline or state of the animal, provided that appropriate controls are included, e.g. by pairing the drug with the preferred and the non-preferred compartment in different groups of animals, and by including appropriate saline controls (see Scoles and Siegel, 1986). Thus, use of the biased design may be useful to detect anxiolytic and antiaversive effects of drugs independently from potential genuine rewarding effects.

#### 2.4. Route of Drug Administration

Mayer and Parker (1993) showed that only IP cocaine, but not SC cocaine produced CPP, a finding that is in line with the results of the meta-analysis by Bardo et al. (1995b) who found that IP cocaine generally yields larger CPP effects than SC cocaine. In stark contrast to this, Durazzo et al. (1994) reported that both IP and SC cocaine produced CPP, and that the minimum IP dose necessary to elicit CPP was 10 mg/kg, while the minimum SC dose was only 0.32 mg/kg, suggesting that SC cocaine was extremely more effective in producing CPP than IP cocaine. Nomikos and Spyraki (1988b) have demonstrated that IV cocaine is more than 10 times more potent than IP cocaine in producing CPP. Differences in the effectiveness between IV cocaine and IP cocaine were also reported by O'Dell et al. (1996). Oral intake of cocaine (either as selfadministered bolus doses or as schedule-induced drinking of cocaine solution) also produced CPP (Seidman et al., 1992). It is interesting to note that the studies reporting big differences in effect size between different routes of administration have all used cocaine, a drug with extremely rapid pharmacokinetics.

## 2.5. Time Effects

The relative time sequence of drug administration and conditioning session can have a big effect on the outcome of the conditioning experiment. For example, it was shown that while amphetamine or nicotine injections immediately before the conditioning sessions produced CPP, amphetamine or nicotine injections just after the conditioning sessions ('delay conditioning') (Fudala and Iwamoto, 1987, 1990; Wall *et al.*, 1990), or injection of amphetamine 15 min after placing the animals into the conditioning context (Hinson *et al.*, 1991), produced CPA.

CPP experiments usually involve a number of lengthy conditioning sessions. Therefore it is of considerable practical interest to employ experimental protocols that reduce the time needed for conducting CPP experiments without reducing the value and significance of the data. An obvious way to reduce the time needed for an experiment is to reduce the number of conditioning trials. Another approach is to conduct two conditioning sessions per day, not just one as is most commonly the case. This approach has been used by some authors (e.g. Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1992a; Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1997; Bolanos *et al.*, 1996) and it has been generally reported that this procedure generates the same results as procedures involving only one conditioning session per day, both qualitatively and quantitatively. It should be noted, however, that great care should be taken to make sure that the drug effect from the previous session does not carry over to the next session. Even with several hours between two sessions, this could easily be the case with longacting drugs such as morphine (especially since acute withdrawal effects, following the acute (positive) drug effects, also have to be taken into account), particularly when counterbalanced injection schemes are used.

#### 2.6. State Dependency

State-dependent learning, or state-dependent retrieval, refers to the fact that a knowledge or response that has been learned or acquired while the animal was in a certain (drugged) state, can only be retrieved or reproduced when the animal is in that same state, but not when in a different state (Overton, 1978; Weingartner, 1978). The possibility that state-dependency effects might influence the outcome of place conditioning experiments is obvious, since the animals are conditioned in a certain (drugged) state, but are tested for CPP in an undrugged state in most cases.

Only relatively few studies have addressed the question of whether state-dependency effects are responsible for the expression, or rather, for the absence of expression, of CPP. Nomikos and Spyraki (1988b) have tested rats conditioned with cocaine both in the undrugged and in the drugged state and found no difference between both groups with respect to the expression of cocaine-induced CPP. Spyraki et al. (1985), however, reported that the picrotoxin-induced CPA was state-dependent. Tzschentke and Schmidt (1997) showed that the blockade of morphine-induced CPP by the noncompetitive NMDA-antagonist MK-801 was not due to state-dependency effects, an assumption that was suggested by the fact that NMDA-antagonists can make learning and recall state-dependent (Jackson et al., 1992; Carlezon et al., 1995). Evidence for state-dependency effects in place conditioning was reported by Laviola and Adriani (1998). They conditioned mice with amphetamine (2 or 10 mg/kg) to one side of a shuttle box, without alternating exposure to the other side to maintain the novelty of that side. When the animals were tested after saline injection, they showed a preference for the novel side over the amphetamine-paired side. However, when tested after the injection of amphetamine (2 mg/kg) the animals that had been conditioned with the low dose of amphetamine showed a preference for the drug-paired side while the animals that had been conditioned with the high dose of amphetamine preferred the novel side. Thus, the relative preference produced by 2 mg/kg amphetamine and the relative aversion produced by 10 mg/ kg amphetamine (relative with respect to novelty) was only expressed while the animals were under the influence of the conditioning drug. Olmstead and Franklin (1997a) found state-dependent morphineinduced CPP in animals bearing lesions of the peri-

aqueductal gray (PAG) or the fornix, indicating that not only drugs but also lesions of certain brain areas can produce state-dependency effects. Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998c) showed that lesions of the infralimbic subarea of the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) blocked the CPP induced by morphine and the competitive NMDA receptor antagonist CGP 37849. In this case, the absence of CPP was also evident when the animals were tested after injection of the respective drug, indicating that the observed blockade was not due to state-dependency effects. But as mentioned above, in general, only few studies have controlled for state-dependency effects by testing the animals under the same treatment under which they were conditioned (e.g. Elliott, 1988; Oberling et al., 1993).

#### 2.7. Latent Inhibition

In the present context, latent inhibition refers to the fact that prior exposure to the to-be-conditioned stimulus in the absence of the unconditioned stimulus can delay or attenuate subsequent conditioning (see Lubow, 1989). In the case of place conditioning experiments, the researcher has to find a compromise between trying to avoid latent inhibition effects by reducing the preexposure time to a minimum and trying to avoid influences of anxiety or neophobia on the treatment effects by extensively habituating the animals to the conditioning environment.

Consistent with this notion, Martin-Iverson and Reimer (1996) have shown that the amount of preexposure (habituation) can indeed influence the outcome of a CPP experiment, and in their metaanalysis, Bardo *et al.* (1995b) have found that the absence or presence of a preconditioning exposure can have a significant influence on the magnitude of the observed conditioning effects, such that in studies without preexposure generally larger effects were observed.

#### 2.8. The Operant Approach

As mentioned above, the CPP paradigm is based on Pavlovian conditioning principles. However, attempts have been made to introduce operant principles to place conditioning. Crowder and Hutto (1992a,b) reported on a procedure where animals received IV infusions of morphine or exposure to water or a conspecific upon actively entering a conditioning compartment rather than upon being placed in that compartment by the experimenter. A comparison of the magnitude of the conditioning effects obtained with this procedure and in a conventional 'classical conditioning' procedure showed that that operant method was somewhat more potent in producing place conditioning effects than the classical method.

# 2.9. The Relationship Between CPP, Response to Novelty, Locomotor Activity and Dopaminergic Neurotransmission in the Mesocorticolimbic System

Many studies cited hereafter have not only measured whether a drug or a drug combination produces CPP, but they have also measured treatment effects on locomotor activity and/or on dopamine (DA) release or turnover. Although a detailed discussion of the interrelationships between CPP, locomotion and DA is beyond the scope of this review, it should be mentioned that from the majority of these studies the general picture emerges that there appears to be a very close correlation between the potential of a given treatment to induce CPP and to cause an increase in dopaminergic neurotransmission, whereas only a very weak or no correlation appears to exist between the potential of a treatment to induce CPP and the level of locomotor stimulation caused by this treatment. Put in other words, the establishment of a CPP seems to be dependent on dopaminergic mechanisms in most cases, but can occur independently of locomotor effects of a given treatment.

Individual differences in the behavioural response to novelty have been reported to be predictive for the vulnerability of an animal to acquire drug selfadministration, for the magnitude of drug-induced locomotor responses, and for the expression of a number of cellular and biochemical features (see e.g. Piazza et al., 1989, 1991; Hooks et al., 1991, 1994). There have also been attempts to correlate individual differences in the response to novelty to the magnitude of drug-induced CPP. However, generally, no such correlation has been found. Thus, Gong et al. (1996a) reported no difference in the sensitivity of high and low responders to novelty to the CPPinducing effects of cocaine, and a lack of correlation between locomotor response to novelty and the magnitude of amphetamine-induced CPP was also shown (Erb and Parker, 1994). On the other hand, rats that were more sensitive to the locomotor effects of amphetamine displayed a greater preference for a novel compartment (Bevins et al., 1997).

Another approach has been to try to correlate individual differences in the strength of drug-induced conditioned taste aversion (CTA) with the magnitude of CPP induced by the same drug. In this case, a correlation has been found for amphetamine, in that animals that showed the strongest CTA also showed the strongest CPP. However, no such correlation was found for morphine-induced CTA and CPP and for lithium chloride- and fenfluramineinduced CTA and CPA (Turenne et al., 1996). A correlation was also found between the magnitude of ethanol-induced CPP and the emotionality (in terms of defecation) and open field behaviour (in terms of rearing) of individual animals, such that strong defecation and little rearing was predictive for a big CPP effect (Nadal et al., 1992).

## 2.10. Definitions, Use of Words

Since the majority of studies has examined the influence of drug or treatment effects on the *acquisition* of CPP or CPA, this will not be explicitly indicated in the text (i.e. 'drug A had no effect on morphine-induced CPP' is intended to mean 'drug A had no effect on the acquisition of morphineinduced CPP'). If the effects of drugs or treatments on the *expression* of CPP were examined, this will be stated explicitly in the text (e.g. 'drug B blocked the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP').

#### 3. STUDIES USING SYSTEMIC DRUG TREATMENTS

#### 3.1. 'Single-Drug Treatments'

#### 3.1.1. Stimulants, Dopaminergic Drugs

A large number of studies have confirmed the CPP-inducing effects of amphetamine and cocaine (see references in Sections 3.2.1, 4.1.1 and 4.2.1. 5., 6., 7.). While almost all of these studies have used adult rats or mice, cocaine-induced CPP was also demonstrated in 10- and 17-day-old rats (Pruitt et al., 1995), in 3-week-old mice (Laviola et al., 1992), in young chickens (Hughes et al., 1995) and in rhesus monkeys (Foltin and Evans, 1997), and amphetamine-induced CPP was shown in 2-week-old mice (Laviola et al., 1994). The induction of CPP by cocaine or amphetamine is regarded as so reliable an effect (under proper experimental conditions) that the induction of CPP by cocaine has been chosen as a positive control for the patency of an IV catheter construction in mice (Kelley et al., 1997a).

The induction of CPP has also been demonstrated for the psychostimulants and DA reuptake blockers (-)-amphetamine (Timar et al., 1996), cocaethylene (Schechter, 1995; Kushner, 1997), cathinone (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1992a; Schechter and Meehan, 1993; Schechter and McBurney, 1991), fencamfamine (De Lucia et al., 1997; Planeta da Silva et al., 1995), methamphetamine (Cunningham and Noble, 1992b), GBR12783 (Le Pen et al., 1996), nomifensine (Martin-Iverson et al., 1985), methylphenidate (Clark and Fibiger, 1987; Gatley et al., 1996; Martin-Iverson et al., 1985), p-bromomethylphenidate and *p*-methoxymethylphenidate (Gatley et al., 1996), diethylpropion (albeit only at an intermediate, but not at a low or a high dose) (Planeta da Silva and DeLucia, 1998), bupropion (Ortmann, 1985), pipradrol (White and Hiroi, 1992) and mazindol (Gevaerd and Takahashi, 1996).

It was also shown that IP cocaine methiodide (which does not cross the blood-brain barrier) and IP procaine failed to produce CPP, suggesting that CPP induced by cocaine (HCl) is mediated centrally and that the local anaesthetic properties alone are not sufficient to produce a CPP (Hemby *et al.*, 1994; Rigon and Takahashi, 1996). On the other hand, dimethocaine, another local anaesthetic, was shown to produce CPP (Rigon and Takahashi, 1996).

While the above studies unequivocally show that drugs that cause an increase in extracellular DA levels very reliably produce CPP, the attempts to determine the DA receptor subtype(s) responsible for mediating the DA effect have yielded somewhat inconsistent results. Thus, CPP was demonstrated for the DA receptor agonists apomorphine (D1/ D2) (Papp, 1988a; Parker, 1992; Funada et al., 1993), quinpirole (D2) (White et al., 1991; Hoffman and Beninger, 1988, 1989; Hoffman et al., 1988), bromocriptine (D2/D3) (Hoffman et al., 1988), PD-128,907 (D3) (Khroyan et al., 1997), U99194A (D3) (Kling-Petersen et al., 1995b), and (+)-AJ 76 (D2 autoreceptor) (Richardson et al., 1993). The D3 agonist 7-OH-DPAT was reported to produce CPP (Mallet and Beninger, 1994; Chaperon and Thiebot, 1996), to have no effect (Kling-Petersen et al.,

620

# T. M. Tzschentke

 Table 1. This table summarizes the results of studies using systemic 'single-drug' treatments. See Section 3.1 in the text for details about drugs, experimental procedures and additional findings that could not be included in the table

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
Stimulants/dopaminergic drugs:		
Amphetamine	CPP	See text and Table 2
Cocaine	CPP	See text and Table 2
Cocaethylene	CPP	Schechter (1995); Kushner (1997)
Cathinone	CPP	Calcagnetti and Schechter (1992a); Schechter and Meehan (1993); Schechter and McBurney (1991)
Fencamfamine	CPP	De Lucia et al. (1997); Planeta da Silva et al. (1995)
Methamphetamine	CPP	Cunningham and Noble (1992b)
GBR 12783	CPP	Le Pen et al. (1996)
Nomifensine	CPP	Martin-Iverson et al. (1985)
Methylphenidate (and derivatives)	CPP	Martin-Iverson et al. (1985); Clark and Fibiger (1987); Gatley et al. (1996)
Diethylpropion	CPP	Planeta da Silva and DeLucia (1998)
Bupropion	CPP	Ortmann (1985)
Pipradrol	CPP	White and Hiroi (1992)
Mazindol	CPP	Gevaerd and Takahashi (1996)
Recentor-specific ligands: Agonists	err	Sevuera and Fakanashi (1996)
SK F38393	СРА	White et al. (1991): Hoffman and Beninger (1988, 1989)
SKI 58575	CPP	Abrahams at al. (1998)
SK102930 SV E91207	No offect	Abrahams et al. $(1008)$
SK1'01297 SV E77424	No effect	Abrahams et al. $(1996)$
SKΓ//434	CDD	Adrahams <i>et al.</i> (1996) Donn (1986): Donkon (1997): Eurodo, et al. (1997)
Apoliorphine Osignigate	CPP	Papp (1988a), Parker (1992), Funada $et at. (1995)$
Quinpirole	CPP	while <i>et al.</i> (1991); Holiman and Beninger (1988, 1989);
	CDD	Hoffman et al. (1988)
Bromocriptine	CPP	Hoffman <i>et al.</i> (1988)
PD-128 907	CPP	Khroyan et al. (1997)
U99194A	СРР	Kling-Petersen <i>et al.</i> (1995b)
7-OH-PIPAT	No effect	Khroyan et al. (1997)
l-Nafadotride	No effect	Chaperon and Thiebot (1996)
7-OH-DPAT	CPP	Mallet and Beninger (1994); Chaperon and Thiebot (1996)
	No effect	Kling-Petersen <i>et al.</i> (1995b); Rodriguez de Fonseca <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	CPA	Kamei and Ohsawa (1996); Khroyan et al. (1995)
(+)-AJ76	CPP	Richardson et al. (1993)
Preclamol	No effect	Kivastik et al. (1996b)
Receptor-specific ligands: Antagonists		
SCH23390	CPA	Acquas and Di Chiara (1994); Funada and Shippenberg
SCH39166	CPA	(1996); Shippenberg et al. (1991); Shippenberg and Herz
A-69024	CPA	(1987, 1988); Cervo and Samanin (1995)
SCH23390	No effect	Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989); Acquas and Di Chiara (1994); Hoffman and Beninger (1989); Planeta da Silva <i>et al.</i> (1995): Longoni <i>et al.</i> (1998)
Spinoropo	No offect	<b>Dapp</b> and Willner (1001): Shippenberg at al. (1001):
	No effect	Shimanhan and Ham (1991), Shippenberg et al. (1991),
r Eluporthivel	No effect	(1006), Diamata da Silva at al. (1005), Maigal at al. (1006).
	No effect	(1990), Planeta da Silva <i>el al.</i> $(1995)$ , Melsel <i>el al.</i> $(1990)$ ,
	No effect	Cervo and Samanin (1995); Bechara <i>et al.</i> (1992);
	No effect	(1992); Spyraki and Fibiger
Sulpiride	No enect	(1988); Hoffman and Donovan (1995)
Haloperidol	No effect	
Raclopride	No effect	
Haloperidol	CPA	Risinger et al. (1992a)
Metoclopramide	CPP	Hoffman and Beninger (1989)
XXX	No effect	Planeta da Silva <i>et al.</i> (1995)
(–)-DS121	CPP	Kling-Petersen et al. (1995a)
Other drugs:		
(+)-Deprenyl	CPP	Timar <i>et al.</i> (1996)
Olanzapine	CPA	Meil and Schechter (1997)
CGS 10746B	CPA	Schechter and Meehan (1994)
L-DOPA	No CPP	Katajamaki et al. (1998)
Entacapone	No CPP	Katajamaki et al. (1998)
L-DOPA + entacapone	CPP	Katajamaki et al. (1998)
Opiates Agonists:		
Morphine	CPP	see text and Table 2
Heroin	CPP	Hand <i>et al.</i> (1989); Bozarth (1987b); Tierney <i>et al.</i> (1988); Stinus <i>et al.</i> (1989); Amalric <i>et al.</i> (1987); Schenk <i>et al.</i> (1985)

# Table 1 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
Etonitazene	CPP	Sala et al. (1992)
Fentanyl	CPP	Mucha and Herz (1985); Koob et al. (1986); Finlay et al.
		(1988); Pchelintsev et al. (1991)
etorphine	CPP	Pchelintsev <i>et al.</i> (1991)
Sulfentanil	CPP	Mucha and Herz (1985)
Methadone Morphine 6 gluguronide	CPP	Abbett and Franklin (1996)
Dihydroetorphine	No effect	Tokuyama <i>et al.</i> (1996a)
B-END	CPP	Koob <i>et al.</i> (1986)
TAN 67	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1996c)
BW373U86	CPP	Longoni et al. (1998)
SNC 80	CPP	Longoni <i>et al.</i> (1998)
Ketocyclazocine	CPP	Iwamoto (1986b)
	CPP	Iwamoto (19800) Shippenberg and Herz (1986, 1988): Iwamoto (1986b):
U-69 593	CPA	Funada <i>et al.</i> (1993): Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1992d): Ableitner and
Bremazocine	CPA	Herz (1989): Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993): Bechara and van
		der Kooy (1987); Mucha and Herz (1985)
E-2078	CPA	Funada et al. (1993)
TRK-820	No effect	Nagase et al. (1998)
Ethylketazocine	No effect	Mucha and Herz (1985)
Tifluadom	No effect	Mucha and Herz (1985)
Mr 2034	No effect	Mucha and Herz (1985)
Loperamide	No effect	$\Delta gmo \ et \ al \ (19910)$
Antagonists.	No effect	
Naloxone (in naive animals)	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995); Papp et al. (1992);
		Cunningham et al. (1995); Parker et al. (1995);
		Shippenberg and Herz (1986, 1987, 1988, 1991); Trujillo et
		al. (1991); Acquas et al. (1989, 1990); Spyraki et al. (1985);
		Iwamoto (1985, 1986b); Amalric <i>et al.</i> (1987); Mucha <i>et</i>
		al. (1985); Mucha and Walker (1987); Vaccarino et al. (1002); Obserling et al. (1002); Dela Kuchile et al. (1080);
		(1992); Obering <i>et al.</i> (1993); Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1989); Kim <i>et al.</i> (1997): Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1992b): Planeta da Silva
		et al. (1997); Rechara et al. (19920); Flancia da Silva $et al. (1995)$ ; Bechara et al. (1987)
	No effect	Bardo and Neisewander (1986); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1991);
		Agmo and Berenfeld (1990); Trujillo et al. (1991); Gerrits
		et al. (1995); Kosten (1994); Rodgers et al. (1984)
Naloxone (in morphine-dependent	CPA	Acquas et al. (1990); Funada et al. (1996); Mucha (1987);
animals)		Mucha and Walker (1987); Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1991a); Popik
		and Danysz (1997); Kosten (1994); Spanagel <i>et al.</i> (1994);
		schulteis <i>et al.</i> (1994); Valverde <i>et al.</i> (1996b); Valverde
Naltrexone (in naive animals)	СРА	Eantino and Wieteska (1993): Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1992d):
(in harve animals)	CIN	Parker and Rennie (1992)
Naltrexone (in morphine-dependent	CPA	Kelsey and Arnold (1994)
animals)		
$\beta$ -funaltrexamine	CPA	Suzuki et al. (1993a)
Naloxonazine	CPA	Suzuki et al. (1993a)
Methylnaltrexone	CPP	Bechara and van der Kooy (1989)
Metnyinaloxone	No effect	De Vries et al. (1995): Menkens et al. (1992): Suzuki et al.
Naturnoole (in naive animais)	No effect	(1994b): Longoni <i>et al.</i> (1998)
Naltrindole (in morphine-dependent	CPA	Funada $et al.$ (1996)
animals)		
7-Benzylidenenaltrexone	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1994b)
Naltriben (in naive animals)	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1994b)
Naltriben (in morphine-dependent	CPA	Funada <i>et al.</i> (1996)
animals)	CDD	L (100(1))
WIN 44 441-3 Mr. 2266DS	CPP	Iwamoto (1986b)
Other drugs:	CFA	Twanioto (19800)
Buprenorphine	CPP	Gaiardi et al. (1997): Pchelintsev et al. (1991): Rowlett et
1 · · r -		al. (1994); Brown et al. (1991)
RB-101	CPP	Valverde et al. (1996a)
	No effect	Noble et al. (1993)
SCH34826	No effect	Agmo et al. (1994)
$\beta$ -casomorphin	No effect	Reid and Hubbell (1994)
		(continued on next page)

T. M. Tzschentke

Table 1 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
Dihydrocodein Ethanol	No effect CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1990) Schechter (1992b); Risinger <i>et al.</i> (1994); Risinger and Oakes (1996a,b); Cunningham and Noble (1992a); Gevaerd and Takahashi (1996); Risinger <i>et al.</i> (1992a,b,
		1996); Risinger (1997); Cunningham <i>et al.</i> (1992a, 1993, 1997); Kelley <i>et al.</i> (1997b)
	No effect	van der Kooy <i>et al.</i> (1983); Asin <i>et al.</i> (1985); Davies and Parker (1990); Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1992b); Cunningham <i>et al.</i> (1997)
	СРА	(1997); Bormann and Cunningham (1998) van der Kooy <i>et al.</i> (1983); Bienkowski <i>et al.</i> (1997a,b); Stewart and Grupp (1986, 1989); Stewart <i>et al.</i> (1996); Cunningham <i>et al.</i> (1993, 1997); Bormann and Cunningham (1998)
Acetaldehyde	СРР	Amit and Smith (1985)
	CPA	Suzuki et al. (1992b)
Acute ethanol withdrawal Cholinergic drugs	CPP	Gauvin <i>et al.</i> (1997)
Nicotine	СРР	Risinger and Oakes (1995); Calcagnetti and Schechter (1994b); Carboni <i>et al.</i> (1989); Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989); Fudala <i>et al.</i> (1985): Fudala and Iwamoto (1986)
	No effect	Risinger and Oakes (1995); Shoaib <i>et al.</i> (1994); Parker (1992); Clark and Fibiger (1987)
	CPA	Risinger and Oakes (1995); Jorenby et al. (1990); Fudala et al. (1985)
Cotinine	No effect	Fudala and Iwamoto (1986)
Mecamylamine	No effect	Fudala <i>et al.</i> (1985)
Lobeline	No effect	Fudala and Iwamoto (1986)
Hexamethonium	No effect	Fudala <i>et al.</i> (1985) Length (1901)
GABAergic drugs	No effect	Lynch (1991)
Meprobamate	CPP	Spyraki et al. (1985)
Picrotoxin	CPP CPA	Finn <i>et al.</i> $(1997)$ Acquas <i>et al.</i> $(1989, 1990)$ ; Spyraki <i>et al.</i> $(1985)$ ; File (1986); Papp <i>et al.</i> $(1992)$
GHB	CPP	(1960), 1 app et al. (1992) Martellotta <i>et al.</i> (1997)
Progabide	No effect	Di Scala <i>et al.</i> (1985)
Sodium valproate	No effect	Spyraki et al. (1985)
Sodium phenobarbitone Pentobarbital	CPA CPA	Wilks and File (1988) Lew and Parker (1998)
Benzodiazepine-receptor ligands:	CDD	
Diazepam	СРР	Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989); Spyraki and Fibiger (1988); Nomikos and Spyraki (1988a); Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1985); Borsini <i>et al.</i> (1992); Eile (1986)
Lorazepam	CPP	File (1986)
Alprazolam	CPP	File (1986)
Adinazolam	CPP	File (1986)
Midazolam	CPP	Pain et al. (1997)
Triazolam	No effect	Pettit <i>et al.</i> (1989)
Chlordiazepoxide	weak CPP	File (1986)
<b>P</b> o 16 6028	CPA	Parker et al. $(1998)$ Di Scala et al. $(1992)$
Ro 15-1788	Urr No effect	Di Scala et al. (1992) Di Scala et al. (1992)
Flumazenil	No effect	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1995c)
CGS 8816	No effect CPA	Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1985) File (1986)
Pentylenetetrazole	CPP	Gauvin <i>et al.</i> (1991)
<b>P</b> <sub>2</sub> 15 4512	CPA No offect	Bespalov (1996) Biginger et al. (1002b)
FG 7142	CPA	Di Scala and Sandner (1989b); Oberling <i>et al.</i> (1993); Bocha <i>et al.</i> (1993a)
β-CCE Serotoperaic drugs	СРА	Tsuda <i>et al.</i> (1989)
Agonists.		
8-OH-DPAT	CPP	Shippenberg (1991); Fletcher <i>et al.</i> (1993); Papp and Willner (1991)
Gepirone	CPP	Neisewander <i>et al.</i> (1990b)
Buspirone	CPP	Neisewander et al. (1990b)
mCPP	No effect	Rocha et al. (1993a)

622

Table 1 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
mCPBG	СРА	Higgins et al. (1993)
PBG	CPA	Higgins et al. (1993)
Antagonists:		
Mianserin	No effect	Risinger and Oakes (1996a)
	CPA	Rocha et al. (1993a,b); Papp (1989)
Ritanserin	No effect	Nomikos and Spyraki (1988a)
Ketanserin	No effect	Rocha et al. (1993a)
DAU 6215	No effect	Borsini et al. (1993)
Ondansetron	No effect	Bisaga et al. (1993)
ICS 205-930	No effect	Acquas et al. (1990)
MDL 72222	No effect	Acquas et al. (1990)
DAU 6285	CPA	Bisaga et al. (1993)
Other drugs:		
BIMU-8	CPP	Bisaga et al. (1993)
Eltoprazine	CPA	Rocha et al. (1993a)
MDMA and derivatives	СРР	Marona-Lewicka <i>et al.</i> (1996); Bilsky <i>et al.</i> (1990b, 1991); Bilsky and Reid (1991); Schechter (1991b); Bronson <i>et al.</i> (1996)
LSD	CPP	Parker (1996); Meehan and Schechter (1998)
Fenfluramine	CPA	Marona-Lewicka et al. (1996); Davies and Parker (1993)
MMAI	CPA	Marona-Lewicka et al. (1996); Davies and Parker (1993)
Zimelidine	CPP	Kruszewska et al. (1986)
Citalopram	CPA	Papp (1989)
Imipramine	CPA	Papp (1989)
Amitryptiline	CPA	Papp (1989)
Fluoxetine	CPP	Collu et al. (1997)
	No effect	Risinger (1997)
PCPA	No effect	Papp and Willner (1991)
Glutamatergic drugs		
MK-801 (dizocilpine)	СРР	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993a); Papp and Moryl (1994); Steinpreis <i>et al.</i> (1995); Papp <i>et al.</i> (1996); DelPozo <i>et al.</i> (1996); Kim and Lang (1997); Hoffman (1994)
	No effect	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1994) (1996b,d); Kim and Jang (1997); Hoffman (1994)
	CPA	Sufka (1994); Cervo and Samanin (1995)
Phencyclidine (PCP)	CPP	Marglin et al. (1989)
	CPA	Acquas et al. (1989, 1990); Barr et al. (1985)
Memantine	No effect	Popik and Danysz (1997)
CGP 37849	CPP	Papp and Moryl (1994); Papp <i>et al.</i> (1996); Tzschentke and Schmidt (1995)
CGP 40116	CPP	Papp et al. (1996)
Kynurenic acid	No effect	Bespalov et al. (1994)
GYKI 52466	No effect	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1997)
Riluzole	CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998a)
ACPC Cannabinoids	No effect	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1996)
THC	CPP	Lepore et al. (1995)
	No effect	Sanudo-Pena et al. (1997)
	CPA	Sanudo-Pena <i>et al.</i> (1997); Lepore <i>et al.</i> (1995); Mallet and Beninger (1998)
Anandamide	No effect	Mallet and Beninger (1998)
CP 55 940	CPA	McGregor <i>et al.</i> (1996)
WIN 55212-2	CPA	Chaperon <i>et al.</i> (1998)
SR141716	No effect	Chaperon <i>et al.</i> (1998)
51111110	CPP	Sanudo-Pena <i>et al.</i> (1997)
Substance P	CPP	Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1989, 1991); Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Gerhardt <i>et al.</i> (1993); Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1990); Sprick <i>et al.</i>
C-terminal sequences of SP	СРР	(1996); Mattioli <i>et al.</i> (1995, 1996) Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1991); Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1990): Mattioli <i>et al.</i> (1995, 1996)
N-terminal sequ. of SP	No effect	Hasenöhrl et al. (1991); Huston et al. (1993); Oitzl et al. (1990); Mattioli et al. (1995, 1996)
Cholecystokinin (CCK)		(),
CCK fragment CCK-8S	No effect	Gerhardt <i>et al</i> (1994)
CCK fragment Boc-CCK-4	No effect	Gerhardt et al. (1994)
Devazepide	No effect	Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1992c)
PD-134 308	No effect	Valverde <i>et al.</i> (1996a, 1997)
L365-260	CPP	Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1992c)
2000 200		(continued on next page)

624

# Table 1 (continued)

# T. M. Tzschentke

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
Hormones	CDD	
LHRH	CPP	De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1991a, 1992a)
Lestosterone	CPP	De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1992b); Alexander <i>et al.</i> (1994) De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1991b)
Estradiol	CPA	De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1991b) Coder et al. (1992)
CRF Calaium ahannal blaabana	CPA	Cador <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Calcium channel blockers	No affect	Calcognetti and Schechter (1004a)
Nifadinina	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1002a)
Fluparidine	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
Diltiazem	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
Verapamil	No effect	Pucilowski et al. (1993)
BAY-k-8644	No effect	De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1996b)
Nimodipine	CPP	De Beun <i>et al.</i> (1996a)
1 time dipine	CPA	Martin-Iverson <i>et al.</i> (1997)
(Nor-)adrenergic drugs	0111	
Clonidine	CPP	Asin and Wirtshafter (1985): Tierney et al. (1988)
Rilmenidine	CPP	Tierney <i>et al.</i> (1988)
Idazoxan	CPP	Cervo <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Yohimbine	CPA	File (1986)
Prazosin	No effect	Cervo et al. (1993)
Desipramine	No effect	Martin-Iverson et al. (1985)
Adenosinergic drugs		
Caffeine	CPP	Brockwell et al. (1991); Carey and Damianopoulos (1994)
	CPA	Brockwell <i>et al.</i> (1991); Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
Theophylline	CPP	Brockwell <i>et al.</i> (1991); Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
	CPA	Brockwell <i>et al.</i> (1991); Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
NECA	CPP	Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
8-PT	CPP	Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
R-PIA	CPA	Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
CHA	CPA	Zarrindast and Moghadamnia (1997)
CGS 15943A	CPP	Brockwell and Beninger (1996)
CPA	No effect	Brockwell and Beninger (1996)
CPX	No effect	Brockwell and Beninger (1996)
CGS 21680	No effect	Brockwell and Beninger (1996)
Diverse drugs	<b>CP</b> 1	
Lithium chloride	СРА	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1992a); Parker (1992); Frisch <i>et al.</i> (1995); Cunningham and Niehus (1993); Oberling <i>et al.</i> (1993); Reilly <i>et al.</i> (1993); Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1988b); Bechara <i>et al.</i> (1987); Symonds and Hall (1997); Lett (1992)
Propofol	CPP	Pain et al. (1996, 1997)
Methohexital	No effect	Pain et al. (1996, 1997)
U-43 465	CPP	File (1986)
Tracazolate	CPP	File (1986)
Glue thinner vapors	CPP	Yavich et al. (1994)
Magnesium chloride	CPP	Lawley and Kantak (1990b)
Tripelennamine	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1991b)
Chlorpheniramine	CPP	Masukawa et al. (1993); Mattioli et al. (1998)
Zolantidine	CPP	Suzuki et al. (1995b)
L-NOArg	No effect	Kivastik et al. (1996a)
L-NNA	No effect	Kim and Park (1995)
NAN	CPP	Iwamoto (1986b)
des-Arg(9),(Leu(8))BK	CPA	Sufka and Roach (1996)
HOE 140	No effect	Sufka and Roach (1996)
Cyclosporine A	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1993b)
Ginseng extract	No effect	Tokuyama <i>et al.</i> (1996b)
Ibogaine	No effect	Parker et al. (1995)
Ascorbate	No effect	Pierce <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Natural reinforcers	CDD	
Rough-and-tumble play	CPP	Calcagnetti and Schechter (1992b)
Home cage odors	CPP	Hansen (1993)
Pups (for maternal rats)	CPP	Magnusson and Fleming (1995); Fleming <i>et al.</i> (1994)
Social play	CPP	Crowder and Hutto (1992a) $M_{\rm eff}$
Successful agression	CPP	Martinez <i>et al.</i> (1995)

Table 1 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Effect	References
Male/female interaction	СРР	Meisel and Joppa (1994); Paredes and Alonso (1997); Meisel <i>et al.</i> (1996); Oldenburger <i>et al.</i> (1992); Hughes <i>et al.</i> (1990); Mehrara and Baum (1990); Miller and Baum (1987)
Ejaculation	CPP	Agmo and Berenfeld (1990); Agmo and Gomez (1993)
Water	CPP	Crowder and Hutto (1992a); Agmo <i>et al.</i> (1993); Perks and Clifton (1997)
Sucrose solution, saccharin solution	СРР	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1991); Agmo <i>et al.</i> (1995); Perks and Clifton (1997); Agmo and Marroquin (1997); Stefurak and van der Koov (1992, 1994)
Food	СРР	Lepore <i>et al.</i> (1995); Papp (1988a, 1989); Papp <i>et al.</i> (1991); Cheeta <i>et al.</i> (1994); Willner <i>et al.</i> (1994); Guyon <i>et al.</i> (1993); Muscat <i>et al.</i> (1992); Perks and Clifton
Novel environment	СРР	(1997); Maes and Vossen (1993); Chaperon <i>et al.</i> (1998) Carr <i>et al.</i> (1988); Bardo <i>et al.</i> (1989, 1990, 1993); Parker (1992); Laviola and Adriani (1998)

1995b; Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1995), or to produce CPA (Kamei and Ohsawa, 1996; Khroyan et al., 1995; Chaperon and Thiebot, 1996), results which might be largely due to the use of different doses in the different studies. However, CPP was also reported for the preferential D3 and autoreceptor antagonist (-)-DS121 (Kling-Petersen et al., 1995a) and the D2 receptor antagonist metoclopramide (Hoffman and Beninger, 1989; but see Planeta da Silva et al. (1995) who found no effect for metoclopramide), and also for the MAO-B inhibitor (+)deprenyl (but not (-)-deprenyl) (Timar et al., 1996). Neither the dopamine precursor L-DOPA nor the COMT-inhibitor entacapone induced CPP when given alone. However, when both drugs were administered together they produced a significant CPP (Katajamaki et al., 1998).

A CPA was demonstrated for the D1 agonist SKF38393 (White *et al.*, 1991; Hoffman and Beninger, 1988, 1989), the D1 antagonists SCH 23390, SCH 39166 and A-69024 (Acquas and Di Chiara, 1994; Funada and Shippenberg, 1996; Shippenberg *et al.*, 1991; Shippenberg and Herz, 1987, 1988; Cervo and Samanin, 1995), a high dose of the atypical neuroleptic olanzapine (Meil and Schechter, 1997), the DA release inhibitor CGS 10746B (Schechter and Meehan, 1994), and for high-dose methamphetamine (Cunningham and Noble, 1992b).

No effect on place conditioning was reported for the D2 antagonists spiperone, pimozide, α-flupenthixol, spiroperidol, butaclamol and sulpiride (Papp and Willner, 1991; Shippenberg et al., 1991; Shippenberg and Herz, 1988; Funada and Shippenberg, 1996; Planeta da Silva et al., 1995; Meisel et al., 1996; Cervo and Samanin, 1995; Bechara et al., 1992; Iwamoto, 1986a; Harrington and van der Kooy, 1992) and also for haloperidol, raclopride, and the atypical antipsychotics clozapine, risperidone, sertindole and domperidone (Spyraki and Fibiger, 1988; Hoffman and Donovan, 1995; Di Scala and Sandner, 1989b; Kosten and Nestler, 1994; Suzuki and Misawa, 1995). A lack of effect has also been reported for SCH 23390 (Acquas et al., 1989; Acquas and Di Chiara, 1994;

Hoffman and Beninger, 1989; Planeta da Silva *et al.*, 1995; Longoni *et al.*, 1998) and a CPA has been reported for haloperidol in one study (Risinger *et al.*, 1992a). The D3 agonists 7-OH-PIPAT (Khroyan *et al.*, 1997) and l-nafadotride (Chaperon and Thiebot, 1996), the D2 autoreceptor partial agonist preclamol (Kivastik *et al.*, 1996b), and SCH 23388, the inactive enantiomer of SCH 23390, also failed to produce an effect in place conditioning.

Taken together, these results suggest that the rewarding effects of elevated extracellular DA levels are primarily mediated by the D2 receptor. On the other hand, it can also be noted that the blockade of 'baseline' DA transmission at D2 receptors is not aversive. The situation for the D1 receptor is less clear, with both D1 agonists and antagonists producing place aversions, and investigation of the role of the D3 receptor is still hampered by the lack of selective and high-affinity ligands. In a very recent report, CPP was also produced by the D1 agonist SKF 82958 (albeit only at one intermediate dose but not at lower or higher doses) but not the D1 agonists SKF 81297 and SKF 77434 (Abrahams et al., 1998). From this study, it remains unclear to what extent direct stimulation of D1 receptors contributes to reward-relevant mechanisms. Thus, the paradox largely remains that D1 antagonists are very effective in blocking the rewarding effects of many drugs (generally more effective than D2 antagonists), yet at the same time it is difficult to obtain clear rewarding effects with D1 agonists (some studies even report CPA for D1 agonists, while D2 agonists commonly produce reward).

#### 3.1.2. Opiates

As in the case for amphetamine and cocaine, a large number of studies have confirmed the CPP-inducing effect of morphine (see references in Sections 3.2.2, 4.1.2 and 4.2.2. 5., 6., 7.). The effect of morphine was shown to be stereospecific (Mucha and Herz, 1986) and has also been demonstrated in the hamster (Schnur and Morrell, 1990) and in newly hatched chickens (Bronson *et al.*, 1996). Morphine doses that induced CPP in adult rats were sufficient to also induce CPP in preweanling rats

which suggests that the neural substrate mediating opiate reward (and also psychostimulant reward, see Section 3.1.1) is fully functional at a very early developmental stage (Randall *et al.*, 1998).

In addition to morphine, CPP was shown for the µ-agonists heroin (Hand et al., 1989; Bozarth, 1987b; Tierney et al., 1988; Stinus et al., 1989; Amalric et al., 1987; Schenk et al., 1985), etonitazene (Sala et al., 1992), fentanyl (Mucha and Herz, 1985; Koob et al., 1986; Finlay et al., 1988; Pchelintsev et al., 1991), etorphine (Pchelintsev et al., 1991), sulfentanil (Mucha and Herz, 1985), methadone (Steinpreis et al., 1996; note, however, that the high dose of 10 mg/kg of methadone induced a CPA in this study), the morphine metabolite morphine-6-glucuronide (Abbott and Franklin, 1991), the mixed opiate agonist/antagonist buprenorphine (Gaiardi et al., 1997; Pchelintsev et al., 1991; Rowlett et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1991) [note, however, that a high dose of buprenorphine (3 mg/ kg) did not produce CPP (Rowlett et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1991)], the  $\mu/\delta$ -agonist B-END (Koob et al., 1986), the non-peptide  $\delta$ -agonists BW373U86 and SNC80 (Longoni et al., 1998) the ĸ-agonists ketocyclazocine and ethylketocyclazocine and the ĸantagonist WIN 44441-3 (Iwamoto, 1986b), and also for the peripheral opiate antagonist methylnaltrexone (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1989). RB-101, a complete inhibitor of enkephalin catabolism, produced a CPP in one study (Valverde et al., 1996a), but not in another (Noble et al., 1993).

CPA was demonstrated for naloxone (in opiatenaive animals; for studies using morphine-preexposed animals, see Section 8) (Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik, 1995; Papp et al., 1992; Cunningham et al., 1995; Parker et al., 1995; Shippenberg and Herz, 1986, 1987, 1988, 1991; Trujillo et al., 1991; Acquas et al., 1989, 1990; Spyraki et al., 1985; Iwamoto, 1986b; Amalric et al., 1987; Mucha et al., 1985; Mucha and Walker, 1987-for the CD1, DBA/2 and C57BL/6 mouse strains; Vaccarino et al., 1992; Oberling et al., 1993; Bals-Kubik et al., 1989; Kim et al., 1997; Higgins et al., 1992b; Planeta da Silva et al., 1995; Bechara et al., 1987) and for naltrexone (Fantino and Wieteska, 1993; Suzuki et al., 1992d; Parker and Rennie, 1992). However, no effects for naloxone have also been reported in a number of studies (Bardo and Neisewander, 1986; Hasenöhrl et al., 1991; Agmo and Berenfeld, 1990; Trujillo et al., 1991; Gerrits et al., 1995; Kosten, 1994; Rodgers et al., 1984).

CPA was also reported for the  $\mu$ 1/ $\mu$ 2-antagonist β-funaltrexamine and the  $\mu$ 1-antagonist naloxonazine (Suzuki *et al.*, 1993a), the  $\kappa$ -agonists U-50 488H, U-69593 and bremazocine (Shippenberg and Herz, 1986, 1988, 1991; Shippenberg *et al.*, 1993; Iwamoto, 1986b; Funada *et al.*, 1993; Suzuki *et al.*, 1992d; Ableitner and Herz, 1989; Bechara and van der Kooy, 1987; Mucha and Herz, 1985), the dynorphin analog E-2078 (Funada *et al.*, 1993) and the  $\kappa$ -antagonist Mr 2266BS (Iwamoto, 1986b).

Neither CPP nor CPA was produced by the  $\mu$ agonist dihydroetorphine (Tokuyama *et al.*, 1996a), the nonpeptide  $\delta$ -agonist TAN 67 (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996c), the  $\delta$ -antagonists naltrindole (De Vries *et al.*, 1995; Menkens *et al.*, 1992; Suzuki *et al.*, 1994b; Longoni, *et al.*, 1998), 7-benzylidenenaltrexone ( $\delta$ 1-specific) and naltriben ( $\delta$ 2-specific) (Suzuki *et al.*, 1994b), the enkephalinase inhibitor SCH34826 (Agmo *et al.*, 1994), the  $\kappa$ -agonists ethylketazocine, tifluadom, Mr 2034 (Mucha and Herz, 1985) and TRK-820 (Nagane *et al.*, 1998) the partial  $\mu/\kappa$ -agonist pentazocine (Suzuki *et al.*, 1991b), the peripheral opiate agonist loperamide (Agmo *et al.*, 1992) and the peripheral opiate antagonist methylnaloxonium (Heinrichs and Martinez, 1986). Also without effect was  $\beta$ -casomorphin, an opioid found in milk (Reid and Hubbell, 1994) and dihydrocodein, a major active component in over-the-counter cough syrups (Suzuki *et al.*, 1990).

Despite some conflicting results, these place conditioning studies have generally confirmed the putative role of the endogenous opioid system and its different receptor subtypes in reward mechanisms. Thus, activation of the µ-receptor commonly produces reliable CPP effects, while the situation is somewhat less clear for the  $\delta$ -receptor. Activation of the k-receptor appears to have predominantly aversive effects, although k-agonists have also been shown to produce  $\tilde{CPP}$  and  $\kappa$ -antagonists to induce CPA. These results may be due to dose-dependent effects and lack of receptor specificity of the receptor ligands used. Endogenous opioids appear to excert a tonic influence on reward-relevant µ-receptors, since blockade of these receptors was found to be aversive in most cases.

#### 3.1.3. Ethanol

The results of ethanol place conditioning experiments will be presented in more detail here because this case is an illustrative example for how methodological and procedural parameters can influence the outcome of a place conditioning experiment.

In an early study study examining the effects of ethanol in the CPP paradigm, it was found that while low doses (< 0.8 g/kg) were without effect, higher doses (>0.8 g/kg) reliably produced CPA. This effect was independent of route of administration (IV or PO), rate of infusion, concentration of the administered solution, or vehicle (van der Kooy et al., 1983). In another early study, it was shown that ethanol produced neither CPP nor CPA in rats over a large range of doses, with either IP or IV application (Asin et al., 1985). A lack of effect was also found in some other studies (Davies and Parker, 1990; Suzuki et al., 1992b), while others have reported CPA (Bienkowski et al., 1997a,b). Pairing environmental cues with ethanol self-administration (drinking) paradoxically produced CPA (Stewart and Grupp, 1986), an effect that was not dependent on delayed aversively high blood alcohol levels (Stewart and Grupp, 1989). CPA produced by IP injection of ethanol was also shown in alcoholpreferring as well as in alcohol-nonpreferring rat lines (Stewart et al., 1996). In contrast, IP injections of ethanol have also been shown to produce CPP in both alcohol-preferring and alcohol-non-preferring rat lines (Schechter, 1992b), in two mice strains selectively bred for high and low sensitivity to ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation (Risinger et al., 1994), and in a number of studies using different

inbred and outbred mice strains (Risinger and Oakes, 1996a,b; Cunningham and Noble, 1992a; Gevaerd and Takahashi, 1996; Risinger, 1997; Risinger et al., 1992a,b, 1996; Cunningham et al., 1992a). CPP induced by IV ethanol has also been reported recently (Kelley *et al.*, 1997b). Cunningham *et al.* (1997) presented evidence to suggest that the relative timing of ethanol injection and subsequent exposure to the CS+ can be a crucial denominator of the outcome of the conditioning experiment. Thus, it was shown that only mice injected just before or 30 min before CS+ exposure developed CPP. Mice injected right after exposure to the CS+ developed CPA. Mice injected 120 min or 60 min before, or 15 min or 60 min after exposure to the CS+ did not develop CPP or CPA. In line with these findings, it was also shown that ethanol produced the biggest CPP effects when short conditioning sessions (5 min) were used, while the effects were much smaller when the conditioning sessions were longer (30 min). Recently, qualitatively different results have been reported for the rat (Bormann and Cunningham, 1998). Rats were injected 30, 15, 10, 5 or 0 min before or 5 min after the 5 min conditioning session. None of these injections produced CPP, if anything, they tended to produce CPA.

Taken together, these results suggest that the rewarding effects of ethanol are greatest shortly after injection, at least in the mouse (Cunningham and Prather, 1992) and that, in the majority of cases, ethanol induced no effect or CPA in rats and CPP in mice when drug-naive animals were used. In an attempt to directly compare the motivational effects of ethanol in rats and mice, Cunningham et al. (1993) conducted a study where both species were tested under exactly the same experimental conditions. It was again found that ethanol induced CPA in rats and CPP in mice. Sensitization and tolerance effects also seem to play important roles in ethanol place conditioning (see Section 7). A review of procedural variables and how they can affect the outcome of ethanol place conditioning can be found in Stewart et al. (1988).

There is evidence to suggest that the positively reinforcing effects of ethanol depend at least in part on the actions of its metabolite acetaldehyde (Amit and Smith, 1985), although acetaldehyde was also reported to produce a weak CPA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992b). Gauvin *et al.* (1997) examined the delayed effects of ethanol ('hangover') and found that this form of acute ethanol withdrawal paradoxically can produce CPP.

#### 3.1.4. Nicotine/Cholinergic Drugs

As in the case of ethanol, nicotine place conditioning also appears to be sensitive to procedural parameters. Therefore, the results concerning nicotine will also be presented in consideration of methodological details.

Using mice, Risinger and Oakes (1995) reported a nicotine-induced CPP at a dose of 0.5 mg/kg, no effect at 0.25 and 1.0 mg/kg and a CPA at 2.0 mg/kg nicotine IP in an unbiased design. Using rats, Calgagnetti and Schechter (1994b) showed that a

dose of 0.8 mg/kg of SC nicotine produced CPP in a biased design only when nicotine was paired with the initially non-preferred compartment, but not when paired with the initially preferred compartment. Likewise, it was shown that nicotine (0.6 mg/ kg SC) paired with the initially non-preferred compartment produced CPP (Carboni et al., 1989; Acquas et al., 1989; Fudala et al., 1985). On the other hand, Shoaib et al. (1994) found no CPP for 0.6 mg/kg of SC nicotine, even after increasing the number of conditioning trials from four to 12, using a counterbalanced conditioning design. A lack of nicotine-induced CPP has also been reported by Parker (1992). Likewise, Clark and Fibiger (1987) were unable to observe a CPP for SC nicotine (0.2-0.8 mg/kg) using an unbiased design, and Jorenby et al. (1990) even reported a CPA for 0.8 mg/kg nicotine, a dose that produced CPP in other studies (Fudala and Iwamoto, 1986; Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1994b). In the latter study, nicotine only produced CPP when it was injected immediately prior to the conditioning sessions, but not when it was administered 20, 60 or 120 min prior to conditioning. A shift from rewarding to aversive effects with increasing doses has been reported by Fudala et al. (1985). Thus, while nicotine can have clearly reinforcing and highly addictive properties in humans, the CPP paradigm seems not to be very well suited to examine the effects of nicotine in rodents since these effects appear to be variable and highly dependent on the experimental procedure.

Other cholinergic compounds: The muscarinic antagonist scopolamine was found to produce neither CPP nor CPA (Lynch, 1991) and the same lack of effect was found for the nicotinic antagonists mecamylamine hydrochloride, lobeline and hexamethonium bromide (peripheral) (Fudala *et al.*, 1985; Fudala and Iwamoto, 1986), and also for the nicotine metabolite cotinine (Fudala and Iwamoto, 1986).

#### 3.1.5. GABAergic Drugs

The direct GABA-A agonist meprobamate (Spyraki et al., 1985), the GABA metabolite γhydroxybutyric acid (GHB) (Martellotta et al., 1997) and the GABA-A agonist/neuroactive steroid 3-\alpha-hydroxy-5-\alpha-pregnan-20-one (Finn et al., 1997) produced CPP. The GABA mimetic progabide (SL 76002) (Di Scala et al., 1985) and the GABA agonist sodium valproate (Spyraki et al., 1985) produced neither CPP nor CPA. Sodium phenobarbitone (Wilks and File, 1988) and the GABA-A antagonist picrotoxin induced CPA (Acquas et al., 1989, 1990; Spyraki et al., 1985; File, 1986; Papp et al., 1992). Lew and Parker (1998) reported that repeated preexposure to pentobarbital only attenuated the CPAinducing effects of this drug but did not result in an eventual CPP.

Diazepam (Acquas *et al.*, 1989; Spyraki and Fibiger, 1988; Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988a; Spyraki *et al.*, 1985; Borsini *et al.*, 1993; File, 1986; but see Di Scala *et al.*, 1992), lorazepam, alprazolam, adinazolam (File, 1986) and midazolam (at both subanaesthetic and anaesthetic doses) (Pain *et al.*, 1997) were shown to induce CPP, while triazolam failed to produce CPP (Pettit et al., 1989) and chlordiazepoxide produced only weak preference effects (File, 1986) or CPA (Parker et al., 1998). The benzodiazepine receptor partial agonist Ro 16-6028 produced CPP (Di Scala et al., 1992), whereas the benzodiazepine receptor antagonists Ro 15-1788 (Di Scala et al., 1992) and flumazenil (Suzuki et al., 1995c), and also the benzodiazepine inverse agonist Ro 15-4513 (Risinger et al., 1992b) produced neither CPP nor CPA. The benzodiazepine receptor antagonist CGS 8816 produced CPA in one study (File, 1986), while it had no effect in another study (Spyraki et al., 1985). In one study, the anxiogenic benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonist pentylenetetrazole, surprisingly, produced CPP (Gauvin et al., 1991), while in another study CPA was reported (Bespalov, 1996). Consistent CPA was reported for the benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonists FG 7142 (Di Scala and Sandner, 1989b; Oberling et al., 1993; Rocha et al., 1993a) and β-CCE (Tsuda et al., 1989).

# 3.1.6. Serotonergic Drugs

The study of the serotonergic system suffers from the large number of serotonin receptor subtypes that have been identified. Highly selective and specific ligands are not available for all subtypes, and since activation or blockade of different subtypes can have markedly different behavioural and neurochemical effects, this lack of selective ligands makes it difficult to draw a definite picture about the nature of the involvement of the serotonergic system in brain mechanisms of reward. In line with this, the picture emerging from place conditioning studies is relatively heterogenous.

The 5-HT1A agonists 8-OH-DPAT (Shippenberg, 1991; Fletcher et al., 1993; Papp and Willner, 1991), gepirone and buspirone (Neisewander et al., 1990b; but see Ali and Kelly, 1997; File, 1986), the mixed 5-HT3 antagonist/5-HT4 agonist BIMU-8 (Bisaga et al., 1993), the serotonin reuptake blockers zimelidine (Kruszewska et al., 1986), MDMA and its derivatives MBDB and MDA (Marona-Lewicka et al., 1996; Bilsky et al., 1990b, 1991; Bilsky and Reid, 1991; Schechter, 1991b; Bronson et al., 1996) produced CPP, while fenfluramine, the serotonin-releasing drug MMAI (Marona-Lewicka et al., 1996; Davies and Parker, 1993) and the serotonin (and noradrenaline) reuptake blockers citalopram, imipramine and amitryptiline (Papp, 1989) produced CPA. Nexus also produced a place preference, which, however, was probably due to non-associative processes (Bronson et al., 1996). The serotonin reuptake blocker fluoxetine was found to produce a CPP (Collu et al., 1997) or to have no effect (Risinger, 1997). For LSD, a CPP has been reported (Parker, 1996). Meehan and Schechter (1998) showed a CPP induced by LSD in male, but not in female Fawn Hooded rats.

The 5-HT2A antagonist mianserin produced no effect in one study (Risinger and Oakes, 1996a), while it induced CPA in other studies (Rocha *et al.*, 1993a,b; Papp, 1989). The 5-HT2 antagonists ritanserin (Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988a) and ketanserin (Rocha *et al.*, 1993a), the 5-HT1C agonist mCPP

(Rocha *et al.*, 1993a), the 5-HT3 antagonists DAU 6215, ondansetron (Borsini *et al.*, 1993; Bisaga *et al.*, 1993), ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222 (Acquas *et al.*, 1990), and also the serotonin synthesis inhibitor PCPA (Papp and Willner, 1991) did not produce a place conditioning effect.

DAU 6285, a mixed 5-HT3 antagonist/5-HT4 antagonist (Bisaga *et al.*, 1993), eltoprazine, a mixed 5-HT1B agonist/5-HT1C antagonist (Rocha *et al.*, 1993a), and the 5-HT3 agonists *m*-chlorophenylbiguanide (mCPBG) and 1-phenylbiguanide (PBG) (Higgins *et al.*, 1993) produced CPA. CPA for a high dose of 8-OH-DPAT was also reported in one study (Papp and Willner, 1991).

# 3.1.7. Glutamatergic Drugs

The most widely investigated compound in this respect is probably the non-competitive NMDA antagonist MK-801 (dizocilpine). For this substance, very inconsistent results have been reported. While a number of studies have shown CPP (Layer et al., 1993a; Papp and Moryl, 1994; Steinpreis et al., 1995; Papp et al., 1996; DelPozo et al., 1996; Kim and Jang, 1997), others have found no effect (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995, 1997, 1998b; Kim et al., 1996b,d; Kim and Jang, 1997) and even a MK-801-induced CPA has been reported (Sufka, 1994; Cervo and Samanin, 1995), and these contrasting results have been demonstrated for the same range of doses. Hoffman (1994) found MK-801induced CPP only at one intermediate dose, but not at a low or a high dose. DelPozo et al. (1996) have shown that both the more active (+)-enantiomer and the less active (-)-enantiomer of MK-801 produced CPP at the same dose, which questions the receptor specificity of the CPP effect. Inconsistent place conditioning results have also been reported for phencyclide (PCP), which may be partly related to dose-dependent effects. Low to intermediate doses of PCP have been shown to produce CPP (Marglin et al., 1989), while higher doses have been reported to produce CPA (Acquas et al., 1989, 1990; Barr et al., 1985). Sensitization and tolerance effects also seem to contribute importantly to the outcome of place conditioning experiments using PCP (see Section 7).

The low-affinity non-competitive NMDA antagonist memantine produced neither CPP nor CPA (Popik and Danysz, 1997), while CPP has been demonstrated for the competitive NMDA antagonists CGP 37849 (Papp and Moryl, 1994; Papp et al., 1996; Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995) and CGP 40116 (Papp et al., 1996), and for the glutamate release inhibitor riluzole (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1998a). ACPC, a partial agonist at the strychnineinsensitive glycine binding site at the NMDA receptor complex, was without effect (Papp et al., 1996) and the non-selective ionotropic glutamate receptor antagonist kynurenic acid (Bespalov et al., 1994) and the AMPA antagonist GYKI 52466 (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1997) also failed to produce place conditioning.

# 3.1.8. $\Delta(9)$ -Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)

Only few studies have examined the effects of this active ingredient of marijuana and hashish, and inconsistent results have been reported. Sanudo-Pena et al. (1997) found no CPP at a low dose of THC (1.5 mg/kg) and a CPA at a high dose (15 mg/kg). In contrast, Mallett and Beninger (1998) found a significant CPA for the same low doses of THC (1.0 and 1.5 mg/kg), and neither CPP or CPA was found for the endogenous cannabinoid agonist anandamide. Moreover, it was reported that the cannabinoid antagonist SR141716A induced a CPP at a low and high dose (0.5 and 5 mg/kg). In contrast, Lepore et al. (1995) reported THC-induced CPP for 2 and 4 mg/kg, but not for 1 mg/kg, when animals received one conditioning session per day. However, when conditioning took place only every other day (to allow for a 24 hr washout period for THC), the dose of 1 mg/kg THC was sufficient to produce CPP, whereas the higher doses (2 and 4 mg/kg) produced CPA. The synthetic cannabinoid CP 55 940 was reported to produce CPA (McGregor et al., 1996). The synthetic CB receptor agonist WIN 55212-2 produced a robust CPA while the CB1 receptor antagonist SR 141716 produced neither CPP nor CPA (Chaperon et al., 1998).

These results suggest that cannabinoids have relatively weak rewarding as well as aversive motivational effects, which is consistent with the notion that the addictive potency of cannabis is presumably very low.

# 3.1.9. Substance P (SP)

This endogenous neurokinin has been shown to produce CPP upon systemic injection (Hasenöhrl et al., 1989, 1991; Huston et al., 1993; Gerhardt et al., 1993; Oitzl et al., 1990), an effect which seems to be due to the action of the C-terminal and not of the N-terminal of the peptide, since only the C-terminal hepta- and hexapeptide sequences of SP but not the N-terminal SP1-7 mimicked the reinforcing effects of SP (Hasenöhrl et al., 1991; Huston et al., 1993; Oitzl et al., 1990). Similar results, i.e. CPP induced by SP, its C-terminal specific fragments but not its N-terminal specific fragments, were also found in the goldfish (Mattioli et al., 1995, 1996). In the rat, SP-induced CPP has also been demonstrated after prolonged pretreatment (daily for 9 weeks) prior to conditioning (Sprick et al., 1996), suggesting the absence of tolerance to the motivational effects of SP, even after extensive chronic exposure.

#### 3.1.10. Cholecystokinin (CCK)

The CCK fragments CCK-8S and Boc-CCK-4 produced neither CPP nor CPA (Gerhardt *et al.*, 1994), and the CCK-A antagonist devazepide (Higgins *et al.*, 1992c) and the CCK-B antagonist PD-134 308 were also ineffective (Valverde *et al.*, 1996a, 1997). On the other hand, the CCK-B antagonist L365-260 was reported to produce a small but significant CPP (Higgins *et al.*, 1992c).

#### 3.1.11. Hormones

Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) has been shown to produce CPP (De Beun *et al.*,

1991a, 1992a). Testosterone produced CPP in male (De Beun *et al.*, 1992b; Alexander *et al.*, 1994; but see Caldarone *et al.*, 1996) but not in female rats (De Beun *et al.*, 1992b), while estradiol produced CPA in male as well as in female rats (De Beun *et al.*, 1991b). Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) produced CPA (Cador *et al.*, 1992).

#### 3.1.12. Calcium Channel Blockers

Isradipine (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1994a), nifedipine, flunaridine, diltiazem, verapamil (Pucilowski *et al.*, 1993; Suzuki *et al.*, 1992a) and BAY-k-8644 (De Beun *et al.*, 1996b) failed to produce CPP or CPA. On the other hand, nimodipine produced a CPP in one study (De Beun *et al.*, 1996a) and a CPA in another study (Martin-Iverson *et al.*, 1997).

## 3.1.13. Adrenergic Drugs

The  $\alpha$ 2-agonist clonidine produced CPP over a range of doses (Asin and Wirtshafter, 1985; Tierney *et al.*, 1988; but see Cervo *et al.*, 1993; Nader and van der Kooy, 1996), while rilmenidine, another  $\alpha$ 2-agonist, produced CPP only at one intermediate dose (Tierney *et al.*, 1988). The  $\alpha$ 2-antagonist idazoxan also produced CPP while the  $\alpha$ 1-antagonist prazosin (Cervo *et al.*, 1993) was without effect. The noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor desipramine was reported to be without effect (Martin-Iverson *et al.*, 1985) or to produce CPA (Papp, 1989). The  $\alpha$ 2-antagonist yohimbine was found to produce CPA (File, 1986).

#### 3.1.14. Adenosinergic Drugs

Low to intermediate doses of caffeine (Brockwell *et al.*, 1991), low doses of theophylline, the preferential A2 agonist NECA and the adenosine antagonist 8-PT all produced CPP, whereas high doses of caffeine, theophylline and the preferential A1 agonists R-PIA and CHA produced CPA (Brockwell *et al.*, 1991; Zarrindast and Moghadamnia, 1997; but see Carey and Damianopoulos (1994) who reported a CPP for a high dose of caffeine). These latter results (using mice as subjects) differ from the findings of another study (Brockwell and Beninger, 1996) which used rats and showed that the selective A2 antagonist CGS 15943A produced CPP, whereas the A1 antagonist CGS 21680 were without effect.

#### 3.1.15. Diverse Drugs

The anaesthetic propofol, but not the anaesthetic methohexital, produced CPP, both at subanaesthetic doses and at anaesthetic doses (in which case recovery from anaesthesia was paired with a distictive compartment) (Pain *et al.*, 1996, 1997). The nonbenzodiazepine anxiolytics U-43 465 and tracazolate were found to produce CPP (File, 1986), and also glue thinner vapours (i.e. a mixture of different organic solvents) (Yavich *et al.*, 1994) and magnesium (in the form of MgCl<sub>2</sub>) (Lawley and Kantak, 1990b).

The histamine H1 antagonist tripelennamine failed to produce an effect (Suzuki *et al.*, 1991b), while the H1 antagonist chlorpheniramine

(Masukawa *et al.*, 1993) and the H2 antagonist zolantidine (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995b) were found to produce CPP. A CPP induced by chlorpheniramine was also found in the goldfish, although only at higher doses, while a low dose produced CPA, perhaps via a H3-mediated mechanism (Mattioli *et al.*, 1998).

The  $\sigma$ -agonists d,l-NAN and l-NAN (but not d-NAN) produced CPP (Iwamoto, 1986b), while the bradykinin BK1 antagonist des-Arg(9),(Leu(8))BK, but not the BK2 antagonist HOE 140, produced CPA (Sufka and Roach, 1996).

The immunosuppressant cyclosporine A did not produce CPP or CPA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1993b), and Ginseng extract (Tokuyama *et al.*, 1996b), a lipopolysaccharide purified from *Pantoea agglomerans* (Suzuki *et al.*, 1994a), the putative antiaddictive drug ibogaine (Parker *et al.*, 1995), the NO synthase inhibitors L-nitroarginin (L-NOARG) (Kivastik *et al.*, 1996a) and L-NNA (Kim and Park, 1995), and ascorbate (Pierce *et al.*, 1995) were equally ineffective.

## 3.1.16. Natural Reinforcers

One of the big advantages of the CPP paradigm is that non-drug reinforcers can be tested for their motivational properties. Thus, CPP has been shown to be produced by social interaction (rough-andtumble play) in juvenile rats (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1992b), home cage odours in infant rats (Hansen, 1993), interaction with pups in maternal rats (Magnusson and Fleming, 1995), social play (Crowder and Hutto, 1992a), successful intermale aggression in mice (Martinez et al., 1995), aggressive or sexual interaction with males in female hamsters (Meisel and Joppa, 1994; Paredes and Alonso, 1997; Meisel et al., 1996) and rats (Oldenburger et al., 1992), sexual interaction with oestrous females in male rats (Hughes et al., 1990; Mehrara and Baum, 1990; Miller and Baum, 1987), ejaculation (Agmo and Berenfeld, 1990; Agmo and Gomez, 1993), water (Crowder and Hutto, 1992a; Agmo et al., 1993; Perks and Clifton, 1997), sucrose or saccharin solution (Papp et al., 1991; Agmo et al., 1995; Perks and Clifton, 1997; Agmo and Marroquin, 1997; Stefurak and van der Kooy, 1992, 1994), and food (Lepore et al., 1995; Papp, 1988a, 1989; Papp et al., 1991; Cheeta et al., 1994; Willner et al., 1994; Guyon et al., 1993; Muscat et al., 1992; Perks and Clifton, 1997; Chapman et al., 1998). Interaction with pups only produced CPP in postpartum (maternal) rats, but not in nulliparous rats, but could be induced in the latter by hormonal manipulation to mimic the state of maternity (Fleming et al., 1994). Food-induced CPP has been shown to depend on the actual consummatory act during the conditioning sessions, since only rats that were able to eat the food developed CPP, but not those that were exposed to food that they could see and smell but not eat in the conditioning compartment, or those that received a small meal in the home cage prior to the conditioning sessions (Maes and Vossen, 1993). A novel environment has also been shown to be able to produce CPP (Carr et al., 1988; Bardo et al., 1989, 1990, 1993; Parker, 1992; Laviola and Adriani, 1998) (see also Section 2.2).

# 3.2. 'Drug Combinations'

The interpretation of results from drug combination studies (Table 2) is not always straightforward. If a drug such as amphetamine or morphine is combined with another drug and this combination does not produce a place preference, this does not necessarily mean that this second drug blocked or attenuated the rewarding effects of the psychostimulant or the opiate per se. A lack of effect could also be due to fact that the additional drug made the place conditioning state-dependent, such that a test in the drug-free state would produce no effect (see Section 2.6), or it could be due to a disruption of the animals' perception of the conditioning context. If an animal is unable to perceive the distinct features of the conditioning context, it will not be able to form an association between these features and the rewarding drug effects. A lack of effect could also be due to the fact that the additional drug interfered with the process of conditioning rather than with the rewarding properties of the CPP-inducing drug. The acquisition of a CPP depends on the learning of the association between rewarding drug effect and conditioning environment. If a drug impairs learning it will also attenuate drug-induced CPP-without having any effect on drug reward. A good example for these notes of caution are NMDA receptor antagonists. These have frequently been shown to impair learning and memory (e.g. Morris al., 1986; Bischoff and Tiedtke, 1992: et Zajaczkowski et al., 1996), to impair the reaction to exteroceptive stimuli (Dai and Carey, 1994), and to produce state-dependency effects (Jackson et al., 1992). Yet they have also been shown to prevent the development of drug-induced CPP (see Section 3.2.1.5), an effect which could be due to all three of the aforementioned effects rather than to a blockade of the rewarding effects of the CPP-inducing drug. In fact, in self-administration (Ranaldi et al., 1996; Pierce et al., 1997) and brain-stimulation studies (Carlezon and Wise, 1993a; Ranaldi et al., 1997) it has been demonstrated repeatedly and convincingly that NMDA receptor antagonists enhance rather than attenuate the rewarding effects of drugs such as amphetamine, cocaine, or morphine. These issues have to be kept in mind when interpreting the results of systemic as well as local (see Section 4) drug combination studies (in principle, similar arguments also apply to the effects of lesions on druginduced CPP, see Section 5).

#### 3.2.1. Place Conditioning Induced by Dopaminergic Drugs

#### 3.2.1.1. Effects of dopaminergic drugs

Place conditioning induced by cocaine: Haloperidol failed to affect cocaine-induced CPP (Mackey and van der Kooy, 1985; Kuzmin and Zvartau, 1993), methylphenidate- and nomifensineinduced CPP (Martin-Iverson *et al.*, 1985). Note, however, that in the study by Martin-Iverson *et al.* (1985) a high dose of haloperidol was effective in blocking conditioning with methylphenidate. On the other hand, haloperidol attenuated the expression of cocaine-induced CPP, while amphetamine enhanced

# Measuring Reward with the Conditioned Place Preference Paradigm

Table 2. This table summarizes the results of studies using systemic drug-combination treatments. See Section 3.2 in the text for details about drugs, experimental procedures and additional findings that could not be included in the table. In cases where the effects of a drug on place aversion or on the expression of place conditioning were examined, this is indicated explicitly in the table by (CPA) and (expr.), respectively

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
Dopaminergic drugs:			
Cocaine	Dopaminergic drugs: Haloperidol	СРР	Mackey and van der Kooy (1985); Kuzmin and Zvartau (1993): Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1987)
	$\alpha$ -Flupenthixol	CPP	Mackey and van der Koov (1985)
	Pimozide	CPP	Morency and Beninger (1986)
	Sulpiride	CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995)
	SCH23390	No CPP	Pruitt et al. (1995); Cervo and Samanin (1995)
	Clozapine	No CPP	Kosten and Nestler (1994)
	Olanzapine	No CPP	Meil and Schechter (1997)
	Sertindole	No CPP	Suzuki and Misawa (1995)
	Preclomol	Reduced CPP	Kivastik <i>et al.</i> $(1996b)$
	Quinpirole	CPP No CPD	Kivastik <i>et al.</i> (1996b) Bilatry at $al.$ (1998)
Cocaine (IV)	Haloperidol	No CPP No CPP	Blisky et al. $(1998)$ Spyraki et al. $(1987)$
Cocaine (expr.)	Haloperidol	Reduced CPP	Lawley and Kantak (1990a)
coedine (expr.)	Sulpiride	CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995)
	SCH23390	CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995)
	Amphetamine	Enhanced CPP	Lawley and Kantak (1990a)
Methylphenidate	Haloperidol	CPP	Martin-Iverson et al. (1985)
Nomifensine	Haloperidol	CPP	Martin-Iverson et al. (1985)
Amphetamine	Haloperidol	No CPP	Mackey and van der Kooy (1985); Hoffman
	Raclopride	No CPP	and Donovan (1995)
	Risperidone	No CPP	
	Clozapine	No CPP	Heffman (1004). Mashawand wan dan Kasaw
	α-nupentnixol	No CPP No CPP	Hoffman (1994); Mackey and Van der Kooy (1985): Hoffman and Paningar (1980); Hiroj and
	Fticlopride	No CPP	White (1991a): Leone and Di Chiara (1987):
	Sulpiride	No CPP	Acquas and Di Chiara (1994)
	SCH23390	No CPP	
	SCH39166	No CPP	
Amphet. (expr.)	α-flupenthixol	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	Metoclopramide	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	Sulpiride	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	SCH23390	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
Methamphetamine	Sertindole	No CPP	Suzuki and Misawa (1995)
	Quinpirole	No CPP No CPP	Kamei and Ohsawa (1996)
Quinnirole	Metoclopramide	No CPP	Hoffman and Beninger (1980)
Quilipiroie	SCH23390	No CPP	Hoffman and Beninger (1989)
SKF38393 (CPA)	Metoclopramide	No CPA	Hoffman and Beninger (1989)
	SCH23390	No CPA	Hoffman and Beninger (1989)
Bupropion	Haloperidol	CPP	Ortmann (1985)
	Sulpiride	CPP	Ortmann (1985)
Fencamfamine	Metoclopramide	CPP	Planeta da Silva et al. (1995)
	Pimozide	CPP	Planeta da Silva <i>et al.</i> (1995)
D: (1.1. )	SCH23390	No CPP	Planeta da Silva <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Diethylpropion	SCH23390	NO CPP CDD	Planeta da Silva <i>et al.</i> (1995)
pipradrol	SCH23390	No CPP	White and Hiroi (1992)
Cocaine	Naloxone	No CPP	Houdi et al. (1989); Kuzmin and Zvartau (1993); Kim et al. (1997); Kuzmin et al. (1997);
			Gerrits <i>et al.</i> (1995); Biala and Langwinski (1996b)
	Naltrexone	No or reduced CPP	Sala et al. (1995); Bilsky et al. (1992); Suzuki et al. (1992d)
	Naltrexone	CPP	Cramer <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	(long-term)	No CDD	Montrong at al. (1002)
	manumuole	CPP	De Vries <i>et al.</i> (1992) De Vries <i>et al.</i> (1995): Shinnenberg and
		011	Heidbreder (1995b)
	Buprenorphine	Enhanced CPP	Brown <i>et al.</i> (1991)
	I I .	No or reduced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992d); Kosten et al. (1991)
			(continued on next page)

632

# T. M. Tzschentke

# Table 2 (continued)

Table 2 (continued)			
Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
	Mornhina	Enhanced CDD	Masukawa at $cl$ (1002)
	Mathadana	Enhanced CPP	$\mathbf{P}_{iasukawa} et al. (1995)$
			Crowford at $al (1005)$ : Suzuki at $al (1002d)$
Cooping (over)	U-30 466H	No CPP	Clawfold et al. (1995); Suzuki et al. (1992d) Corrite et al. (1995)
Amphatamina	Nalovona	No CPP	Truiillo at al. (1993)
Amphetamme	Naloxofie	NO CPP	(1006b)
Fancamfamina	Nalovona	No CPP	$\begin{array}{c} (19900) \\ \text{Planeta da Silva at al. (1005)} \end{array}$
Mathamphatamina	Marphina	Enhanced CDD	$M_{acultanue} \text{ at } al (1993)$
Anomorphina			Funda et al. $(1993)$
Apomorphille	GAR Aeraic drugs	CFF	Funada <i>et ut.</i> (1995)
Amphatamina	Baclofen	CDD	Hoffman and Donovan (1995)
Amphetamine	Triazolam	Reduced CPP	Pettit $at al (1989)$
	Progabide	CPP	Di Scala <i>et al.</i> (1985)
Amphet (expr.)	Pentobarbital	CPP	Hiroi and White (1991b)
Cocaine (expr.)	Pentobarbital	Reduced CPP	Lawley and Kantak (1990a)
cocame (expi.)	Serotonergic drugs	Reduced CI I	Lawley and Kantak (1990a)
Cocaine	MDI 72222	CPP	Cervo $et al (1996)$
coedine	Tropisetron	CPP	Cervo et al. $(1996)$
	Ondansetron	CPP	Cervo $et al.$ (1996)
	MDL 7222	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1990)
	ICS 205-930	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992c)
	Buspirone	CPP	Ali and Kelly $(1992c)$
Cocaine (expr.)	Buspirone	CPP	Ali and Kelly (1997)
coedine (expr.)	Ondansetron	CPP	Cervo et al. $(1996)$
Amphetamine	ICS 205-930	CPP	Acquas et al. (1988): Carboni et al. (1989)
mphetamine	MDI 72222	CPP	Acquas et al. (1988); Carboni et al. (1989)
	Ritanserine	No CPP	Nomikos and Snyraki (1988a)
	Zimelidine	No CPP	Kruszewska et al. (1986)
Methamphetamine	ICS 205-930	No CPP	Suzuki $et al (1992c)$
Wethamphetamme	MDI 72222	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992c)
	Glutamatergic drugs		Suzuki et ul. (19926)
Cocaine	MK-801	No CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995): Kim et al. (1996b)
Cocaine (expr.)	MK-801	CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995), Kin et al. (1990)
Amphetamine	MK-801	CPP	Hoffman (1994)
pitetuiline	Riluzole	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998a)
Amphet (expr)	MK-801	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1997)
······································	GYKI 52466	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1997)
	(+)CPP	No CPP	Bespalov (1996)
Methamphetamine	MK-801	No CPP	Kim and Jang (1997)
r	Calcium channel		
	blockers:		
Cocaine	Nifedipine	No CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996a): Suzuki <i>et al.</i>
			(1992a)
	PN 200-110	No CPP	Pani <i>et al.</i> (1991)
	Flunarizine	No CPP	Suzuki et al. $(1992a)$
	Diltiazem	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
	Verapamil	No CPP	Pucilowski et al. (1993)
	Nimodipine	No CPP	Martin-Iverson et al. (1997)
	Isradipine	CPP	Cramer et al. (1998)
	(long-term)		× ,
	Isradipine	No CPP	Cramer et al. (1998)
	(long-term) +		
	naltrexone		
	(long-term)		
Amphetamine	Isradipine	No CPP	Pucilowski et al. (1995)
Methamphetamine	Nifedipine	Reduced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
* ···· ·	Diltiazem	Reduced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
	Flunarizine	CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992a)
	Other drugs and		
	treatments:		
Cocaine	Ginseng extract	No CPP	Kim et al. (1996a,c); Tokuyama et al. (1996b):
	0		Takahashi and Tokuyama (1998)
	Pantoea agglom.	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1994a)
	lipopolysaccaride		
	Ibogaine	No CPP	Moroz et al. (1997)
	L-NNA	No CPP	Kim and Park (1995)
	Caffeine	Enhanced CPP	Tuazon et al. (1992)
			· /

Measuring Reward with the Conditioned Place Preference Paradigm

# Table 2 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
	Theophylline SR141716 Chlorpheniramine Lithium chloride	Enhanced CPP No CPP Enhanced CPP CPP	Tuazon <i>et al.</i> (1992) Chaperon <i>et al.</i> (1998) Masukawa <i>et al.</i> (1993) Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1992a)
Cocaine (expr.)	Exp. inflammat. MgCl <sub>2</sub>	Reduced CPP Enhanced CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1996b) Lawley and Kantak (1990a)
Amphatamina	SR141716	CPP Enhanced CDD	Chaperon <i>et al.</i> $(1998)$
Amphetamme	Chronic lithium Cysteamine Perinatal ozone Prazosin	CPP CPP CPP CPP CPP	Shippenberg and Herz (1991) Martin-Iverson <i>et al.</i> (1986) Dell'Omo <i>et al.</i> (1995) Hoffman and Donovan (1995)
Amphet. (expr.) Methamphetamine	Scopolamine Ginseng extract	Enhanced CPP No CPP	Lynch (1991) Tokuyama <i>et al.</i> (1996b); Takahashi and Tokuyama (1998)
	Ginsenosides Rb-1 and Rg(1)	No CPP	Kim <i>et al.</i> (1998a)
	Caffeine	No CPP	Tuazon <i>et al.</i> (1992)
	Theophylline	No CPP	Tuazon <i>et al.</i> $(1992)$
	Exp inflammation	Reduced CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	Exp. diabetes Environmental factors:	Enhanced CPP	Kamei and Ohsawa (1996)
Cocaine	Isolation rearing	No CPP	Schenk et al. (1986)
	Precocious Weaning	Enhanced CPP	Laviola and Dell'Omo (1997)
A	Food deprivation	Enhanced CPP	Bell et al. (1997)
Amphetamine	Isolation rearing	NO CPP CPP	Schenk at al. (1986): Bowling and Bardo (1994)
	Rear. in enriched environment	Enhanced CPP	Bowling and Bardo (1994)
	Chron. mild stress	No CPP	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1991, 1993a,b)
Cathingana	Acute restr. stress	No CPP	Zurita <i>et al.</i> $(1996)$
Quinningle	learning	Ennanced CPP	Schechter (1991a)
Opioid drugs:	Denominanzia druga	NO CPP	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1991, 1993a,0)
Morphine	Amphetamine	Enhanced CPP	Gaiardi et al. (1998)
Worphine	SCH23390	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1995a,b); Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989); Leone and Di Chiara (1987)
	Sulpiride	CPP	Shippenberg and Herz (1988)
	Spiperone	CPP	Shippenberg and Herz (1988)
	Haloperidol	CPP	Mackey and van der Kooy (1985)
	a-riupentinxoi Haloperidol	No CPP	Leone and Di Chiara (1987)
	Sertindole	No CPP	Suzuki and Misawa (1995)
	Preclamol	CPP	Kivastik et al. (1996b)
	Quinpirole	CPP	Kivastik et al. (1996b)
	7-OH-DPAT	No CPP	Rodriguez de Fonseca <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Morphine (expr.)	/-OH-DPA1 Pimozide	No CPP Reduced CPP	Rodriguez de Fonseca <i>et al.</i> (1995) Hand <i>et al.</i> (1989)
Heroin (expr.)	Pimozide	Reduced CPP	Hand $et al.$ (1989)
BW373U86	SCH23390	No CPP	Longoni et al. (1998)
SNC 80	SCH23390	No CPP	Longoni et al. (1998)
U-69593 (CPA)	SCH23390	No CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1987, 1988); Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989)
	Sulpiride	CPA CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1988)
Naloyone (CPA)	Sulpiride	CPA CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1988)
	Spiperone Opioid drugs:	CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1988)
Morphine	Naloxone	No CPP	Shippenberg and Herz (1986); Bardo and Neisewander (1986); Neisewander <i>et al.</i> (1990a); Bilsky <i>et al.</i> (1990a); Biala and Langwinski
			(00001)

(continued on next page)

634

# T. M. Tzschentke

# Table 2 (continued)

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
	Naltrexone	No CPP	Piepponen et al. (1997); Bilsky et al. (1990a);
			Bardo and Neisewander (1987)
	$\beta$ -funaltrexamine	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1993a)
	Naloxonazine	No CPP	Piepponen et al. (1997)
	Naloxonazine	CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1993a)
	Naltrindole	CPP	Piepponen <i>et al.</i> $(1997)$
	Naltrindole	No CPP	Suzuki et al. $(1994b)$
	/-Benzyndene-	NO CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (19946)
	Naltriben	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1994b)
	TAN 67	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki $et al.$ (1996c)
	Methylnaloxone	СРР	Agmo et al. (1992)
	U-50 488H	No CPP	Bolanos et al. (1996); Funada et al. (1993)
	E-2078	No CPP	Funada et al. (1993)
Morphine (expr.)	Naloxone	Enhanced CPP	Neisewander et al. (1990a); Noble et al. (1993)
	RB-101	CPP	Noble et al. $(1993)$
Heroin	Naloxone Mathalanalanana	No CPP Deduced CDD	Hand <i>et al.</i> (1989)
BW3731186	Naltrindole	No CPP	Longoni <i>at al.</i> (1998)
SNC 80	Naltrindole	No CPP	Longoni et al. (1998)
U-50 488H (CPA)	Naloxone	CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1986)
	Mr 2266	Reduced CPA	Bechara and van der Kooy (1987)
Naloxone (CPA)	Dexamethasone	CPA	Mucha <i>et al.</i> (1985)
	GABAergic drugs:		
Morphine	Triazolam	CPP	Pettit <i>et al.</i> (1989)
	Ro 15-1788	CPP	Bilsky <i>et al.</i> (1990a)
	Diazepam	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1995c)
Morphine	Servionergic arugs:	No CPP	Acquas at al. (1988): Carboni at al. (1988
worphilic	MDI 72222	No CPP	1989): Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1992a): Bisaga <i>et al.</i>
	Ondansetron	No CPP	(1993)
	Ritanserin	Reduced CPP	Nomikos and Spyraki (1988a)
	DAU 6285	No CPP	Bisaga et al. (1993)
	BIMU-8	CPP	Bisaga et al. (1993)
	Zimelidine	CPP	Kruszewska et al. (1986)
Mamhina	Glutamatergic drugs:	Ma CDD	Kim at al. $(1006h)$ : Dalbara at al. $(1006)$ :
worphille	WIK-001	NO CPP	Killi <i>et al.</i> (1990), Deirozo <i>et al.</i> (1990), Tzschentke and Schmidt (1995, 1997)
	Memantine	No CPP	Ponik and Danysz (1997)
	Kvnurenic acid	No CPP	Bespalov <i>et al.</i> (1994)
	CGP37849	Reduced CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1995)
	Riluzole	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998a)
Morphine (expr.)	MK-801	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1997)
	Memantine	No CPP	Popik and Danysz (1997)
	Kynurenic acid	No CPP	Bespalov <i>et al.</i> (1994)
Morphine	PD 142808	No CPP	Higgins et al. (1001b): Singh et al. (1006a b)
worphilic	PD 140548	No CPP	Higgins et al. (1991b); Singh et al. (1996a b)
	CI 988	CPP	Higgins et al. (1991b); Singh et al. (1996a,b) Higgins $et al.$ (1991b): Singh $et al.$ (1996a,b)
	Devazepide	Reduced CPP	Higgins <i>et al.</i> (1992c)
	L365-260	Enhanced CPP	Higgins et al. (1992c)
	PD 134308	Enhanced CPP	Valverde et al. (1996a)
RB-101	PD 134308	Enhanced CPP	Valverde et al. (1996a)
	Other drugs and		
Manulina	treatments:	N <sub>2</sub> CDD	Lemmine of al (1000)
worphille	Leupentin	No CPP	Lyupina et al. $(1996)$
	Ibogaine	No CPP	Luxton et al. (1996): Parker et al. (1995)
	Ginseng total	No CPP	Kim <i>et al.</i> (1998b)
	saponin		
	SR141716	No CPP	Chaperon et al. (1998)
	L-NOArg	No CPP	Kivastik et al. (1996a)
	Nifedipine	No CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996a)
	Isradipine	No CPP	Kuzmin <i>et al.</i> (1992)
	Nitroprusside	No CPP No CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996b)
	L-histidine	Reduced CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1995b)
	2 monume		Salani (19950)

# Table 2 (continued)

Place conditioning	Combined with	Decult	Pafarancas
	Combined with	Result	References
	α-Fluoromethyl-	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1995b)
	histidine Zolantidine	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki $at al (1995b)$
	Ethanol	Enhanced CPP	Marglin <i>et al.</i> (1988)
	Cyclosporine	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1993b)
	Chronic cadmium	Reduced CPP	Miller and Nation (1997)
	Exp. inflammation	Reduced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1996b)
Morphine (expr.)	Molsidomine	CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996b)
Heroin	Clonidine	No CPP	Hand <i>et al.</i> $(1989)$
Dihydrocodeine	Chlorpheniramine	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1990) Shinnonhang and Harz (1001)
U-69593 (CPA)	Chronic lithium	CPA	Shippenberg and Herz (1991)
0 0)5)5 (0111)	Environmental	enn	Shippenberg and Herz (1991)
	factors:		
Morphine	Chron. mild stress	No CPP	Papp et al. (1992)
	Acute restr. stress	No CPP	Kiyatkin and Belyi (1991)
	Social isolation	No CPP	Coudereau <i>et al.</i> (1997); Wongwitdecha and Marsden (1996)
		Reduced CPP	Schenk <i>et al.</i> (1985)
	Rear. in enriched	Enhanced CPP	Bardo <i>et al.</i> (1997)
	Social defeat	Reduced CPP	Coventry $et al$ (1997)
	Food deprivation	Enhanced CPP	Gaiardi <i>et al.</i> (1997)
	Sucrose solution	Enhanced CPP	Lett (1989b)
Naloxone (CPA)	Chron. mild stress	CPA	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Naloxone (CPA) (in	Memantine	No CPA	Popik and Danysz (1997)
morphine-depend.	MK-801	No CPA	Higgins et al. (1992b)
animals)	Propylnorapom.	No CPA	Harris and Aston-Jones (1994)
	$\alpha$ -Flupenthixol	No CPA	Bechara <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	Ondansetron	No CPA	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Boisini et al. (1993)} \\ \text{Higgins et al. (1991a)} \end{array}$
	ICS 205-930	No CPA	Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1990)
	MDL 72222	No CPA	Acquas et al. (1990); Higgins et al. (1991a)
	Chlordiazepoxide	No CPA	Higgins et al. (1991a)
	Gepirone	CPA	Higgins et al. (1991a)
	Clonidine	No CPA	Kosten (1994)
	Atopolol	No CPA	Harris and Aston Jones (1993)
	Fluvoxamine	No CPA	Rafieian-Konaei <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	Paroxetine	No CPA	Rafieian-Kopaei <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	Binaltorphimine	Enhanced CPA	Spanagel et al. (1994)
	PD-134 308 (long-term)	Reduced CPA	Valverde and Roques (1998)
	L-365-260	No CPA	Valverde and Roques (1998)
	(long-term)	CDA	Valuanda and Damas (1000)
	Devazepide	CPA	valverde and Roques (1998)
	BC 264 (long-term)	CPA	Valverde and Roques (1998)
Ethanol	Mianserin	Enhanced CPP	Risinger and Oakes (1996a)
	Fluoxetine	CPP	Risinger (1997)
	Naloxone	No CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996b)
		CPP	Cunningham et al. (1995)
	Nitroprusside	Reduced CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996b)
	Haloperidol	CPP	Risinger <i>et al.</i> (1992a); Cunningham <i>et al.</i>
	Ro 15-4513	СРР	Risinger et al. (1992b)
	Nifedipine	CPP	Biala and Langwinski (1996a)
	Aminoglutethim.	CPP	Chester and Cunningham (1998)
	Pyrazole	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1992b)
<b>D</b> 4 17	Cond. fear stress	Enhanced CPP	Matsuzawa et al. (1998)
Ethanol (expr.)	Naloxone	CPP Deduced CDD	Cunningham <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Ethanol (CDA)	Tropisetrop	CPA	Biala and Langwinski (1996b) Biankowski <i>at cl.</i> (1997s)
Emanor (CPA)	Social interaction	Reduced CPA	Gauvin et al. (1994)
	Increased ambient	Reduced CPA	Cunningham and Niehus (1993)
	temperature		<i>C</i>
Nicotine	ICS 205-930 MDL 72222	No CPP No CPP	Acquas et al. (1988); Carboni et al. (1988, 1989) Acquas et al. (1988); Carboni et al. (1988, 1989) (continued on next page)

636

# Table 2 (continued)

# T. M. Tzschentke

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
	SCH23390	No CPP	Acquas $et al (1989)$
	Mecamylamine	No CPP	Fudala <i>et al.</i> (1985)
	Hexamethonium	CPP	Fudala <i>et al.</i> (1985)
GABAergic drugs:			
Diazepam	SCH23390	No CPP	Acquas et al. (1989)
	Haloperidol	No CPP	Spyraki and Fibiger (1988)
	Domperidon	CPP	Spyraki and Fibiger (1988)
	Ritanserin	No CPP	Nomikos and Spyraki (1988a)
	CGS 8216	No CPP	Spyraki et al. (1985)
	Picrotoxin	No CPP	Spyraki et al. $(1985)$
	Naloxone	No CPP	Spyraki et al. $(1985)$
EC7142 (CDA)	Sodium valproate	CPP No CDA	Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1985) Di Saala and Sandnar (1980b)
Pierotovin (CPA)	SCU22200	No CPA	$\Delta$ squas at $al.$ (1080)
TICIOIOXIII (CLA)	ICS 205-930	No CPA	Acquas et al. $(1909)$
	MDI 72222	No CPA	Acquas et al. (1990)
	Chron mild stress	CPA	Papp $et al.$ (1992)
Pentylenetetra-	(+)CPP	No CPA	Bespalov (1996)
zole(expr.) (CPA)			
Serotonergic drugs:			
8-OH-DPAT	PCPA	No CPP	Papp and Willner (1991)
	Pimozide	No CPP	Papp and Willner (1991)
	Sulpiride	No CPP	Papp and Willner (1991)
	Spiperone	No CPP	Shippenberg (1991)
	SCH23390	No CPP	Shippenberg (1991)
	Sulpiride	CPP	Shippenberg (1991)
8-OH-DPAT (CPA)	PCPA D' 1	CPA	Papp and Willner (1991)
MDMA	Pimozide	CPA No CDD	Papp and Willner (1991) Bildy and Baid (1001)
MDMA	MDL 72222 CCS 10746	No CPP	Disky and Keld (1991) Disky at al. (1008)
	Naltreyone	Reduced CPP	$\mathbf{Bilsky} \ et \ al. \ (1996)$
Mianserin (CPA)	mCPP	No CPA	$\mathbf{R}_{\text{ocha}\ et\ al}\ (1991)$
Eltoprazine (CPA)	mCPP	No CPA	Rocha <i>et al.</i> (1993a)
mCPBG (CPA)	Ondansetron	No CPA	Higgins <i>et al.</i> $(1993)$
PBG (CPA)	ICS 205-930	No CPA	Higgins et al. (1993)
Various drug			
combinations:			
Zolantidine	SCH23390	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1995b)
Pentazocine	SCH23390	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1991b)
+ tripelennamine		N. CDD	
Propotol	Midazolam	No CPP	Pain <i>et al.</i> $(1997)$
Clonidine	Idazoxan	NO CPP CPD	Cervo <i>et al.</i> $(1993)$
Substance P	Nalayana	CPP No CPP	$\mathbf{U}_{\text{reson-bhrl}} = t  al  (1993)$
Substance r	Haloperidol	No CPP	Mattioli et al. (1991)
WIN 55212-2 (CPA)	SR141716	No CPA	Chaperon <i>et al.</i> $(1998)$
PCP (CPA)	SCH23390	No CPA	Acquas <i>et al.</i> (1989): Nabeshima <i>et al.</i> (1996)
()	Butaclamol	No CPA	Iwamoto (1986a)
	Spiroperidol	No CPA	Iwamoto (1986a)
	ICS 205-930	No CPA	Acquas et al. (1990)
	MDL 72222	No CPA	Acquas et al. (1990)
Lithium chloride	Metoclopramide	No CPA	Frisch <i>et al.</i> (1995)
(CPA)			
	Ginkgo	No CPA	Frisch <i>et al.</i> (1995)
	biloba + Zingiber		
	offic. extracts	CDA	Shinnenhang at $al (1008)$
	Ibogoino	CPA	Barker at al. (1998)
	Naloxone	Νο ΓΡΔ	Acques and Di Chiere (1994)
	SCH23390	No CPA	Acquas and Di Chiara (1994)
	SCH39166	No CPA	Acquas and Di Chiara (1994)
	High ambient	Reduced CPA	Cunningham and Niehus (1993)
	temperature		
Natural reinforcers:	*		
Sex. interaction in	Raclopride	No CPP	Meisel et al. (1996)
females		678 B	
Sex. interaction in	Pimozide	CPP	Agmo and Berenfeld (1990)
males	inaloxone	CPA	Agmo and Bereniela (1990)

I able 2 (continued)	Table 2	(continued)	)
----------------------	---------	-------------	---

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with	Result	References
Sex. interaction in males (expr.)	Naloxone	Reduced CPP	Miller and Baum (1987); Mehrara and Baum (1990)
Home cage odors in	Clonidine	No CPP	Hansen (1993)
infant rats	Raclopride	CPP	Hansen (1993)
	Naltrexone	CPP	Hansen (1993)
	Propranolol	CPP	Hansen (1993)
Food	Sulpiride (low d.)	Enhanced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Amisulpiride (low dose)	Enhanced CPP	Guyon <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	Pimozide (low d.)	Enhanced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Sulpiride (high d.)	Reduced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Amisulpiride (high dose)	Reduced CPP	Guyon <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	Pimozide (hi. d.)	Reduced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Haloperidol	Reduced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Metoclopramide	Reduced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Chlorpromazine	Reduced CPP	Guyon et al. (1993)
	Naloxone	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1993)
	Pimozide	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1993)
	Raclopride	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1993)
	SCH23390	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1993)
	α-flupenthixol	CPP	Bechara et al. (1992); Harrington and van der
			Kooy (1992)
	Memantine	CPP	Popik and Danysz (1997)
	SR141716	No CPP	Chaperon et al. (1998)
	Chron. mild stress	No CPP	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1991); Muscat <i>et al.</i> (1992); Cheeta <i>et al.</i> (1994); D'Aquila <i>et al.</i> (1997)
Food (expr.)	Memantine	CPP	Popik and Danysz (1997)
Sucrose solution	α-Flupenthixol	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1995)
	Naloxone	No CPP	Agmo et al. (1995)
	Chron. mild stress	No CPP	Papp et al. (1991); Muscat et al. (1992); Cheeta
			et al. (1994); D'Aquila et al. (1997)
Food shocks (CPA)	Diazepam	No CPA	Papp (1988a)
	ICS 205-930	No CPA	Papp (1988a)
Novel environment	Haloperidol	No CPP	Bardo et al. (1989)
(expr.)	Apomorphine	No CPP	Bardo et al. (1990)
	(low dose)		
	SKF 38393	No CPP	Bardo et al. (1993)
	Quinpirole	No CPP	Bardo et al. (1993)
	SCH23390	No CPP	Bardo et al. (1993)
	Morphine	CPP	Bardo et al. (1989)
	Naltrexone	CPP	Bardo et al. (1989)
	Amphetamine	CPP	Bardo et al. (1989)
	Apomorphine	CPP	Bardo et al. (1990)
	(high dose)		
	Eticlopride	CPP	Bardo <i>et al.</i> (1993)

the expression of cocaine-induced CPP (Lawley and Kantak, 1990a). A similar lack of effect as for haloperidol on the acquisition of cocaine-induced CPP was also reported for  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol (Mackey and van der Kooy, 1985) and pimozide (Morency and Beninger, 1986). Note, however, that although haloperidol did not affect IP cocaine-induced CPP, it did disrupt CPP induced by IV cocaine (Spyraki *et al.*, 1987). Note also that the D2 antagonists sulpiride and eticlopride prevented cocaine-induced CPP in 10-day-old but not in 17-day-old rats, while SCH 23390 was effective at both ages (Pruitt *et al.*, 1995) and in adult rats (Cervo and Samanin, 1995). In the latter study, SCH 23390 did not affect the expression of cocaine-induced CPP and sulpiride had

no effect on either acquisition or expression of cocaine-induced CPP. On the other hand, a blockade of cocaine-induced CPP by clozapine (Kosten and Nestler, 1994), olanzapine (Meil and Schechter, 1997) and sertindole (Suzuki and Misawa, 1995) was reported. The partial DA autoreceptor agonist preclomol, but not autoreceptor-specific doses of quinpirole, attenuated cocaine-induced CPP (Kivastik *et al.*, 1996b). CGS10746B, which reduces presynaptic DA release, blocked cocaine-induced CPP (Bilsky *et al.*, 1998).

Place conditioning induced by amphetamine: Amphetamine-induced CPP was reported to be blocked by haloperidol, raclopride, risperidone and clozapine (Mackey and van der Kooy, 1985; Hoffman and Donovan, 1995), and methamphetamine-induced CPP was blocked by sertindole (Suzuki and Misawa, 1995), quinpirole and the D3 agonist 7-OH-DPAT (Kamei and Ohsawa, 1996). Amphetamine-induced CPP was also prevented by the D1 antagonists SCH 23390 and SCH 39166, and the D2 antagonists  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol, metoclopramide, eticlopride, and sulpiride (Hoffman, 1994; Mackey and van der Kooy, 1985; Hoffman and Beninger, 1989; Hiroi and White, 1991a; Leone and Di Chiara, 1987; Acquas and Di Chiara, 1994). Expression of amphetamine-induced CPP was also blocked by SCH 23390 and the D2 antagonists, although high doses of the D2 antagonists that might have lost specificity for the D2 receptors had to be used to obtain this effect (Hiroi and White, 1991a).

Place conditioning induced by other dopaminergic drugs: Quinpirole-induced CPP and SKF 38393induced CPA was prevented by SCH 23390 and metoclopramide (Hoffman and Beninger, 1989), while bupropion-induced CPP was not affected by haloperidol or sulpiride (Ortmann, 1985). Fencamfamine-induced CPP was blocked by SCH 23390, but not by metoclopramide and pimozide (Planeta da Silva et al., 1995). Likewise, diethylpropion-induced CPP was blocked by SCH23390 but not by haloperidol (Planeta da Silva and DeLucia, 1998). Pipradrol-induced CPP was also blocked by SCH 23390 (White and Hiroi, 1992). The CPA induced by the D1 antagonist SCH 23390 was found to be prevented by pairing another D1 antagonist, SCH 39166, with both compartments during conditioning (Acquas and Di Chiara, 1994).

Taken together, these results suggest that the rewarding properties of cocaine and related DA reuptake blockers appear to be dependent on D1 receptor-mediated mechanisms, while they seem to be largely independent of D2 receptor-mediated mechanisms. In contrast to this, while also dependent on dopaminergic transmission at the D1 receptor, the rewarding properties of amphetamine appear to be highly dependent on dopaminergic activity at D2 receptors as well. Thus, the rewarding effects of cocaine and amphetamine not only seem to depend to a differential degree on different anatomical substrates (see Section 4.1.1) but also appear to be mediated (at least partly) by different receptor mechanisms.

#### 3.2.1.2. Effects of opioidergic drugs

Naloxone blocked cocaine-induced CPP (Houdi et al., 1989; Kuzmin and Zvartau, 1993; Kim et al., 1997; Kuzmin et al., 1997; Gerrits et al., 1995; Biala and Langwinski, 1996b), amphetamine-induced CPP (Trujillo et al., 1991; Biala and Langwinski, 1996b) and fencamfamine-induced CPP (Planeta da Silva et al., 1995), while naloxone methyl-iodide, a methyl-ated naloxone analogon that does not cross the blood-brain barrier, had no effect (Kuzmin et al., 1997), suggesting that peripheral opioid receptors are not involved in the mediation of psychostimulant-induced reward. Naloxone was also reported to block the expression of cocaine-induced CPP (Gerrits et al., 1995). Naltrexone also blocked or

attenuated cocaine-induced CPP (Sala *et al.*, 1995; Bilsky *et al.*, 1992; Suzuki *et al.*, 1992d). However, it was also reported that long-term pretreatment with naltrexone did not affect cocaine-induced CPP (Cramer *et al.*, 1998). The  $\delta$ -antagonist naltrindole also prevented cocaine-induced CPP in one study (Menkens *et al.*, 1992), but not in others (De Vries *et al.*, 1995; Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995b).

Combined subthreshold doses of cocaine and buprenorphine were able to produce a CPP, and a combination of larger doses of both drugs also produced potentiated effects (Brown et al., 1991). In contrast to this, it has also been reported that acute pretreatment with buprenorphine blocked cocaineinduced CPP (Suzuki et al., 1992d), and that chronic pretreatment with buprenorphine (2 times/day for 2 weeks) significantly attenuated cocaine-induced CPP (Kosten et al., 1991). Morphine had an additive effect on methamphetamine-induced CPP and a potentiating effect on cocaine-induced CPP (Masukawa et al., 1993). Methadone was also shown to enhance the CPP-inducing effects of cocaine (Bilsky et al., 1992). On the other hand, it was reported that U-50488H blocked cocaineinduced CPP (Crawford et al., 1995; Suzuki et al., 1992d) but did not affect apomorphine-induced CPP (Funada et al., 1993).

# 3.2.1.3. Effects of GABAergic drugs

The GABA-B agonist baclofen failed to disrupt amphetamine-induced CPP (Hoffman and Donovan, 1995), while triazolam attenuated amphetamine-induced CPP (Pettit *et al.*, 1989). Sodium pentobarbital failed to affect the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP (Hiroi and White, 1991b), while it attenuated the expression of cocaine-induced CPP (Lawley and Kantak, 1990a). The GABA mimetic progabide (SL 76002) did not affect amphetamine-induced CPP (Di Scala *et al.*, 1985).

#### 3.2.1.4. Effects of serotonergic drugs

Cocaine-induced CPP was not affected by the 5-HT3 antagonists MDL 72222, tropisetron and ondansetron, and ondansetron had also no effect on the expression of the cocaine-induced CPP (Cervo et al., 1996). A similar lack of effect of the 5-HT3 antagonists ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222 on amphetamine-induced CPP was also shown (Carboni et al., 1989; Acquas et al., 1988). No effect on acquisition and expression of cocaine-induced CPP was also reported for the 5-HT1A agonist buspirone (Ali and Kelly, 1997). In contrast to these results, it was also reported that MDL 72222 and ICS 205-930 blocked cocaine-induced and (at high doses) methamphetamine-induced CPP (Suzuki et al., 1992c). Amphetamine-induced CPP was prevented by the 5-HT2 antagonist ritanserine (Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988a; see also Spyraki and Nomikos, 1991) and the serotonin reuptake inhibitor zimelidine (Kruszewska et al., 1986).

#### 3.2.1.5. Effects of glutamatergic drugs

It has been shown that the NMDA antagonist MK-801 can block cocaine-induced CPP (Kim *et al.*, 1996b; Cervo and Samanin, 1995) and meth-

amphetamine-induced CPP (Kim and Jang, 1997), while no effect of MK-801 was found on amphetamine-induced CPP (Hoffman, 1994). On the other hand, the competitive NMDA antagonist ( $\pm$ ) CPP was shown to prevent the expression of a previously established amphetamine-induced CPP (Bespalov, 1996), MK-801 did not affect the expression of cocaine-induced CPP (Cervo and Samanin, 1995) but blocked the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1997), an effect that has also been reported for the AMPA antagonist GYKI 52466 (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1997). The glutamate release inhibitor riluzole blocked amphetamine-induced CPP (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1998a).

#### 3.2.1.6. Effects of calcium channel blockers

Cocaine-induced CPP was blocked or attenuated by nifedipine (Biala and Langwinski, 1996a; Suzuki et al., 1992a), PN 200-110 (Pani et al., 1991), flunarizine, diltiazem (Suzuki et al., 1992a), verapamil (Pucilowski et al., 1993) and nimodipine (Martin-Iverson et al., 1997). No effect on cocaine-induced CPP was obtained by long-term pretreatment with isradipine. However, if isradipine was combined with naltrexone during the pretreatment phase, this drug combination blocked cocaine-induced CPP (Cramer et al., 1998). Amphetamine-induced CPP was prevented by isradipine (Pucilowski et al., 1995) and methamphetamine-induced CPP was attenuated by nifedipine and diltiazem, but not by flunarizine (Suzuki et al., 1992a).

#### 3.2.1.7. Effects of other substances and treatments

It has been shown that methamphetamine- and cocaine-induced CPP could be blocked by Ginseng extract (Kim et al., 1996a,c; Tokuyama et al., 1996b; Takahashi and Tokuyama, 1998) and methamphetamine-induced CPP was also prevented by the ginsenosides Rb-1 and Rg(1), the major components of Ginseng saponin (Kim et al., 1998a). Cocaine-induced CPP was also blocked by a lipopolysaccharide purified from Pantoea agglomerans (Suzuki et al., 1994a), by the putative anti-addictive drug ibogaine (Moroz et al., 1997), and also by the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor L-NNA (Kim and Park, 1995). Caffeine and theophylline prevented methamphetamine-induced CPP, but enhanced the CPP induced by cocaine (Tuazon et al., 1992), while the H1 antagonist chlorpheniramine had an additive effect on cocaine-induced CPP and a potentiating methamphetamine-induced CPP effect on (Masukawa et al., 1993). The development but not the expression of cocaine-induced CPP was blocked by the CB1 receptor antagonist SR 141716 (Chaperon et al., 1998). The magnitude of amphetamine-induced CPP was enhanced by blockade of the association between place and amphetamineinduced sickness (Lett, 1988), a low dose of ascorbate potentiated the CPP-inducing effect of a low dose of amphetamine (Pierce et al., 1995), the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP was enhanced by scopolamine (Lynch, 1991) and the expression of cocaine-induced CPP was enhanced by magnesium chloride (Lawley and Kantak, 1990a).

Chronic administration of a lithium-containing diet before and during conditioning did not affect amphetamine-induced CPP (Shippenberg and Herz, 1991) and coadministration of lithium chloride did also not affect cocaine-induced CPP (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992a). Amphetamine-induced CPP was not affected significantly by cysteamine, a presumed selective depletor of somatostatin (Martin-Iverson *et al.*, 1986), by combined gestational and postnatal exposure to ozone (Dell'Omo *et al.*, 1995) and by the peripheral  $\alpha$ 1-antagonist prazosin (Hoffman and Donovan, 1995).

Inflammation induced by formalin or carrageenan attenuated the ability of methamphetamine and cocaine to induce CPP (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996b), while methamphetamine-induced CPP was found to be much stronger in diabetic than in non-diabetic mice (Kamei and Ohsawa, 1996).

# 3.2.1.8. Effects of environmental factors

Isolation rearing abolished the ability of cocaine (Schenk et al., 1986) and amphetamine (Wongwitdecha and Marsden, 1995) to produce CPP. However, isolation rearing had no effect on amphetamine-induced CPP in the study of Schenk et al. (1986), and Bowling and Bardo (1994) also reported no difference in the potential of amphetamine to induce CPP between single- and grouphoused rats. However, when the rats were grouphoused in an 'enriched' environment, these animals showed a greater magnitude of amphetamineinduced CPP (see also Bardo et al., 1995a). Precocious weaning enhanced the CPP-inducing effect of cocaine in adult mice, while sexual segregation during development (rearing in the absence of members of the respective other sex) prevented cocaine-induced CPP (Laviola and Dell'Omo, 1997).

Chronic unpredictable mild stress blocked the ability of amphetamine and quinpirole to induce CPP (Papp *et al.*, 1991, 1993a,b), and amphetamineinduced CPP was blocked by acute restraint stress, an effect that was antagonized by naloxone (Zurita *et al.*, 1996). On the other hand, food deprivation was shown to increase the magnitude of cocaineinduced CPP (Bell *et al.*, 1997).

Cathinone-induced CPP was potentiated by prior drug discrimination learning (cathinone vs saline). This effect was not due to sensitization of the rewarding effects of cathinone with repeated administration (see Section 7), because yoked controls receiving the same amount of the drug independently of discrimination training did not show this effect (Schechter, 1991a). This suggests that the potential of a drug to be perceived as a distinct stimulus (i.e. distinct from saline or any other control treatment) significantly contributes to the drug's ability to produce CPP.

# 3.2.2. Place Conditioning Induced by Opioids

#### 3.2.2.1. Effects of dopaminergic drugs

Amphetamine enhanced the ability of morphine to induce CPP (Gaiardi *et al.*, 1998). SCH 23390 prevented morphine-induced CPP and naloxoneand U-69593-induced CPA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995a,b; Acquas *et al.*, 1989; Shippenberg and Herz, 1987, 1988; Leone and Di Chiara, 1987). SCH23390 also blocked CPP induced by the non-peptide  $\delta$ -agonists BW373U86 and SNC 80 (Longoni et al., 1998), while the D2 antagonists sulpiride and spiperone did not affect morphine-induced CPP and naloxoneand U-69593-induced CPA (Shippenberg and Herz, 1988). A similar lack of effect on morphine-induced CPP was reported for haloperidol and α-flupenthixol (Mackey and van der Kooy, 1985). In an extension of this work, Bechara et al. (1992) showed that *a*-flupenthixol and pimozide blocked CPP induced by morphine or heroin in morphine-dependent, but not in morphine-naive rats. On the other hand, Leone and Di Chiara (1987) reported that haloperidol was able to block morphine-induced CPP in non-dependent animals, and sertindole also blocked morphine-induced CPP (Suzuki and Misawa, 1995). Pimozide was shown to attenuate the acquisition and the expression of heroin-induced CPP (Hand et al., 1989), while the partial DA autoreceptor agonist preclamol and autoreceptor-specific doses of quinpirole failed to affect morphineinduced CPP (Kivastik et al., 1996b). An intermediate and a high dose of the D3 agonist 7-OH-DPAT prevented the development of a morphine-induced CPP, while a low, but not an intermediate or a high dose of 7-OH-DPAT blocked the expression of morphine-induced CPP, suggesting the importance of postsynaptic D3 receptors for the acquisition of and presynaptic D3 autoreceptors for the expression of morphine-induced CPP (Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1995).

#### 3.2.2.2. Effects of opioidergic drugs

The development, but not the expression, of heroin-induced CPP was blocked by naloxone (Hand et al., 1989). Likewise, naloxone blocked the development (Shippenberg and Herz, 1986; Bardo and Neisewander, 1986; Neisewander et al., 1990a; Bilsky et al., 1990a; Biala and Langwinski, 1996b), but enhanced the expression of morphine-induced CPP (Neisewander *et al.*, 1990a; Noble *et al.*, 1993). Morphine-induced CPP was also antagonized by naltrexone (Piepponen et al., 1997; Bilsky et al., 1990a), the  $\mu 1/\mu 2$  antagonist  $\beta$ -funaltrexamine (Suzuki et al., 1993a) and the selective µ1 antagonist naloxonazine, but not by the δ-antagonist naltrindole (Piepponen et al., 1997; but see Suzuki et al., 1994b). On the other hand, a lack of effect on morphine-induced CPP was also reported for naloxonazine (Suzuki et al., 1993a), and for methylnaloxone, which does not readily cross the blood-brain barrier (Agmo et al., 1992), indicating that central opiate receptors are responsible for the reinforcing actions of morphine and heroin. Bardo and Neisewander (1987) reported that chronic treatment with naltrexone during the conditioning experiment (by means of an SC implanted slow-release pellet) blocked morphine-induced CPP, and the k-agonists U-50 488H and E-2078 also inhibited morphineinduced CPP (Bolanos et al., 1996; Funada et al., 1993), an effect that was antagonized by concurrent treatment with the  $\kappa$ -antagonist nor-binaltorphimine (Funada et al., 1993). Morphine-induced CPP was prevented by naltrindole, 7-benzylidenenaltrexone

( $\delta$ 1-selective) and naltriben ( $\delta$ 2-selective) in ddY mice, but not in  $\mu$ 1-receptor-deficient CXBK mice (Suzuki *et al.*, 1994b).

On the other hand, morphine-induced CPP was enhanced by coadministration of the  $\delta$ -agonist TAN 67, an effect that was abolished by naltrindole, 7benzylidenenaltrexone and naltriben (Suzuki et al., 1996c) and CPP induced by the non-peptide  $\delta$ -agonists BW373U86 and SNC 80 was blocked by naltrindole (Longoni et al., 1998). A low dose of morphine (presumably acting primarily on peripheral µ-receptors) produced CPA which was blocked by coadministration of the peripherally acting opiate antagonist methylnaltrexone (Bechara et al., 1987). [Leu]enkephalin-induced CPP was attenuated by methylnaloxonium (Heinrichs and Martinez, 1986). Unlike naloxone, RB-101, a complete inhibitor of enkephalin catabolism, did not affect the expression of morphine-induced CPP (Noble et al., 1993). U69593-induced CPA was not affected by naloxone (Shippenberg and Herz, 1986), but U-50 488Hinduced CPA was attenuated by the  $\kappa$ -antagonist Mr2266 (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1987). Suppression of circulating  $\beta$ -endorphin by dexamethasone had no effect on naloxone-induced CPA (Mucha et al., 1985).

#### 3.2.2.3. Effects of GABAergic drugs

Morphine-induced CPP was not affected by triazolam (Pettit *et al.*, 1989) or the benzodiazepine antagonist Ro 15-1788 (Bilsky *et al.*, 1990a). On the other hand, morphine-induced CPP was blocked by diazepam, an effect that was antagonized by flumazenil (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995c).

## 3.2.2.4. Effects of serotonergic drugs

Morphine-induced CPP was blocked or attenuated by the 5-HT3 antagonists ICS 205-930, MDL 72222 and ondansetron (Acquas et al., 1988; Carboni et al., 1988, 1989; Higgins et al., 1992a; Bisaga et al., 1993) and attenuated by the 5-HT2 antagonist ritanserin (Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988a; see also Spyraki and Nomikos, 1991). DAU 6285, a mixed 5-HT3 antagonist/5-HT4 antagonist, prevented morphine-induced CPP, while BIMU-8, a mixed 5-HT3 antagonist/5-HT4 agonist (Bisaga et al., 1993) and the serotonin reuptake inhibitor zimelidine (Kruszewska et al., 1986) were without effect. When compared to the results from other sections, the effects of serotonergic drugs on morphineinduced CPP are remarkably consistent and implicate the activation of 5-HT2 and 5-HT3 receptors as important for the mediation of the rewarding effects of morphine.

#### 3.2.2.5. Effects of glutamatergic drugs

As in the case of cocaine, it has consistently been shown that the NMDA antagonist MK-801 blocks morphine-induced CPP (Kim *et al.*, 1996b; DelPozo *et al.*, 1996; Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995, 1997). DelPozo *et al.* (1996) showed that this blockade is only obtained with the more active (+)-enantiomer, but not with the less active (-)-enantiomer of MK-801. It was also shown that MK-801 prevents the expression of morphine-induced CPP (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1997). Likewise, it was shown that memantine (Popik and Danysz, 1997) and kynurenic acid (Bespalov *et al.*, 1994) blocked acquisition and expression of morphine-induced CPP. The competitive NMDA antagonist CGP 37849 (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1995) and the glutamate release inhibitor riluzole (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1998a) were also shown to attenuate or block, respectively, morphine-induced CPP. As in the case of the effects of serotonergic drugs on morphine-induced CPP, the results obtained for NMDA antagonists are very consistent and implicate an important role of NMDA receptors for the acquisition as well as for the expression of morphine-induced CPP.

#### 3.2.2.6. Effects of CCKergic drugs

The mixed CCK-A/B antagonist PD 142898 and the selective CCK-A antagonist PD 140548, but not the selective CCK-B antagonist CI 988, blocked morphine-induced CPP (Higgins et al., 1991b; Singh et al., 1996a,b). In another study, the CCK-A antagonist devazepide attenuated morphine-induced CPP. while a combination of subthreshold doses of morphine and the CCK-B antagonist L365-260 produced a significant CPP (Higgins et al., 1992c). The CCK-B antagonist PD-134 308, at a dose that was itself ineffective, enhanced the CPP-inducing effects of subthreshold doses of morphine and of the enkephalin catabolism inhibitor RB-101 (Valverde et al., 1996a). Taken together, these results for CCKergic drugs suggest that, generally speaking, CCK-A receptor activation has a facilitating effect while CCK-B receptor activation has an inhibiting effect on opiate reward.

#### 3.2.2.7. Effects other drugs and treatments

Morphine-induced CPP has been found to be blocked or attenuated by a variety of drugs and treatments, such as antipain and leupeptin, inhibitors of calcium-dependent endopeptidases (Lyupina et al., 1996), ibogaine (Luxton et al., 1996; Parker et al., 1995), ginseng total saponin (Kim et al., 1998b), the CB1 antagonist SR 141716 (Chaperon et al., 1998) the NO synthase inhibitor L-NOARG (Kivastik et al., 1996a), the calcium channel blockers nifedipine and isradipine (Biala and Langwinski, 1996a; Kuzmin et al., 1992) and the NO-donor sodium nitroprusside (Biala and Langwinski, 1996b). In the latter study, the NO-donor molsidomine did not affect the expression of morphineinduced CPP. Chronic administration of lithiumcontaining diet prior to and during conditioning blocked morphine-induced CPP and naloxone-U-69593-induced, but CPA induced, not (Shippenberg and Herz, 1991).

The histamine precursor L-histidine attenuated morphine-induced CPP, while the histidine decarboxylase inhibitor  $\alpha$ -fluoromethylhistidine and the H2 antagonist zolantidine potentiated morphineinduced CPP (an effect that was antagonized by SCH 23390) (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995b). A potentiating effect on morphine-induced CPP was also observed for ethanol (Marglin *et al.*, 1988). Dihydrocodein, a major active component in over-the-counter cough syrups, produced a small, non-significant CPP. This effect was strongly enhanced by coadministration of a combination of other ingredients of cough syrups (methylephedrine, caffeine, chlorpheniramine). When those constituents were administered seperately in combination with dihydrocodein, only chlorpheniramine was able to enhance dihydrocodein effect. CPP induced by these two constituents was prevented by SCH 23390 (Suzuki *et al.*, 1990).

Clonidine disrupted the acquisition of heroininduced CPP (Hand et al., 1989). In the same study, clonidine also disrupted the expression of heroininduced CPP, albeit only at very high, debilitating doses. In another study, clonidine blocked the rewarding effects of morphine (and also the aversive effects of withdrawal) only in rats withdrawn from morphine, but was without effect on morphineinduced CPP in drug-naive animals (Nader and van der Kooy, 1996). The immunosuppressant cyclosporine A blocked morphine-induced CPP in ddY mice, but not in µ1-receptor deficient CXBK mice (Suzuki et al., 1993b). Chronic exposure to cadmium Miller and Nation, 1997) and inflammation induced by formalin or carrageenan (Suzuki et al., 1996b) attenuated the ability of morphine and fentanyl to induce CPP.

# 3.2.2.8. Effects of environmental factors

Chronic mild stress abolished morphine-induced CPP (Papp et al., 1992), an effect that could be reversed by the CCK-B antagonist PD-134 308 (Valverde et al., 1997), but did not affect naloxoneinduced CPA (Papp et al., 1992). When morphine administration and conditioning occurred under restraint stress conditions, morphine was unable to induce CPP (Kiyatkin and Belyi, 1991). Social isolation over several weeks also prevented morphineinduced CPP (Coudereau et al., 1997: Wongwitdecha and Marsden, 1996). Schenk et al. (1985) showed that social isolation also attenuated the CPP-inducing effects of heroin, and that the isolation effect was stronger in animals isolated during adolescence than in animals isolated for the same duration after reaching maturity. Different rearing environments have been shown to affect the magnitude of morphine-induced CPP. Thus, rats raised in a stimulus-enriched environment together with conspecifics showed a bigger morphine-induced CPP than rats raised individually in an impoverished environment (Bardo et al., 1997). Morphine-induced CPP was also attenuated by low social status and the experience of defeat against conspecifics (Coventry et al., 1997). Food-deprived rats showed stronger morphine-induced CPP (Gaiardi et al., 1987) and sucrose solution also enhanced morphineinduced CPP (Lett, 1989b).

# 3.2.3. Place Conditioning Induced by Ethanol

# 3.2.3.1. Effects of serotonergic drugs

The 5-HT2 antagonist mianserin enhanced ethanol-induced CPP (Risinger and Oakes, 1996a), while the serotonin reuptake blocker fluoxetine did not affect ethanol-induced CPP (Risinger, 1997). The 5-HT3 antagonist tropisetron did not affect ethanolinduced CPA (Bienkowski *et al.*, 1997a).

# 3.2.3.2. Effects of other drugs or treatments

Ethanol-induced CPP was found to be blocked by naloxone and to be reduced by sodium nitroprusside (Biala and Langwinski, 1996b). Note, however, that Cunningham et al. (1995) reported no effect of naloxone on the acquisition and expression of ethanol-induced CPP. No effect was also reported for mazindol (Gevaerd and Takahashi, 1996), haloperidol (Risinger et al., 1992a; Cunningham et al., 1992a), the benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonist Ro 15-4513 (Risinger et al., 1992b), the calcium channel blocker nifedipine (Biala and Langwinski, 1996a) and the steroid synthesis inhibitor aminoglutethimide (Chester and Cunningham, 1998). On the other hand, pyrazole (an alcohol dehydrogenase inhibitor) potentiated the CPP-inducing effect of ethanol, an effect that could be antagonized by the 5-HT3 antagonists MDL 72222 and ICS 205-930 (Suzuki et al., 1992b). The expression of ethanolinduced CPP was attenuated by molsidomine (Biala and Langwinski, 1996b).

In one study it was found that ethanol-induced CPA could be attenuated by interaction with a conspecific (either sober or intoxicated) during the conditioning sessions (Gauvin et al., 1994), and in another study it was shown that ethanol-induced CPA could be attenuated by counteracting the druginduced hypothermia by increasing the ambient temperature to 32°C during conditioning, suggesting that the aversive effects of ethanol in rats might be, at least partly, due to the experience of drug-induced hypothermia (Cunningham and Niehus, 1993). A dose of ethanol (300 mg/kg, i.p.) that did not produce CPP under standard conditions, was able to produce a substantial CPP when it was paired with an environment in which the animals had previously received electric foot shock and in which they therefore experienced conditioned fear stress during ethanol conditioning. Additional exposure to conditioned fear stress immediately before the test for conditioning further enhanced the expression of ethanol-induced CPP (Matsuzawa et al., 1998). These results suggest that psychological stress can be an important determinant of ethanol reward and ethanol-induced place conditioning.

#### 3.2.4. Place Conditioning Induced by Nicotine

Nicotine-induced CPP was prevented by the 5-HT3 antagonists ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222 (Acquas *et al.*, 1988; Carboni *et al.*, 1988, 1989), and also by SCH 23390 (Acquas *et al.*, 1989), and mecamylamine but not hexamethonium (Fudala *et al.*, 1985). In rats chronically treated with nicotine (but not in nicotine-naive rats), the nicotinic receptor antagonist mecamylamine produced CPA. This effect was antagonized by coadministration of the 5-HT3 antagonist ondansetron (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996a, 1997b).

# 3.2.5. Place Conditioning Induced by GABAergic Drugs

Diazepam-induced CPP and picrotoxin-induced CPA was blocked by SCH 23390 (Acquas *et al.*, 1989), and diazepam-induced CPP was also blocked by haloperidol (but not domperidone) (Spyraki and

Fibiger, 1988), ritanserin (Nomikos and Spyraki, 1988a), CGS 8216, picrotoxin and naloxone, but not by sodium valproate (Spyraki *et al.*, 1985). FG 7142-induced CPA was prevented by haloperidol (Di Scala and Sandner, 1989b) and the expression of a previously established pentylenetetrazole-induced CPA was blocked by the competitive NMDA antagonist ( $\pm$ ) CPP (Bespalov, 1996). CPA induced by picrotoxin was blocked by the 5-HT3 antagonists ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222 (Acquas *et al.*, 1990) but was not affected by chronic mild stress (Papp *et al.*, 1992).

#### 3.2.6. Place Conditioning Induced by Serotonergic Drugs

Low-dose 8-OH-DPAT-induced CPP was prevented by the 5-HT synthesis inhibitor PCPA, pimozide and sulpiride, while neither PCPA nor pimozide affected high-dose 8-OH-DPAT-induced CPA (Papp and Willner, 1991). 8-OH-DPAT-induced CPP was also blocked by the 5-HT1A/D2 antagonist spiperone and SCH 23390, but not by sulpiride (Shippenberg, 1991). MDMA-induced CPP was blocked by the 5-HT3 antagonist MDL 72222 (Bilsky and Reid, 1991) and the DA release inhibitor CGS 10746B (Bilsky et al., 1998) and attenuated by naltrexone (Bilsky et al., 1991). CPA induced by the 5-HT3 agonists mCPBG and PBG was prevented by the 5-HT3 antagonists ondansetron, ICS 205-930 and quarternized ICS 205-930 (Higgins et al., 1993), and CPA induced by mianserin and eltoprazine was blocked by the 5-HT1C agonist mCPP (Rocha et al., 1993a).

#### 3.2.7. Various Combinations

SCH23390 was able to block CPP induced by the histamine H2 antagonist zolantidine (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995b), the CPP produced by concurrent application of pentazocine and tripelennamine (at doses that were ineffective when given alone) (Suzuki *et al.*, 1991b), and the CPA induced by PCP (Acquas *et al.*, 1989; Nabeshima *et al.*, 1996). PCP-induced CPA was also blocked or attenuated by butaclamol and spiroperidol (Iwamoto, 1986a) and by the 5-HT3 antagonists ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222 (Acquas *et al.*, 1990).

Propofol-induced CPP was prevented by midazolam (Pain *et al.*, 1997), clonidine-induced CPP was blocked by the  $\alpha$ 2-antagonist idazoxan but not by the  $\alpha$ 1-antagonist prazosin (Cervo *et al.*, 1993), and CPP induced by SP or its C-terminal hexapeptide analog [pGlu6]-SP(6-11) was blocked by naloxone (Hasenöhrl *et al.*, 1991) and haloperidol (Mattioli *et al.*, 1995). The CPA produced by the synthetic CB receptor agonist WIN 55212-2 was blocked by the CB1 receptor antagonist SR 141716 (Chaperon *et al.*, 1998).

# 3.2.8. Place Conditioning Induced by Natural Reinforcers

CPP induced by sexual behaviour in female hamsters was blocked by raclopride (Meisel *et al.*, 1996), while pimozide failed to prevent CPP induced by ejaculation in rats (Agmo and Berenfeld, 1990). On the other hand, ejaculation-induced CPP was blocked by naloxone (in fact, naloxone converted the CPP into a CPA) (Agmo and Berenfeld, 1990). It was also shown that while naloxone did not affect the acquisition it significantly attenuated the expression of a CPP induced by exposure to and copulation with an oestrous female (Miller and Baum, 1987; Mehrara and Baum, 1990). The CPP produced by home cage odours in infant rats was blocked by clonidine, but not by raclopride, naltrexone or propranolol (Hansen, 1993) and the CPP induced in maternal rats by interaction with their pups could be disrupted by chemically blocking olfactory or oral sensory perception in the maternal rats (Magnusson and Fleming, 1995).

Food-induced CPP was enhanced by low doses of sulpiride, amisulpiride and pimozide. Higher doses of these compounds as well as low and high doses of haloperidol, metoclopramide and chlorpromazine attenuated the CPP-inducing effect of food (Guyon et al., 1993). The CPP-enhancing effect of low-dose amisulpiride was blocked by SCH 23390 (Guyon et al., 1993; see Scatton et al., 1997). α-Flupenthixol prevented the CPA induced by lack of food in fooddeprived rats but not the CPP induced by food in non-food-deprived rats (Bechara et al., 1992; Harrington and van der Kooy, 1992). It was also reported that food-induced CPP was blocked by naloxone, pimozide, raclopride and SCH 23390 (Agmo et al., 1993) and the CB1 antagonist SR 141716 (Chaperon et al., 1998). CPP induced by sucrose solution was blocked by  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol and high-dose but not low-dose naloxone (note that low doses of naloxone that were not sufficient to block sucrose-induced CPP were behaviourally active in that they were sufficient to reduce the amount of sucrose consumption) (Agmo et al., 1995). The acquisition and expression of food-induced CPP was not affected by memantine (Popik and Danysz, 1997), while chronic unpredictable mild stress blocked the ability of food and sucrose solution to induce CPP (Papp et al., 1991; Muscat et al., 1992; Cheeta et al., 1994; D'Aquila et al., 1997). Inescapable footshock produced CPA, an effect which was prevented by diazepam and the 5-HT3 antagonist ICS 205-930 (Papp, 1988b).

The expression of novelty-induced CPP was disrupted by haloperidol, but not by morphine, naltrexone or amphetamine (Bardo *et al.*, 1989), also by low-dose (presumably autoreceptor-specific) but not high-dose apomorphine (Bardo *et al.*, 1990), and by the D1 agonist SKF 38393, the D2 agonist quinpirole, the D1 antagonist SCH 23390, but not the D2 antagonist eticlopride (Bardo *et al.*, 1993).

#### 4. STUDIES USING INTRACRANIAL DRUG INJECTIONS

# 4.1. 'Single Drug Treatments'

#### 4.1.1. Dopaminergic Drugs

Amphetamine produced a CPP only when injected into the nucleus accumbens (NAS), but not when injected into the mPFC, the striatum, the amygdala or the area postrema region (Carr and White, 1986; Josselyn and Beninger, 1993; Schildein *et al.*, 1998). SKF 38393 and quinpirole both produced CPP when injected into the NAS (Papp et al., 1993a; White et al., 1991) (note that in the latter study SKF 38393 produced place aversions when injected systemically). On the other hand, the evidence that cocaine injections into the NAS produce CPP is very sparse (Aulisi and Hoebel, 1983; see Hemby et al., 1992a).  $\alpha$ -Flupenthixol was without effect when injected into the NAS (Josselvn and Beninger, 1993), while SCH 23390 produced CPA when injected into the NAS, but not when injected into the ventral tegmental area (VTA), striatum or mPFC (Shippenberg et al., 1991). Sulpiride produced CPP when injected into the perifornical region of the lateral hypothalamus (Morutto and Phillips, 1997, 1998), but was without effect when injected into the NAS or striatum (Baker et al., 1996). Gong et al. (1996b) reported that cocaine and amphetamine (but not procaine) produced a CPP when injected into the ventral pallidum (VP).

ICV injections of cocaine, cocaine-methiodide (Hemby *et al.*, 1994; Morency and Beninger, 1986), cathinone (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1993b) and bromocriptine (Morency and Beninger, 1986) produced CPP, while ICV injections of procaine failed to produce CPP (Morency and Beninger, 1986) and ICV injections of SCH23390 (Shippenberg *et al.*, 1991) and the DA release inhibitor CGS 10746B (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1991) produced CPA.

Taken together, these results confirm the central role of the NAS for amphetamine-induced reward. Unfortunately, the anatomical substrate of cocaineinduced reward (which probably does not include the NAS) has received very little attention in place conditioning studies. Only recently has the VP been added to those stuctures which are presumed to mediate cocaine- (and amphetamine-) induced reward (Table 3).

#### 4.1.2. Opioidergic Drugs

Intra-VTA injections of morphine (Abbott and Franklin, 1991; Bozarth, 1987a; Zvartau et al., 1986; Mamoon et al., 1995; Jaeger and van der Kooy, 1996; Nader and van der Kooy, 1997; Olmstead and Franklin, 1997b), morphine-6-glucuronide (Abbott and Franklin, 1991) and the  $\mu/\kappa\text{-partial}$  agonist butorphanol (Mamoon et al., 1995) produced CPP. Intra-VTA injections of morphine elicited CPP even in neonatal (4-day-old) rats (Barr and Rossi, 1992). Intranigral injections of a high dose of morphine, but not of lower doses of the morphine metabolite morphine-6-glucuronide, the µ-agonist DAGO, the  $\delta$ -agonist DPDPE or the  $\kappa$ -agonist U-50 488H, also produced CPP (Baumeister et al., 1993). Injections of the µ-agonist DAMGO into the VTA, but not into the NAS, the mPFC or the lateral hypothalamus, produced CPP, whereas injections of the  $\kappa$ agonists U-50 488H or E-2078 into each of these four regions produced CPA (Bals-Kubik et al., 1993). In the same study, injections of either the  $\mu$ or the  $\kappa$ -agonists into the substantia nigra (SN) or the striatum were without effect. Likewise, morphine injections into the parabrachial nucleus failed to induce a CPP (Jaeger and van der Kooy, 1996). On the other hand, intrathecal (Advokat, 1985) and

intra-hippocampal (Corrigall and Linseman, 1988) injections of morphine and injections of DALA into the medial preoptic area (Agmo and Gomez, 1991) were shown to produce CPP. Morphine also produced CPP when injected into the periaqueductal gray (PAG), but not when injected into sites just dorsal to the PAG or the VTA, or into the striatum, mPFC, hippocampus, lateral nucleus of the amygdala, pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus (PPTg), posterior hypothalamus, VP or NAS (core or shell) (Olmstead and Franklin, 1997b; Schildein et al., 1998). Intra-VTA and intra-NAS infusions, but not intra-striatal or intra-mPFC infusions of naloxone produced CPA. A CPA was also obtained by intra-VTA and intra-NAS infusions of the selective µ-antagonist CTOP (Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik, 1995).

After ICV injection, a CPP has been demonstrated for morphine (Shippenberg et al., 1987; Olmstead and Franklin, 1997b), dynorphin A [1-17] (Iwamoto, 1988, 1989), β-endorphin (Bals-Kubik et al., 1988, 1990; Amalric et al., 1987; Spanagel et al., 1991), but not its naturally occurring fragment  $\beta$ endorphin-(1-27) (Bals-Kubik et al., 1988), also the µ-agonist DAGO (Bals-Kubik et al., 1988, 1990), the δ1-agonist DPDPE (Suzuki et al., 1996d, 1997d; Shippenberg et al., 1987; Bals-Kubik et al., 1988, 1990) and the  $\delta$ 2-agonist deltorphin II (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996d, 1997d), whereas the  $\delta$ -antagonist ICI 174 864, the κ-antagonist nor-binaltorphimine (Bals-Kubik et al., 1989; Shippenberg et al., 1987), dynorphin A [2-17], Leu-enkephalin (Iwamoto, 1988, 1989) and the enkephalinase inhibitor phospho-leuphe (Agmo et al., 1994) were without effect. ICV injections of U-50488H, E-2078, naloxone, CTOP (Bals-Kubik et al., 1988, 1989) and methylnalaxonium (Hand et al., 1988) were found to produce CPA.

In general, the results of the above studies have confirmed the central role of the VTA for the mediation of the rewarding effects of opioid drugs (at least for those that exert their effects predominantly by activating  $\mu$ -receptors). Nevertheless, opioid reward has been elicited from a number of other forebrain and hindbrain structures, a fact which may not be particularly surprising considering that the endogenous opioid system, together with its receptors, has a much wider distribution in the brain than, for example, the dopaminergic system.

#### 4.1.3. Cholinergic Drugs

Museo and Wise (1994) reported that intra-VTA injections of the nicotinic agonist cytisine produced CPP, and Iwamoto (1990) showed CPP with ICV and intra-PPTg injections of nicotine. Intra-VTA injection of carbachol, a cholinergic agonist, also produced CPP (Yeomans *et al.*, 1985).

#### 4.1.4. GABAergic Drugs

Blockade of GABAergic neurotransmission in the PAG by injection of the glutamate decarboxylase inhibitor semicarbazide produced CPA, while injection of the GABA-A agonist muscimol into the same region was without effect (Aguiar and Brandao, 1994; Di Scala and Sandner, 1989a). Injection of the GABA-A antagonist picrotoxin into the VP was without effect on place conditioning (Gong *et al.*, 1997a) and injection of the GABA-B agonist baclofen into the VTA was equally ineffective (Tsuji *et al.*, 1996).

# 4.1.5. Serotonergic Drugs

The 5-HT1 agonist 8-OH-DPAT produced CPP when injected into the median and dorsal raphe nuclei (Fletcher *et al.*, 1993). ICV injection of the 5-HT3 antagonist PBG failed to produce CPP or CPA (Higgins *et al.*, 1993).

#### 4.1.6. Glutamatergic Drugs

Injection of AMPA into the VP was without effect on place conditioning (Gong *et al.*, 1997a) and ICV (Cervo and Samanin, 1995) or intra-NAS (Layer *et al.*, 1993b) injection of DNQX was equally ineffective.

## 4.1.7. Substance P

SP injected into the medial forebrain bundle, the lateral hypothalamus, or the medial septal nucleus, but not into the amygdala, SN, the rostral VP or the NAS shell produced CPP (Holzhauer-Oitzl *et al.*, 1987; Staubli and Huston, 1985; Hasenöhrl *et al.*, 1998; Schildein *et al.*, 1998). SP also produced CPP when injected into the nucleus basalis magnocellularis, an effect mediated by the C-terminus sequence and not the N-terminus sequence of the peptide (Huston *et al.*, 1993; Hasenöhrl *et al.*, 1998; Boix *et al.*, 1995; Holzhauer-Oitzl *et al.*, 1998; On the other hand, intra-PAG injection of SP (Aguiar and Brandao, 1994) and ICV injection of the stable SP analogue DiMethyl-C7 (Elliott, 1988) was reported to produce CPA.

#### 4.1.8. Hormones

Injections of testosterone into the NAS produced CPP (Packard *et al.*, 1997) and ICV infusion of CRF was shown to produce CPA (Cador *et al.*, 1992).

#### 4.1.9. Diverse Drugs

Intra-NAS infusion of neuropeptide Y produced CPP (Josselyn and Beninger, 1993), while ICV injections of the neuropeptide bombesin produced strong CPA (Meisenberg *et al.*, 1990). ICV injections of the neuropeptide orphanin FQ (Devine *et al.*, 1996), pertussis toxin (Suzuki *et al.*, 1991a), the CCK-fragments Boc-CCK-4 or CCK-8s (Huston *et al.*, 1998), and tumour necrosis factor-a (Fantino and Wieteska, 1993), and also CCK infusions into the VTA (Pettit and Mueller, 1989) produced neither CPP nor CPA.

#### 4.1.10. Non-Drug Treatments

Corcoran *et al.* (1992) have examined the motivational effects of amygdala kindling and found that stimulation that triggered afterdischarges associated with nonconvulsive seizures produced small CPA or CPP depending on whether kindling was paired with the initially preferred or non-preferred compartment, respectively. Kindling that triggered generalized seizures produced only a small and non-

Place conditioning induced by	Injected into	Result	References
Dopaminergic drugs:			
Amphetamine	NAS	CPP	Carr and White (1986); Josselyn and Beninger (1993);
Î.	mPFC	No effect	Schildein et al. (1998)
	Striatum	No effect	· · · ·
	Amygdala	No effect	
	Area postrema	No effect	
	VP	CPP	Gong <i>et al.</i> (1996b)
Cocaine	NAS	CPP	Aulisi and Hoebel (1983)
	NAS	No effect	Hemby <i>et al.</i> (1992a)
	VP	CPP	Gong et al. (1996b)
	ICV	CPP	Morency and Beninger (1986); Hemby et al. (1994)
Cocaine-methiodide	ICV	CPP	Morency and Beninger (1986)
Cathinone	ICV	CPP	Calcagnetti and Schechter (1993b)
Bromocriptine	ICV	CPP	Morency and Beninger (1986)
SKF 38393	NAS	CPP	White <i>et al.</i> (1991)
Quinpirole	NAS	CPP	Papp et al. (1993a); White et al. (1991)
α-Flupenthixol	NAS	No effect	Josselyn and Beninger (1993)
Sulpiride	Perifornical LH	CPP	Morutto and Phillips (1997, 1998)
	NAS	No effect	Baker et al. (1996)
	Striatum	No effect	Baker et al. (1996)
SCH23390	NAS	CPA	Shippenberg et al. (1991)
	VTA	No effect	Shippenberg et al. (1991)
	Striatum	No effect	Shippenberg et al. (1991)
	mPFC	No effect	Shippenberg et al. (1991)
	ICV	CPA	Shippenberg et al. (1991)
Procaine	VP	No effect	Gong <i>et al.</i> (1996b)
	ICV	No effect	Morency and Beninger (1986)
CGS10746B	ICV	CPA	Calcagnetti and Schechter (1991)
Opioid drugs:			c ( )
Morphine	VTA	CPP	Abbott and Franklin (1991); Bozarth (1987a);
			Zvartau <i>et al.</i> (1986); Mamoon <i>et al.</i> (1995); Jaeger and van der Koov (1996); Nader and van der Koov
			(1007), Olmstead and Erenklin (1007h), Barn and
			Rossi (1992)
	PAG	CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Dorsal of PAG	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Dorsal of VTA	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Striatum	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	mPFC	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Hippocampus	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Amyodala	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	lateral nucl		
	ΡΡΤσ	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	Post hypothal	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	VP	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	NAS core	No effect	Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
	NAS shell	No effect	Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998): Olmstead and Franklin
			(1997b)
	Parabrachial nucl.	No effect	Jaeger and van der Kooy (1996)
	Intrathecal	CPP	Advokat (1985)
	Hippocampus	CPP	Corrigall and Linseman (1988)
	Medial preoptic	CPP	Agmo and Gomez (1991)
	area		3
	ICV	СРР	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1987); Olmstead and Franklin (1997b)
Morphine (high dose)	SN	CPP	Baumeister et al. (1993)
Morphine-6-glucuronide	VTA	CPP	Abbott and Franklin (1991)
1 0	SN	No effect	Baumeister et al. (1993)
Butorphanol	VTA	CPP	Mamoon et al. (1995)
DAMGO	VTA	CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	SN	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	NAS	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	Striatum	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	mPFC	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	LH	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)

Table 3. This table summarizes the results of studies using intracranial single-drug treatments. See Section 4.1 in the text for details about drugs, experimental procedures and additional findings that could not be included in the table

(continued on next page)

646

# T. M. Tzschentke

U-50 488H	VTA	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	NAS	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	mPFC	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	LH	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	SN	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993); Baumeister et al. (1993)
	Striatum	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1993)
	ICV	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988, 1989)
Naloxone	VTA	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	NAS	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	Striatum	No effect	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	mPFC	No effect	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
Mathedayalawaya		CPA	Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1988, 1989)
Methylnaloxone	ICV	CPA	Hand $et al.$ (1988) Stimus at al. (1900)
Mathulnaltrayana	INAS	CPA	Sumus et al. $(1990)$ Mucha et al. $(1085)$
CTOP	VTA	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals Kubik (1905)
0101	NAS	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	ICV	CPA	Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1988–1989)
DALA	Medial preoptic	CPP	Agmo and Gomez (1991)
DILLI	area	011	righte and comez (1991)
DAGO	SN	No effect	Baumeister et al. (1993)
	ICV	CPP	Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1988, 1990)
DPDPE	SN	No effect	Baumeister et al. (1993)
	ICV	CPP	Suzuki et al. (1996d, 1997d); Shippenberg et al.
			(1987); Bals-Kubik et al. (1988, 1990)
Deltorphin II	ICV	CPP	Suzuki et al. (1996d, 1997d)
Dynorphin A [1-17]	ICV	CPP	Iwamoto (1988, 1989)
Dynorphin A [2-17]	ICV	No effect	Iwamoto (1988)
E-2078	ICV	CPA	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988, 1989)
$\beta$ -Endorphin	ICV	CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988, 1990); Amalric et al. (1987);
			Spanagel et al. (1991)
$\beta$ -Endorphin (1-27)	ICV	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988)
Leu-enkephalin	ICV	No effect	Iwamoto (1988, 1989)
ICI 174 864	ICV	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1989); Shippenberg et al. (1987)
Nor-binaltorphimine	ICV	No effect	Bals-Kubik et al. (1989)
Phospho-leu-phe	ICV	No enect	Agmo <i>et al.</i> (1994)
Cholinergic arugs:	DDTa	CDD	$I_{\rm Wemata}$ (1000)
Nicotine	ICV	CPP	Iwamoto (1990)
Cytisine	VTA	CPP	$M_{\text{useo and Wise}} (1990)$
Carbachol		CPP	Veomans at al. (1994)
GARAergic drugs	VIA	CII	reomans et ul. (1965)
Muscimol	PAG	No effect	Aguiar and Brandao (1994)
Semicarbazide	PAG	CPA	Di Scala and Sandner (1989a)
Picrotoxin	VP	No effect	Gong et al. $(1997a)$
Baclofen	VTA	No effect	Tsuji et al. (1996)
Serotonergic drugs:			•
8-OH-DPAT	Medial raphe	CPP	Fletcher et al. (1993)
	Dorsal raphe	CPP	Fletcher et al. (1993)
PBG	ICV	No effect	Higgins et al. (1993)
Glutamatergic drugs:			
AMPA	VP	No effect	Gong <i>et al.</i> (1997a)
DNQX	NAS	NL COLL	
DNQX	11110	No enect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b)
Substance P	ICV	No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995)
	ICV MFB	No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston
	ICV MFB LH	No effect CPP CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n.	No effect CPP CPP CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala	No effect CPP CPP CPP No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN R ostral VP	No effect CPP CPP CPP No effect No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect No effect CPA	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998)
	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect No effect CPA No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998)
Substance P	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993): Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.)	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993): Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.)	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.) Dimethyl-C7	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis ICV	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Elliott (1988)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.) Dimethyl-C7 <i>Hormones:</i>	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis ICV	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Elliott (1988)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.) Dimethyl-C7 <i>Hormones:</i> Testosterone	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis ICV NAS	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect CPP No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Elliott (1988) Packard <i>et al.</i> (1997)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.) Dimethyl-C7 <i>Hormones:</i> Testosterone CRF	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis ICV NAS ICV	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect CPP No effect CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Elliott (1988) Packard <i>et al.</i> (1997) Cador <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Substance P (C-terminus fragm.) Substance P (N-terminus fragm.) Dimethyl-C7 <i>Hormones:</i> Testosterone CRF <i>Diverse drugs:</i>	ICV MFB LH Medial septal n. Amygdala SN Rostral VP PAG NAS shell Nucl. basalis magnocellularis Nucl. basalis magnocellularis ICV NAS ICV	No effect CPP CPP No effect No effect CPA No effect CPP No effect CPP No effect CPA	Layer <i>et al.</i> (1993b) Cervo and Samanin (1995) Holzhauer-Oitzl <i>et al.</i> (1987); Staubli and Huston (1985); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1998) Aguiar and Brandao (1994) Schildein <i>et al.</i> (1998) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993); Hasenöhrl <i>et al.</i> (1992) Elliott (1988) Packard <i>et al.</i> (1997) Cador <i>et al.</i> (1992)

Measuring Reward with the Conditioned Place Preference Paradigm

Neuropeptide Y	NAS	CPP	Josselvn and Beninger (1993)
Bombesin	ICV	CPA	Meisenberg et al. (1990)
Orphanin FQ	ICV	No effect	Devine et al. (1996)
Pertussis toxin	ICV	No effect	Suzuki et al. (1991a)
CCK-8s and Boc-CCK-4	ICV	No effect	Huston et al. (1998)
TNF	ICV	No effect	Fantino and Wieteska (1993)
Electrical stimulation:	MFB/LH	CPP	De Witte and Gewiss (1987); Duvauchelle and
			Ettenberg (1991); Ettenberg and Duvauchelle (1988);
			Healey et al. (1989)
	Dorsomedial	CPA	De Witte and Gewiss (1987)
	tegmentum		
	mPFC	CPP	Duvauchelle and Ettenberg (1991)
	VTA	CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992a)
	Locus coeruleus	CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992b)

significant CPA. From these results the authors concluded that amygdaloid afterdischarges produce weak positively or negatively reinforcing effects, depending on the behavioural baseline, and that generalized amygdaloid seizures are, at most, mildly aversive.

Electrical stimulation of the medial forebrain bundle at the level of the hypothalamus (at parameters that sustained self-stimulation behaviour) produced CPP, while electrical stimulation of the mesencephalic dorsomedial tegmentum (at parameters that elicited switch-off behaviour) produced CPA (De Witte and Gewiss, 1987; Duvauchelle and Ettenberg, 1991). Interestingly, it was also reported that even animals that did not show self-stimulation or switch-off behaviour at the parameters used developed CPP or CPA, respectively, and it was concluded that this might suggest that the CPP paradigm is more sensitive than the operant bar pressing procedures to detect mild rewarding or aversive effects of electrical brain stimulation (De Witte and Gewiss, 1987). A CPP induced by electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus was also reported in other studies (Healey et al., 1989; Ettenberg and Duvauchelle, 1988). CPP was also induced by electrical stimulation of the mPFC (Duvauchelle and Ettenberg, 1991), the VTA (Duvauchelle et al., 1992a) and the locus coeruleus (Duvauchelle et al., 1992b).

# 4.2. 'Drug Combinations'

#### 4.2.1. Place Conditioning Induced by Dopaminergic Drugs

The expression of IP amphetamine-induced CPP was blocked by intra-NAS  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol and reserpine, but not  $\alpha$ -methyl-para-thyrosine (Hiroi and White, 1990), and also by intra-NAS SCH 23390 and sulpiride, while similar injections into the striatum were without effect (Hiroi and White, 1991a). IV cocaine-induced CPP was not affected by intra-NAS or intra-striatal infusion of sulpiride (Baker *et al.*, 1996), while IP cocaine-induced CPP was attenuated by intra-NAS DNQX, but not by intra-NAS fluphenazine. The expression of IP cocaine-induced CPP was blocked by intra-NAS infusion of both DNQX and fluphenazine (Kaddis *et al.*, 1995).

However, it was also reported that ICV DNQX prevented only the expression but not the acquisition of IP cocaine-induced CPP (Cervo and Samanin, 1995), while intra-NAS DNQX blocked both the acquisition and expression of IP amphetamine-induced CPP (Layer *et al.*, 1993b).

IP amphetamine-induced CPP was potentiated by intra-VTA CCK (Pettit and Mueller, 1989), while ICV cocaine-induced CPP was attenuated by ICV pimozide (Morency and Beninger, 1986). CPP induced by ICV cathinone was blocked by ICV CGS 10746B, a DA release inhibitor (Calcagnetti and Schechter, 1993b). SC cocaine-induced CPP was prevented by ICV administration of antisense oligodeoxynucleotide to  $\delta$ -receptor mRNA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1997c), CPP induced by intra-NAS quinpirole was blocked by prior exposure to chronic mild unpredictable stress (Papp et al., 1993a), and isolation rearing attenuated the ability of intra-perifornical sulpiride to produce CPP (Morutto and Phillips, 1997). CPP induced by intra-perifornical sulpiride was also blocked by intra-VTA AP5 (Morutto and Phillips, 1998).

CPP induced by systemic cocaine was blocked by ICV injection of the non-selective protein kinase inhibitor H7, by the selective PKA inhibitor H89, and by the selective PKC inhibitor chelerythrine (Cervo *et al.*, 1997). In this latter study, the blocking effect was only observed when the kinase inhibitors were administered immediately after each conditioning session (consolidation), but not when they were administered before cocaine during the training phase (acquisition) or before testing for place preference (expression), indicating a selective role of these protein kinases in the consolidation of stimulusreward associations (Table 4).

#### 4.2.2. Place Conditioning Induced by Opioids

CPP induced by systemic morphine was prevented by ICV application of the antisense oligodeoxynucleotide to  $\delta$ -receptor mRNA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1997a), by intra-VTA and intra-PAG (at higher doses) injections of naloxone methiodide (Olmstead and Franklin, 1997b), by intra-NAS SCH 23390, but not by intra-NAS sulpiride (Shippenberg *et al.*, 1993), and by intra-VTA baclofen, an effect that was reversed by concurrent intra-VTA injection of the GABA-B antagonist 2-hydroxysaclofen, but not the GABA-A antagonist bicuculline (Tsuji *et al.*, 1996). The expression, but not the acquisition, of systemic morphine-induced CPP was blocked by intra-NAS DNQX (Layer *et al.*, 1993b). CPP induced by intra-VTA morphine was prevented by systemic  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol in opiate-dependent and withdrawn rats, but not in previously drug-naive rats (Nader and van der Kooy, 1997).

ICV application of the μ-antagonist CTOP blocked CPP induced by ICV β-endorphin and the μ-agonist DAGO, but not the  $\delta$ 1-agonist DPDPE, whereas ICV infusion of the  $\delta$ -antagonist ICI 174 864 blocked CPP induced by β-endorphin and DPDPE, but not that induced by DAGO (Bals-Kubik *et al.*, 1990; Shippenberg *et al.*, 1987). CPP induced by ICV DPDPE was blocked by systemic 7benzylidenenaltrexone (BNTX,  $\delta$ 1-antagonist) but not naltriben ( $\delta$ 2-antagonist), and CPP induced by ICV deltorphin II ( $\delta$ 2-agonist) was prevented by naltriben, but not by BNTX (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996d, 1997d). ICI 174 864 had no effect on ICV morphineinduced CPP (Shippenberg *et al.*, 1987), while CPP induced by ICV  $\beta$ -endorphin was blocked by SC naloxone (Amalric *et al.*, 1987).

SC SCH 23390 blocked ICV DPDPE-induced CPP, but did not affect deltorphin II-induced CPP, whereas SC sulpiride did not affect either DPDPEor deltorphin II-induced CPP (Suzuki *et al.*, 1996d). IVC injection of  $\beta$ -endorphin-(1-27), a naturally occurring fragment of  $\beta$ -endorphin, prevented CPP induced by ICV  $\beta$ -endorphin, DAGO and DPDPE, but not the CPA induced by ICV U-50488H (Bals-Kubik *et al.*, 1988). CPA induced by systemic U-69593 was blocked by intra-NAS SCH 23390 (Shippenberg *et al.*, 1993), and CPP induced by ICV morphine, DAGO and DPDPE was blocked by ICV pertussis toxin (Suzuki *et al.*, 1991a).

#### 4.2.3. Various Combinations

CPP induced by intra-NAS neuropeptide Y was blocked by intra-NAS  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol (Josselyn and Beninger, 1993). SC nicotine-induced CPA was prevented by an ICV injection of the peripheral nicotinic antagonist chlorisondamine 2 weeks prior to the conditioning experiment (Fudala and Iwamoto, 1987). ICV CRF-induced CPA was blocked by ICV injection of the CRF antagonist  $\alpha$ -helical-CRF(9-41) (Cador *et al.*, 1992).

# 4.2.4. Place Conditioning Induced by Electrical Stimulation

CPP induced by stimulation of the LH and the mPFC was blocked by IP haloperidol (Ettenberg and Duvauchelle, 1988; Duvauchelle and Ettenberg, 1991) and CPP induced by stimulation of the locus coeruleus was prevented by IP pimozide (Duvauchelle *et al.*, 1992b), whereas CPA induced by stimulation of the dorsomedial tegmentum was unaffected by haloperidol (Duvauchelle and Ettenberg, 1991). CPP induced by stimulation of the VTA was attenuated or blocked by IP haloperidol and by intra-NAS  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol, while it was unaffected or even slightly increased by intra-mPFC  $\alpha$ -flupenthixol (Duvauchelle *et al.*, 1992a).

# 4.2.5. Place Conditioning Induced by Natural Reinforcers

CPP induced by ejaculation in male rats was blocked by the infusion of methylnaloxonium into the medial preoptic area, but not into the NAS (Agmo and Gomez, 1993).

# 5. STUDIES EXAMINING THE EFFECTS OF LESIONS

# 5.1. 6-Hydroxy-Dopamine (6-OHDA) Lesions

Lesions of NAS blocked novelty-induced CPP (Pierce et al., 1990), diazepam-induced CPP (Spyraki and Fibiger, 1988), morphine-induced CPP and U-69593-induced CPA (Shippenberg et al., 1993), and the CPA induced by intra-VTA CTOP, but not the CPA induced by intra-NAS CTOP or systemic naloxone (Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik, 1995). Lesions of the VP prevented cocaine-induced CPP (Gong et al., 1997b), while lesions of the olfactory tubercle did not affect amphetamine-induced CPP (Clark et al., 1990) and lesions of the striatum and the mPFC had no effect on morphine-induced CPP and U-69593-induced CPA (Shippenberg et al., 1993). Lesions of the mPFC had also no effect on cocaine-induced CPP (Hemby et al., 1992b), a finding which is somewhat surprising in light of the fact that cocaine is self-administered into the mPFC (Goeders and Smith, 1983, 1986). This may suggest that non-dopaminergic mechanisms within the mPFC play an important role in mediating the rewarding effects of cocaine. This is in line with the finding that excitotoxic lesions of the prelimbic mPFC can disrupt cocaine-induced CPP (see below). Lesions of the visceral (agranular insular) cortex did not affect morphine-induced CPP, but blocked morphine-induced CPA (induced by IP injection of a low dose of morphine acting primarily on peripheral m-receptors) (Zito et al., 1988). Intraventricular 6-OHDA infusion did not affect methylphenidateinduced CPP (Martin-Iverson et al., 1985).

# 5.2. Excitotoxic Lesions (By Ibotenic Acid, Kainic Acid or Quinolinic Acid)

Lesions of the NAS blocked amphetamineinduced but not morphine-induced CPP (Olmstead and Franklin, 1996, Olmstead and Franklin, 1997a). Lesions of the VP and the mediodorsal thalamus significantly attenuated sucrose-induced CPP in hungry rats (McAlonan et al., 1993). Lesions of the VP also prevented the acquisition but not the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP (Hiroi and White, 1993), while lesions of the lateral nucleus, but not of the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala, the endopiriform nucleus or the ventral hippocampus, blocked the acquisition as well as the expression of amphetamine-induced CPP (Hiroi and White, 1991b). Lesions of the lateral nucleus of the amygdala, but not of the striatum, also blocked a foodinduced CPP, while fornix lesions facilitated this CPP (White and McDonald, 1993). Destruction of the whole amygdala was reported to prevent cocaine-induced CPP (Brown and Fibiger, 1993) Table 4. This table summarizes the results of studies using intracranial drug-combination treatments. See Section 4.2 in the text for details about drugs, experimental procedures and additional findings that could not be included in the table. In cases where the effects of a drug on place aversion or on the expression of place conditioning were examined, this is indicated explicitly in the table by (CPA) and (expr.), respectively. The injection routes/sites are given in parentheses

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with:	Result	References
Dopaminergic drugs:			
Cocaine (IP)	Fluphenazine (NAS)	CPP	Kaddis et al. (1995)
	DNQX (NAS)	Reduced CPP	Kaddis et al. (1995)
	DNQX (ICV)	CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995)
Cocaine (IP) (expr.)	Fluphenazine (NAS)	No CPP	Kaddis et al. (1995)
	DNQX (NAS)	No CPP	Kaddis <i>et al.</i> (1995)
~	DNQX (ICV)	No CPP	Cervo and Samanin (1995)
Cocaine (IV)	Sulpiride (NAS)	СРР	Baker <i>et al.</i> (1996)
	Sulpiride (striatum)	CPP	Baker <i>et al.</i> (1996)
Cocaine (SC)	$\partial$ -Antisense (ICV)	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> $(199/c)$
Cocaine (IP)	H/(ICV)	No CPP	Cervo <i>et al.</i> $(1997)$
	H89 (ICV) Chalamathring (ICV)	No CPP No CPP	Cervo et al. $(1997)$
Cooping (ICV)	$\mathbf{P}$	NO CFF Reduced CPR	Moreney and Peninger (1086)
$\Delta$ mphetamine (IP)	DNOX (NAS)	No CPP	Laver <i>et al.</i> (1993b)
Amplicianine (II)	CCK (VTA)	Enhanced	Pettit and Mueller (1989)
	cer (viii)	CPP	fettit and Muener (1969)
Amphet. (IP) (expr.)	DNQX (NAS)	No CPP	Layer et al. (1993b)
	SCH23390 (NAS)	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	SCH23390 (striat.)	CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	Sulpiride (NAS)	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	Sulpiride (striatum)	CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
	$\alpha$ -flupenth. (NAS)	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1990)
	Reserpine (NAS)	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1990)
	AMPT (NAS)	CPP	Hiroi and White (1990)
Cathinone (ICV)	CGS 10746B (ICV)	No CPP	Calcagnetti and Schechter (1993b)
Quinpirole (NAS)	Mild chronic stress	No CPP	Papp <i>et al.</i> (1993a)
Sulpiride (perif. LH)	Isolation rearing	Reduced CPP	Morutto and Phillips (1997)
0	AP5 (VTA)	No CPP	Morutto and Phillips (1998)
Opioia arugs: Mambina (ID)	SCH22200 (NIAS)	N <sub>a</sub> CDD	Shinnonhong at $al (1002)$
Morphille (IP)	SUIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDIDID	CDD	Shippenberg et al. (1995)
	Nalovone methiodide	No CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1995)
	(VTA or PAG)	NO CFF	Offistead and Plankin (19970)
	(VTA 01TAO) Baclofen (VTA)	No CPP	Tsuii et al. (1996)
	$\delta$ -Antisense (ICV)	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1997a)
	DNOX (NAS)	CPP	Laver <i>et al.</i> $(1993h)$
Morphin (IP) (expr.)	DNOX (NAS)	No CPP	Layer <i>et al.</i> $(1993b)$
Morphine (ICV)	ICI 174 864 (ICV)	CPP	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1987)
• • • •	Pertussis toxin (ICV)	No CPP	Suzuki et al. (1991a)
$\beta$ -endorphin (ICV)	CTOP (ICV)	No CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1990)
	ICI 174 864 (ICV)	No CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1990)
	Naloxone (SC)	No CPP	Amalric et al. (1987)
	$\beta$ -Endorphin (1-27) (ICV)	No CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988)
DAGO (ICV)	CTOP (ICV)	No CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1990)
	ICI 174 864 (ICV)	CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1990)
	$\beta$ -Endorphin (1-27) (ICV)	No CPP	Bals-Kubik et al. (1988)
	Pertussis toxin (ICV)	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1991a)
DPDPE (ICV)	CTOP (ICV)	СРР	Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1990);
	ICI 174 864 (ICV)	No CPP	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1987)
	BNIX (SC)	NO CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1996d, 1997d)
	Naltriben (SC)	CPP No CDD	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> $(1996d, 1997d)$
	SUR23390 (SC)		Suzuki et al. $(19900)$
	$\beta$ Endorphin (1.27) (ICV)	No CPP	Bals Kubik at al. (19900)
	Pertussis toxin $(ICV)$	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1991a)
Deltorphin II (ICV)	BNTX (SC)	CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1996d, 1997d)
	Naltriben (SC)	No CPP	Suzuki <i>et al</i> (1996d, 1997d)
	SCH23390 (SC)	CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1996d)
	Sulpiride (SC)	CPP	Suzuki <i>et al.</i> (1996d)
U-69593 (IP) (CPA)	SCH23390 (NAS)	No CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
U-50 488H (ICV) (CPA)	$\beta$ -Endorphin (1-27) (ICV)	CPA	Bals-Kubik <i>et al.</i> (1988)
Naloxone (IP) (CPA)	H7 (NAS)	Reduced CPA	Valverde et al. (1996b)
	H8 (NAS)	Reduced CPA	Valverde et al. (1996b)
			(continued on next page)

T. M. Tzschentke

T-1-1- 4	( <del></del>	
Table 4	(continuea)	ł

650

Place conditioning induced by	Combined with:	Result	References
Methylnaloxone (amygdala) (CPA)	α-Helical CRF (9-41) (in amygdala)	no CPA	Heinrichs et al. (1995)
Neuropentide V (NAS)	" Flupenthizal (NAS)	No CPP	Josselvn and Beninger (1993)
Nicotine (SC) (CPA)	Chlorisondamine (ICV)		Fudala and Iwamoto (1995)
CPE(ICV)(CPA)	$\alpha$ Helical CPE(0.41) (ICV)	no CPA	Cador <i>et al.</i> $(1997)$
Lithium chloride $(IP)$ (CPA)	SCH23390 (NAS)	CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Etimum emoride (II ) (EI A)	6-OHDA (NAS)	CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Electrical stimulation:	0 011211 (1 012)	0111	Simppenderg et un (1990)
Of the LH	Haloperidol (IP)	No CPP	Ettenberg and Duvauchelle (1988)
Of the mPFC	Haloperidol (IP)	No CPP	Duvauchelle and Ettenberg (1991)
Of locus coeruleus	Pimozide (IP)	No CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992b)
Of the VTA	Haloperidol (IP)	No CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992a)
	$\alpha$ -Flupenth. (NAS)	No CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992a)
	$\alpha$ -Flupenth. (mPFC)	Enhanced CPP	Duvauchelle et al. (1992a)
Of dorsomedial tegmentum (CPA)	Haloperidol (IP)	СРА	Duvauchelle and Ettenberg (1991)
Natural reinforcers:			
Ejaculation	Methylnaloxone (med. preoptic area)	No CPP	Agmo and Gomez (1993)
	Methylnaloxone (NAS)	CPP	Agmo and Gomez (1993)

and lesions of the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala blocked the expression of sucrose-induced CPP in hungry rats (Everitt *et al.*, 1991). In this latter study, lesions of the nucleus accumbens also blocked and lesions of the ventromedial striatum attenuated sucrose-induced CPP, while lesions of the dorsolateral striatum were without effect.

Small lesions restricted to the prelimbic subarea of the mPFC were found to block cocaine-induced CPP, but to have no effect on amphetamine- and morphine-induced CPP (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1998b), while similar small lesions restricted to the infralimbic subarea of the mPFC were found to block morphine- and CGP 37849-induced CPP but not CPP induced by amphetamine or cocaine (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1998c). Lesions of the visceral cortex failed to affect morphine-induced CPP or lithium chloride-induced CPA (Mackey *et al.*, 1986).

Lesions of the PPTg, but not of the PAG, prevented the acquisition but not the expression of morphine- and amphetamine-induced CPP, while having no effect on cocaine-induced CPP (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1989; Olmstead and Franklin, 1993, 1994; Parker and van der Kooy, 1995). Lesions of the PPTg also blocked heroin-induced CPP, albeit only when a low dose of heroin was used (0.05 mg/kg), while the CPP induced by a high dose (0.5 mg/kg) was not affected (Nader et al., 1994). PPTg lesions also blocked CPP induced by systemic or intra-VTA morphine or by food only in previously drug-naive or food-sated rats, but not in opiate-dependent and withdrawn or food-deprived rats (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1992a,b; Nader and van der Kooy, 1994, 1997). Likewise, PPTg lesions failed to affect CPA induced by morphine withdrawal in morphine-dependent rats or induced by hunger in food-deprived rats (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1992a). On the other hand, PPTg lesions

prevented saccharin-induced CPP in both waterdeprived and non-deprived rats (Stefurak and van der Kooy, 1994). Olmstead and Franklin (1997a) found that lesions of the PPTg, the PAG or the fornix reduced morphine-induced CPP, while lesions of the mesolimbic DA system, the VP, the lateral nucleus of the amygdala or the striatum had no effect on morphine-induced CPP. In the case of the PAG and fornix lesions it appeared that the absence of CPP in the drug-free test was due to state-dependency effects, because when the animals were retested after morphine injection they did show CPP. PPTg-lesioned animals failed to show CPP even when tested under morphine (Olmstead and Franklin, 1997a). Lesions of the lateral or medial parabrachial nucleus did not affect morphineinduced CPP (Bechara et al., 1993), but blocked CPA induced by withdrawal in morphine-dependent rats (Nader et al., 1996).

# 5.3. Other Types of Lesions

Electrolytic lesions of the dorsal striatum potentiated amphetamine-induced CPP (Hiroi and White, 1991a) and similar lesions of the medial septum enhanced cocaine-induced CPP (Gong *et al.*, 1995). On the other hand, electrolytic lesions of the NAS have been reported to block morphine-induced CPP (Kelsey *et al.*, 1989).

Radiofrequency lesions of the medio-basal arcuate hypothalamus were without effect on morphineinduced CPP or U-50 488H-induced CPA, but attenuated naloxone-induced CPA (Mucha *et al.*, 1985).

Rats bearing knife-cut lesions of the connection between the medial and the sulcal PFC, but not intact rats, developed CPP induced by mPFC selfstimulation (Robertson and Laferriere, 1989). Knife cuts of this same connection also facilitated the induction of CPA by low-dose lithium chloride (Schalomon *et al.*, 1994). On the other hand, aspiration lesion of the mPFC led to the development of a cocaine-induced CPA, while lesions of the orbital or precentral PFC blocked cocaine-induced CPP, but did not lead to a CPA (Isaac *et al.*, 1989).

Depletion of central noradrenaline by systemic DSP4 did not affect diazepam-induced CPP (Spyraki and Fibiger, 1988), while 5,7-dihydroxy-tryptamine lesions of the NAS prevented diazepam-induced CPP and attenuated morphine-induced CPP, but failed to affect amphetamine-induced CPP (Spyraki *et al.*, 1988). On the other hand, central depletion of serotonin by ICV 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine potentiated mianserin-induced CPA, but suppressed FG 7142-induced CPA (Rocha *et al.*, 1993b), while it had no effect on ethanol-induced CPA (Bienkowski *et al.*, 1997b).

Adrenalectomy potentiated morphine-induced but not cocaine-induced CPP (Suzuki *et al.*, 1995a), while olfactory bulbectomy has been shown to block the expression of cocaine-induced CPP, an effect which was not related to anosmia (Calcagnetti *et al.*, 1996). Vagotomy blocked the CPA induced by a low dose of morphine and shifted the U-50 488Hinduced CPA into place preferences (Bechara and van der Kooy, 1987) (Table 5).

# 6. GENETIC MODELS

#### 6.1. Different Strains of Rats

Fischer 344 rats showed no nicotine CPP after five pairings and a nicotine CPA after 10 pairings, whereas Lewis rats showed a CPP for nicotine after five as well as after 10 pairings (Horan et al., 1997). A greater sensitivitity of Lewis rats as compared to Fischer 344 rats was also reported for the CPP-inducing effects of cocaine (Kosten et al., 1994). In one study, Fischer 344 were found to show a more pronounced amphetamine-induced CPP than Lewis rats (Stohr et al., 1998). This finding is at odds with other experimental evidence that suggests that Lewis rats show greater behavioral responses to psychoactive drugs than Fischer rats (Horan et al., 1997 (see above); Kosten et al., 1994 (see above); Kosten et al., 1997; Suzuki et al., 1988, 1992e). Sprague-Dawley rats were found to be more sensitive to the CPP-inducing effects of morphine than Wistar rats. Shoaib et al. (1995) showed that the threshold dose of morphine for the induction of a significant CPP was 3 mg/kg for Sprague-Dawley rats and 5 mg/kg for Wistar rats. Fenfluramine failed to produce CPP or CPA in Sprague-Dawley rats, but produced a CPA in Fawn Hooded rats (a strain that has a genetic platelet storage pool deficiency causing a reduced capacity for platelets to store and release serotonin) (Meehan and Schechter, 1994), and ICV application of thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) attenuated the development of morphine-induced CPP in Fischer 344 rats, but not in Wistar Albino Glaxo rats (Borisova and Sudakov, 1995).

The LC2-Hi and LC2-Lo strains (selected for high and low self-stimulation rates, respectively) were shown to differ in their sensitivity to the rewarding effects of morphine and heroin and to the aversive effects of naloxone. Thus, Dymshitz and Lieblich (1987) found that intermediate doses of morphine or heroin produced a CPP in LC2-Hi rats, but not in LC2-Lo rats and that naloxone produced a significantly greater CPA in LC2-Hi rats than in LC2-Lo rats. Rats selectively bred for high alcohol sleep times showed a smaller ethanolinduced CPA than rats selectively bred for low alcohol sleep times, indicating a possible independence of motivational (aversive) and physically intoxicating effects of ethanol (Schechter and Krimmer, 1992).

The CPP paradigm has not only been used to test but also to generate different lines of rats. Thus, selectively pairing rats that showed strong or weak cocaine-induced CPP over three generations produced lines of rats that either strongly preferred cocaine and showed strong cocaine-induced locomotor activation or that found cocaine aversive and showed only a small locomotor response to cocaine, respectively (Schechter, 1992a). Another example for the generation of distinct rat lines using the CPP method was reported by Kushner (1997) who selectively mated cocaethylene-preferring males and females or cocaethylene-nonpreferring males and females.

# 6.2. Different Strains of Mice

Differences in the reinforcing actions of morphine or cocaine were shown for the C57BL/6J, BALB/c, 129/SvJ, DBA, CBA and other strains (Seale and Carney, 1991; Semenova et al., 1995; Miner, 1997). The DBA/2J strain was found to be hyporesponsive to the CPP-inducing effects of amphetamine, etonitazene, PCP, caffeine and procaine (Seale and Carney, 1991), whereas morphine-induced CPP was greater in DBA/2J mice than in C57BL/6J mice and ethanol produced a CPP only in DBA/2J mice, but not in C57BL/6J mice (Cunningham et al., 1992b). The  $\delta$ 1-agonist DPDPE and the  $\delta$ 2-agonist deltorphin II produced CPP in ddY mice, but not in µ1receptor-deficient CXBK mice (Suzuki et al., 1994b). On the other hand, morphine produced a CPP in both ddY and CXBK mice, an effect that could be antagonized by SCH 23390 (Suzuki et al., 1993a).

Mice selectively bred to show locomotor activation produced by nicotine showed a significantly greater nicotine-induced CPP than mice selectively bred to show locomotor depression produced by nicotine (Schechter et al., 1995). A mouse line selectively bred for the occurrence of severe ethanol withdrawal symptoms (Withdrawal Seizure Prone mice) showed significantly larger ethanol-induced CPP than a mouse line selectively bred for the occurrence of attenuated ethanol withdrawal symptoms (Withdrawal Seizure Resistant mice) (Crabbe et al., 1992). Mice selectively bred for insensitivity to ethanol-induced hypothermia (Hot mice) also developed a significantly larger ethanol-induced CPP than mice selected for ethanol hypothermic sensitivity (Cold mice) (Cunningham et al., 1991), suggesting that ethanol-induced hypothermia counteracts or attenuates the rewarding effects of ethanol, which is in line with the finding of Cunningham and Niehus (1993) who showed that an increased ambient temperature

# T. M. Tzschentke

Table 5. This table summarizes the results of studies examining the effects of lesions on place conditioning. See Section 5 in the text for details about drugs, experimental procedures and additional findings that could not be included in the table. In cases where lesion effects on place aversion or on the expression of place conditioning were examined this is explicitly indicated by (CPA) and (expr.)

Lesioned area	Place conditioning produced by	Result	References
	1 2		
6-OHDA lesions:	N.C. 1.	N. CDD	
NAS	Morphine	No CPP	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	U-69593 (CPA)	No CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	Diazepam	No CPP	Spyraki and Fibiger (1988)
	Novel environment	No CPP	Pierce <i>et al.</i> (1990)
	CTOP (VTA) (CPA)	No CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	CTOP (NAS) (CPA)	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
VD	Naloxone (IP) (CPA)	CPA	Shippenberg and Bals-Kubik (1995)
	Cocaine	No CPP	Gong <i>et al.</i> $(199/b)$
Olfactory tubercle	Amphetamine	CPP	Clark <i>et al.</i> (1990)
Striatum	Morphine	CPP	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
DEC	U-69593 (CPA)	CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
mPFC	Morphine	CPP	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	U-69593 (CPA)	CPA	Shippenberg <i>et al.</i> (1993)
<b>X7 1</b>	Cocaine	CPP	Hemby <i>et al.</i> (1992b)
Visceral cortex	Morphine	CPP	Zito <i>et al.</i> $(1988)$
	Morphine (CPA)	No CPA	Zito <i>et al.</i> (1988)
	Methylphenidate	CPP	Martin-Iverson <i>et al.</i> (1985)
Excitotoxic lesions:		N. CDD	
NAS	Amphetamine	No CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1996)
	Morphine	CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1997a)
	Sucrose	No CPP	Eventt <i>et al.</i> $(1991)$
<b>G</b> <sub>1</sub> <b>i i</b>	Naltrexone (CPA)	CPA	Kelsey and Arnold (1994)
Striatum	Morphine	CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1997a)
Sec. ( 1)	Food		White and McDonald (1993)
Striatum (ventromed.)	Sucrose	CDD	Eventi $et al.$ (1991)
Striatum (dorsolateral)	Sucrose	CPP Deduced CDD	Everitt <i>et al.</i> $(1991)$
VP	Sucrose	Reduced CPP	McAlonan <i>et al.</i> $(1993)$
	Amphetamine (amp)	NO CPP CDD	Hirol and White (1993)
	Amphetamine (expr.)	CPP	Alitot and while (1993)
A	Casaina	CPP N- CPP	Dimstead and Franklin (1997a)
Amygdala (whole)	Cocaine Manual in a	NO CPP CDD	Dimeter d and Erechtin (1993)
Amygdala (lat. nucl.)		CPP N- CPP	Ulinsi and White (1001b)
	Amphetamine (avnr.)	No CPP	Hiroi and White (1991b)
	Easd	No CPP	White and MaDanald (1002)
Amuadala	Amphatamina	CDD	Uinoi and White (1001b)
Amyguala (basalat mualaua)	Amphetamine (avnn)	CPP	Hiroi and White (1991b)
(basolat. nucleus)	Sugress (symm)	CFF No CDD	Fueritt et al. (1001)
Amuadala	Nultrayona (CPA)	Roduced CPA	K alsov and Arnold (1994)
(madiadars, pualaus)	Naturexone (CFA)	Reduced CFA	Keisey and Arnold (1994)
Endopiriform puel	Amphatamina	CPD	Hiroj and White (1001b)
Endoprinorm nuci.	Amphetamine (avpr.)		Hiroi and White (1991b)
Vantral hinnagempus	Amphetamine (expl.)		Hiroi and White (1991b)
ventrai inppoeampus	Amphetamine (evpr.)	CPP	Hiroi and White (1991b)
Fornix	Morphine	Peduced CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1997a)
Politix	Food	Enhanced CPP	White and McDonald (1997a)
MD thalamus	Sugroso	Paducad CPP	MaAlapan at al. (1993)
mPEC (prolimbia)	Coordina	No CPP	Tzsahantka and Sahmidt (1008h)
III I'C (preninoic)	Amphetamine	CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998b)
	Morphine	CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1998b)
mPEC (infralimbic)	Cocaine	CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (19900)
	Amphetamine	CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1990c)
	Morphine	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1990c)
	CGP37849	No CPP	Tzschentke and Schmidt (1990c)
Visceral cortex	Morphine	CPP	Mackey et al. (1986)
VISCOLAL COLLEX	Lithium chloride (CPA)	CPA	Mackey et al. (1986)
	Entitudi entoriue (CrA)	un	Muckey et ul. (1900)

Table 5 (continued)

Lesioned area	Place conditioning	Pagult	Pafarances
Lesioned area	produced by	Kesult	References
ΡΡΤσ	Cocaine	CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1993, 1994,
	Cocaine (expr.)	CPP	1997a): Parker and van der Koov
	Amphetamine	No CPP	(1995): Bechara and van der Koov
	Amphetamine (expr.)	CPP	(1989)
	Morphine	No CPP	
	Morphine (expr.)	CPP	
	Heroin (low dose)	No CPP	Nader et al. (1994)
	Heroin (high dose)	CPP	Nader et al. (1994)
	Morphine (IP) (in naive	No CPP	Bechara and van der Koov (1992a.b):
	animals)		Nader and van der Kooy (1994, 1997)
	Morphine (VTA) (in	No CPP	
	naive animals)		
	Morphine (IP) (in	CPP	
	dependent animals)		
	Morphine (VTA) (in	CPP	
	dependent animals)		
	Food (satiated animals)	No CPP	
	Food (deprived	CPP	
	animals)		
	Morphine withdr. in	CPA	Bechara and van der Kooy (1992a)
	depend. animals (CPA)		
	Hunger in food-depr.	CPA	Bechara and van der Kooy (1992a)
	animals (CPA)		
	Saccharin solution	No CPP	Stefurak and van der Kooy (1994)
PAG	Cocaine	CPP	Bechara and van der Kooy (1989);
	Cocaine (expr.)	CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1993, 1994);
	Amphetamine	CPP	Parker and van der Kooy (1995)
	Amphetamine (expr.)	CPP	
	Morphine	CPP	
Med. parabrach. nucl.	Morphine (expr.)	CPP	
	Morphine	Reduced CPP	Olmstead and Franklin (1997a)
	Morphine	CPP	Bechara <i>et al.</i> (1993)
	Morphine withdr. in	No CPA	Nader <i>et al.</i> (1996)
	depend. animals (CPA)		
Other lesions:		N. CDD	
NAS (electrolytic)	Morphine	No CPP	Kelsey <i>et al.</i> $(1989)$
Striatum (electrolytic)	Amphetamine	Enhanced CPP	Hiroi and White (1991a)
Medial septum	Cocaine	Ennanced CPP	Gong <i>et al.</i> (1995)
(electrolytic)	M 1	CDD	M = 1 (1005)
Mediobasal arcuate	Morphine	CPP	Mucha <i>et al.</i> $(1985)$
(modiafraguarau)	U-50 488H (CPA)	CPA reduced CPA	Mucha et al. $(1985)$
(radioffequency)	Lithium ablarida (CPA)	No CPA	Shippophorg at $al$ (1985)
Connection of sulcal	mPEC self stimulation	Enhanced CPR	Babartson and Lafarriara (1980)
and mPEC (knife cut)	Lithium chloride (CPA)	Enhanced CPA	Schalomon <i>et al.</i> (1994)
mPFC (aspiration)	Cocaine	CPA	Isaac et al. (1989)
Orbital PEC (aspirat)	Cocaine	No CPP	Isaac et al. $(1989)$
Precentral PEC (aspirat.)	Cocaine	No CPP	Isaac et al. $(1989)$
Central NA depletion	Diazenam	CPP	Snyraki and Fibiger (1988)
(IP DSP4)	Diazopum	CIT	Spyraki and Fioiger (1966)
Central 5-HT depl	Mianserin (CPA)	Enhanced CPA	Rocha <i>et al.</i> $(1993b)$
(ICV 5 7-DHT)	FG 7142 (CPA)	No CPA	Rocha <i>et al.</i> (1993b)
、 · · · ,· =)	Ethanol (CPA)	CPA	Bienkowski <i>et al.</i> (1997b)
NAS 5-HT depl.	Diazepam	No CPP	Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1988)
(5.7-DHT)	Morphine	Reduced CPP	Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1988)
× / /	Amphetamine	CPP	Spyraki <i>et al.</i> (1988)
Adrenalectomy	Morphine	Enhanced CPP	Suzuki et al. (1995a)
	Cocaine	CPP	Suzuki et al. (1995a)
Olfact. bulbectomy	Cocaine (expr.)	No CPP	Calcagnetti et al. (1996)
Vagotomy	Morphine (low dose)	No CPA	Bechara and van der Kooy (1987)
	(CPÂ)		• 、 /
	U-50 488H (CPA)	CPP	Bechara and van der Kooy (1987)

can attenuate ethanol-induced CPA (see Section 3.2.3.2). In a further examination of this phenomenon, Dickinson and Cunningham (1998) showed, using genetically heterogeneous mice, that animals conditioned and tested under normal ambient temperature, showed an ethanol-induced CPP, while animals that were conditioned or tested under low or high ambient temperatures failed to show ethanol-induced CPP. These results suggest that abnormal ambient temperatures during conditioning or during testing may have a rather general and nonspecific disruptive effects on the development and/or expression of ethanol-induced CPP in outbred mice.

Only mice selectively bred to show strong alcohol withdrawal signs (High Alcohol Withdrawal mice) showed ethanol-induced CPP while mice selectively bred for weak alcohol withdrawal signs (Low Alcohol Withdrawal mice) failed to develop ethanol-induced CPP (Chester *et al.*, 1998). These findings, together with the above-mentioned results of Crabbe *et al.* (1992), may indicate that the subjective rewarding effects of ethanol are closely correlated with the overall physiological effects which are responsible for the development of somatic ethanol dependence (manifest in withdrawal symptoms).

# 6.3. Genetically Engineered Animals

Cunningham (1995) compared 20 BXD recombinant inbred mouse strains in place preference conditioning to ethanol and found that while some strains did not show any preference for the ethanolpaired compartment, other strains showed strong ethanol-induced CPP. Quantitative trait loci analysis showed strong associations between the magnitude of the CPP effect and certain marker loci on several chromosomes. Thus, the CPP paradigm was used to localize genes influencing the rewarding effects of ethanol.

FosB mutant mice showed a stronger cocaineinduced CPP than wild-type littermates (Hiroi *et al.*, 1997). VMAT2 (vesicular monoamine transporter) knockout mice showed reduced amphetamineinduced CPP (Takahashi *et al.*, 1997), while D1 receptor deficient mice (either hetero- or homozygous) showed normal cocaine-induced CPP (Miner *et al.*, 1995). Mice lacking the  $\mu$ -receptor gene (Matthes *et al.*, 1996) and mice lacking D2 receptors (Maldonado *et al.*, 1997) did not develop morphineinduced CPP, but displayed intact food-induced CPP. Knockout mice lacking the 5-HT1B receptor did not develop ethanol-induced CPP (Risinger *et al.*, 1996).

# 7. THE ISSUE OF TOLERANCE AND SENSITIZATION TO THE REWARDING EFFECTS OF DRUGS

Sensitization and tolerance to the behavioural effects of drugs of abuse are well known and extensively studied phenomena (for reviews see Wise and Leeb, 1993; Trujillo and Akil, 1995; Kalivas *et al.*, 1993; Kalivas and Stewart, 1991; Robinson and Berridge, 1993; Robinson and Becker, 1986; Stewart and Badiani, 1993). Especially in the case of sensitiz-

ation, long-term behavioural changes with repeated drug administration are usually measured in terms of locomotor behaviour. Interestingly, evidence exists that sensitization can develop not only to the locomotor-activating effects of drugs, but also to their rewarding effects. Evidence for this comes from self-administration studies (e.g. Horger *et al.*, 1990) and, in particular, from CPP studies.

Prominent sensitization of rewarding effects have been reported for ethanol (see also Section 3.1.3). For example, it has been shown that in naive rats ethanol produces either a CPA (Holloway *et al.*, 1992) or no effect (Reid *et al.*, 1985; Bienkowski *et al.*, 1996), while in rats preexposed to ethanol prior to the conditioning sessions or in rats receiving extended conditioning training, ethanol commonly produced CPP (Holloway *et al.*, 1992; Reid *et al.*, 1985; Bozarth, 1990; Bienkowski *et al.*, 1996), an effect which may be due to both sensitization of the rewarding and tolerance to the aversive effects of ethanol.

Bienkowski et al. (1995) found that rats preexposed to a low dose of ethanol (20 daily IP injections of 0.5 g/kg) subsequently developed ethanolinduced CPP, while rats pretreated with a higher dose of ethanol (20 daily injections of 1.0 g/kg) developed ethanol-induced CPA. The same group (Bienkowski et al., 1996) also showed that five or 15 conditioning sessions (with 0.5 or 1.0 g/kg ethanol) were not sufficient to produce a significant CPP. Only when the rats were pretreated with 20 injections of ethanol (0.5 g/kg IP) prior to the conditioning experiment did this procedure produce a CPP (note, however, that the same 'sensitization' effect was obtained with 20 daily injections of saline!). In contrast, Bozarth (1990) reported that a conditioning regimen with 15 daily conditioning trials with 1.0 g/kg IP ethanol produced CPP, while conditioning with 0.5 g/kg ethanol IP failed to produce an effect, and Davies and Parker (1990) showed that neither naive nor ethanol-preexposed rats showed ethanol-induced CPP (or CPA) in their study. In one study, rats that had been trained to self-administer ethanol prior to the ethanol conditioning experiment developed a CPP, rats that had received ethanol/saline drug-discrimination training developed neither CPP nor CPA, and rats that went into the conditioning experiments without prior training or exposure to ethanol, developed a CPA (Gauvin and Holloway, 1992), suggesting that the rewardenhancing effect of preexposure may not only depend on the mere quantitative exposure to the drug but also on the context in which this preexposure occurs (in particular contingent vs non-contingent administration).

Sensitizing effects of preexposure or of extended conditioning training have also been shown for morphine (Contarino *et al.*, 1997; Shippenberg *et al.*, 1996a; Lett, 1989a; Gaiardi *et al.*, 1991; but see Martin *et al.*, 1988). In two studies, however, non-contingent pretreatment prior to conditioning resulted in tolerance to the rewarding effects of morphine and in tolerance to the aversive effects of the  $\kappa$ -agonist U-69593 (Shippenberg *et al.*, 1988a, 1989). Although the exact reasons for these discrepancies are not known, it should be considered that tem-

poral factors of drug application play an important role in determining whether tolerance or sensitization develops. Thus, it has been shown that continuous administration or the frequent administration of lower doses of drugs generally produce tolerance, while intermittent administration of higher doses generally produce sensitization (see e.g. Kuribara, 1996; Vanderschuren et al., 1997; Post, 1980). Evidence for a possible context dependence of the effects of morphine preexposure on subsequent place conditioning has been presented by McKee et al. (1994), who showed that morphine injections prior to conditioning in a context different from the conditioning context were without effect on subsequent place conditioning, whereas morphine-induced CPP was reduced when the preexposures occurred in the same context as the subsequent conditioning.

Reward-sensitizing effects of preexposure have also been shown for nicotine (Shoaib et al., 1994; but see Fudala and Iwamoto, 1986), amphetamine and cocaine (Lett, 1989a; Shippenberg et al., 1996b; Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995a) and fencamfamine (De Lucia et al., 1997). Cross-sensitization of the rewarding effects of morphine, amphetamine and cocaine in CPP was also reported (Lett, 1989a; Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995b). The rewardsensitizing effect of cocaine-preexposure could be blocked by concurrent preexposure to the  $\delta$ -antagonist naltrindole, but not lithium chloride (Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995a). Note that in this latter study coadministration of naltrindole with cocaine during the conditioning sessions did not affect the development of cocaine-induced CPP itself. The reward-sensitizing effect of cocaine-preexposure was also blocked by the k-agonists U50 488H and U69593 administered either SC or ICV (Shippenberg et al., 1996b) and SCH 23390, but not raclopride (Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995b). The blockade of cocaine reward sensitzation by the  $\kappa$ -agonists was prevented by concurrent treatment with the k-antagonist nor-binaltorphimine. Administration of U69593, SCH 23390 or raclopride alone prior to cocaine place conditioning did not affect the CPP-inducing effects of cocaine (Shippenberg et al., 1996b; Shippenberg and Heidbreder, 1995b). In a further examination of this issue, Shippenberg et al. (1998) showed sensitization of the conditioned rewarding effects of morphine and cocaine and also cross-sensitization between the rewarding effects of both drugs, such that pretreatment with morphine or cocaine produced enhanced CPP induced by cocaine or morphine, respectively. These authors also showed that the enhancing effect of morphine pretreatment on morphine- and cocaine-induced CPP was not affected by coadministration of the k-agonist U69593 during the pretreatment phase. On the other hand, when U69593 was coadministered during cocaine pretreatment, the enhancing effect of cocaine pretreatment on morphine-induced CPP was abolished. These results show that a  $\kappa$ -agonist prevents sensitization and cross-sensitization induced by cocaine but, rather surprisingly, does not affect morphine-induced sensitization or cross-sensitization of reward.

Acute haloperidol injections during the conditioning experiment attenuated cocaine-induced CPP, while long-term pretreatment with haloperidol for 30 days prior to and during the conditioning experiment significantly enhanced the CPP-inducing effects of low doses of cocaine, presumably by upregulation or supersensitization of DA receptors (Kosten et al., 1996). Similarly, the potential of heroin to produce CPP was enhanced by chronic pretreatment with the D2 antagonist flupenthixol decanoate (every 10 days for 6 weeks) (Stinus et al., 1989), and Bardo and Neisewander (1987) reported that chronic pretreatment with naltrexone over 10 days (by means of an SC implanted slow-release pellet) sensitized rats to the CPP-inducing effects of IV morphine (see also Suzuki et al., 1991c).

The putative anti-addictive drug ibogaine prevented the establishment of amphetamine-induced CPP when one or two conditioning trials were used, but only to a much lesser extent when four conditioning trials were used (Moroz *et al.*, 1997). The authors argued that the diminished effects of ibogaine after four conditioning trials may be due to the development of tolerance to ibogaine. While this is a valid interpretation, in light of the phenomena described above, the observed diminished effect of ibogaine might also be due to sensitization of the rewarding effects of amphetamine during prolonged conditioning or simply by a stronger conditioning effect (produced by more drug-context pairings) that could not be overcome by ibogaine.

Cross-sensitization of rewarding effects has also been reported for the antidepressants fluoxetine and imipramine, and cocaine. Collu et al. (1994, 1996) reported that only animals that received chronic pretreatment with either of these two serotonin reuptake blockers prior to the conditioning experiment developed CPP after a single administration of cocaine. Pretreatment with imipramine had differential effects on apomorphine- and foodinduced CPP, also depending on the duration of the pretreatment (compare with haloperidol above). Thus, short-term administration of imipramine prevented the development of CPP, while long-term administration enhanced the CPP-inducing effects of apomorphine and food (Papp, 1988a). In line with these results, it was also reported that short term treatment (during conditioning sessions) with the antidepressants imipramine, desipramine, amitryptiline, mianserin and citalopram attenuated foodinduced CPP in food-deprived rats, while long-term pretreatment (for 16 days prior to conditioning) significantly enhanced food-induced CPP (Papp, 1989). This sensitizing effect could be mimicked by nine applications of electroconvulsive shock prior to conditioning (Papp, 1989).

Animals subjected to chronic mild unpredictable stress showed disrupted development of amphetamine- and quinpirole-induced CPP (see Section 3.2.1.8). When these chronically stressed animals were subjected to repeated quinpirole treatment that also produced locomotor sensitization prior to quinpirole place conditioning they showed normal, unimpaired quinpirole-induced CPP (Papp *et al.*, 1993b). A similar reversal of stress-induced anhedonia was also produced by chronic treatment with the D2-agonist pramipexole (Willner *et al.*, 1994), the 5-HT1A agonist/5-HT2 antagonist flibaserin (D'Aquila *et al.*, 1997) and the atypical antidepressants mianserin (Cheeta *et al.*, 1994), fluoxetine and maprotiline, while the benzodiazepine chlordiazepoxide was ineffective (Muscat *et al.*, 1992; D'Aquila *et al.*, 1997).

Prenatal morphine exposure (Gagin *et al.*, 1997) and perinatal exposure to low doses of THC sensitized the adult offspring to the CPP-inducing effects of morphine (Rubio *et al.*, 1995; see Navarro *et al.*, 1995) and prenatal exposure to oxazepam transiently sensitized the offspring to the CPP-inducing effects of cocaine (a sensitized response was seen only when conditioning took place between the age of 14 and 24 days, but not after the age of 28 days) (Dell'Omo *et al.*, 1993). On the other hand, prenatal cocaine exposure using an aggressive treatment schedule (dams were injected with 40 mg/kg daily during gestational days 8–20) produced offspring that failed to develop cocaine-induced CPP (Heyser *et al.*, 1992).

The relatively inconsistent place conditioning results that have been reported for PCP may be largely related to tolerance and sensitization effects. Thus, Kitaichi *et al.* (1996) found that acute administration of PCP produced CPA, repeated treatment over 14 days resulted in no effect, and repeated treatment over 28 days finally led to a PCP-induced CPP (see also Section 3.1.7). Iwamoto (1986a) also found that repeated exposure to PCP reduced its potential to produce CPA (as it did after initial exposures, even at relatively low doses).

Interestingly, intracranial self-stimulation paradigms, which appear to be very sensitive to detect relatively subtle rewarding or reward-enhancing effects of drugs (see Wise, 1996) seem to be less well suited than the CPP paradigm to detect changes in the rewarding potential of a drug during repeated treatment (Wise and Munn, 1993; Carlezon and Wise, 1993b; Bauco and Wise, 1994; but see Corbett, 1991).

# 8. STUDIES EXPLICITLY EXAMINING CPA

One of the big advantages of the place preference conditioning paradigm is that it can also be used to study aversive aspects and components of motivational effects of drugs and treatments, which is possible only to a limited extent with the (otherwise very powerful) self-administration and self-stimulation paradigms.

# 8.1. CPA Produced by Opiate Antagonist-Precipitated Withdrawal

CPA is reliably produced by a number of opiate receptor antagonists in chronically morphine-preexposed (i.e. morphine-dependent) rats. In morphinedependent rats usually significantly lower doses of an antagonist are needed to produce CPA than in non-dependent rats) (see Section 3.2.1.2). A precipitated withdrawal-induced CPA has been shown for naloxone (Acquas *et al.*, 1990; Funada *et al.*, 1996; Mucha, 1987; Mucha and Walker, 1987; Higgins *et*  *al.*, 1991a; Popik and Danysz, 1997; Kosten, 1994; Spanagel *et al.*, 1994; Schulteis *et al.*, 1994; Valverde *et al.*, 1996b; Valverde and Roques, 1998), naltrexone (Kelsey and Arnold, 1994), naltrindole (Funada *et al.*, 1996), naltriben (Funada *et al.*, 1996), methylnaltrexone (ICV) (Mucha *et al.*, 1985) and methylnaloxone (ICV) (Hand *et al.*, 1988; Stinus *et al.*, 1990).

CPA induced by naloxone-precipitated withdrawal in morphine-dependent rats is frequently used to assess the effects of drugs on the negative motivational aspects of withdrawal. Drugs which block or attenuate the development of naloxone-precipitated withdrawal-induced CPA might have the potential to alleviate withdrawal distress in human opiate addicts. Thus, naloxone-precipitated withdrawalinduced CPA was blocked or attenuated by memantine (Popik and Danysz, 1997), MK-801 (Higgins et al., 1992b), the D2 agonist propylnorapomorphine (Harris and Aston-Jones, 1994), the D2 antagonist α-flupenthixol (Bechara et al., 1995), the 5-HT3 antagonists DAU 6215 (Borsini et al., 1993), ondansetron, ICS 205-930 and MDL 72222, also by chlordiazepoxide, but not by gepirone (Acquas et al., 1990; Higgins et al., 1991a), and also by the  $\alpha$ 2agonist clonidine (Kosten, 1994), the non-selective  $\beta$ -antagonist propranolol, the  $\beta$ 1-antagonist atenolol (Harris and Aston-Jones, 1993), acute coadministration of, but not chronic preexposure to, the 5-HT reuptake blocker fluvoxamine, and chronic preexposure to, but not acute coadministration of, the 5-HT reuptake blocker paroxetine (Rafieian-Kopaei et al., 1995). Chronic administration of the CCK-B antagonists PD-134,308 and L-365,260 during the development of morphine dependence reduced or blocked, respectively, the CPA induced by naloxone, while the CCK-A antagonist devazepide and the CCK-B agonist BC 264 were without effect (Valverde and Roques, 1998). On the other hand, naloxone-precipitated withdrawal-induced CPA was potentiated by the  $\kappa$ -antagonist nor-binaltorphimine (Spanagel et al., 1994).

When during chronic morphine-pretreatment the animals were co-treated with intra-NAS injections of the kinase inhibitors H7 or H8 the magnitude of naloxone-precipitated withdrawal-induced CPA was significantly reduced (Valverde et al., 1996b). In morphine-dependent rats, ICV methylnaloxonium produced CPA (Hand et al., 1988). CPA was also induced when low doses of methylnaloxonium were injected into the NAS, while much higher doses where needed to produce CPA when injected into the mediodorsal thalamus, PAG, VTA or amygdala (Stinus et al., 1990). This finding is in apparent contrast to the results of Kelsey and Arnold (1994) who report that lesions of the mediodorsal amygdala, but not of the NAS, reduced the aversiveness of naltrexone-precipited morphine-withdrawal. Heinrichs et al. (1995) reported that the CPA induced by intraamygdala injection of methylnaloxonium could be prevented by injection of the CRF antagonist α-helical CRF (9-41) into the same site. Taken together, these latter studies demonstrate that exclusively central mechanisms are sufficient to induce full opiate withdrawal aversion.

# 8.2. CPA Produced by Lithium Chloride

Besides naloxone-precipitated withdrawal, one of the most reliable and most frequently used treatments to induce CPA is the injection of lithium chloride (Suzuki et al., 1992a; Parker, 1992; Frisch et al., 1995; Cunningham and Niehus, 1993; Oberling *et al.*, 1993; Reilly *et al.*, 1993; Shippenberg *et al.*, 1988b; Bechara *et al.*, 1987; Symonds and Hall, 1997; Lett, 1992). CPA induced by lithium chloride was shown to be blocked by the antiemetic metoclopramide and a combination of extracts from Ginkgo biloba and Zingiber officinale (Frisch et al., 1995), while ibogaine was ineffective (Parker et al., 1995). Lithium chloride-induced CPA could also be prevented by naloxone, high doses of SCH 23390 and SCH 39166 (Acquas and Di Chiara, 1994), and radiofrequency lesions of the mediobasal arcuate hypothalamus, a precedure which markedly reduced the levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin in the hypothalamus. On the other hand, chronic dexamethasone treatment, which reduces circulating βendorphin levels (Shippenberg et al., 1988b), intra-NAS injection of SCH 23390 or 6-OHDA lesions of the NAS (Shippenberg et al., 1993) were without effect. CPA induced by lithium chloride was also shown to be attenuated by counteracting the druginduced hypothermia by increasing the ambient temperature to 32°C during conditioning, suggesting that the aversive effects of lithium chloride might be, at least partly, due to the experience of drug-induced hypothermia (Cunningham and Niehus, 1993).

# 9. CONCLUDING REMARKS

An overview of the literature reviewed in the present paper shows that the largest number of studies have examined the interaction of two (or more) drugs after systemic administration. Thus, a number of studies have tested novel drugs such as the atypical neuroleptics or the new and atypical antidepressants. A large number of studies have examined new receptor subtype-selective agonists and antagonists as they became available over the years, most notably a number of D2- and D3-selective ligands, agonists and antagonists specific for  $\mu$ - and  $\delta$ -receptor subtypes, benzodiazepine receptor agonists and antagonists, antagonists of the glutamatergic NMDAand AMPA receptors, and a whole range of new serotonin receptor subtype-specific compounds. Natural reinforcers such as food, water or sucrose solution have also been used frequently.

From the studies examining drug interactions, several issues are evident. For example, a number of studies confirmed that amphetamine-induced CPP appears to be highly dependent on D1, as well as on D2 receptor-mediated mechanisms, whereas cocaine-induced CPP is hardly affected by D2 antagonists, but only by D1 antagonism and atypical neuroleptics. A number of studies also confirmed that endogenous opioid systems play an important role in the mediation of the rewarding effects of psychostimulants since naloxone was consistently shown to block cocaine- and amphetamine-induced CPP. On the other hand, inconsistent results have been

reported for the importance of serotonin receptors for psychostimulant-induced CPP, but the majority of results suggest a minor role for serotonin, at least for its action at 5-HT1 and 5-HT3 receptors. The picture for glutamate receptors also appears to be somewhat inconsistent with respect to the role of different subtypes in the expression of previously established psychostimulant-induced CPP; nevertheless, glutamate receptors appear to be importantly involved in the acquisition of CPP. The importance of rearing conditions for the ability of psychostimulants to produce CPP was also demonstrated in several studies. In general, animals that were reared in 'enriched' conditions showed a larger drug-induced CPP than animals that were reared in 'impoverished' conditions, and food deprivation generally enhanced the rewarding potential of the drugs tested.

With respect to CPP induced by morphine and other opiates, it can be noted that studies examining the role of DA receptors yielded inconsistent results. While D1 and D3 receptors appear to be important, D2 receptor antagonists blocked opiate-induced CPP in some studies, while they were without effect in others. Morphine-induced CPP was consistently prevented by  $\mu$ -antagonists such as naloxone and naltrexone, and also by  $\kappa$ -agonists, while the results for  $\delta$ -receptor ligands are less consistent. Unlike psychostimulant-induced CPP, morphine-induced CPP appears to be strongly dependent on serotonin receptors, since a number of studies consistently reported a blockade of morphine-induced CPP by various 5-HT3 antagonists. Morphine-induced CPP was also consistently shown to be blocked by NMDA- and other glutamate antagonists. As in the case of the psychostimulants, the magnitude of morphine-induced CPP was also strongly influenced by rearing conditions or by stress.

Studies using intracranial drug application confirmed the central role of the NAS for the rewarding or aversive effects of a number of dopaminergic drugs such amphetamine, SKF 38393, quinpirole and SCH 23390, but not for cocaine. The VP was also identified as a structure from which psychostimulants can elicit rewarding effects. With respect to opiates the predominant role of the VTA for the mediation of the rewarding effects of morphine and other µ-agonists was confirmed in several studies. However, CPP could also be induced by morphine injection into the hippocampus and the PAG, but not by morphine injection into a large number of other forebrain and brainstem sites. Studies examining drug interactions also confirmed the dependence of amphetamine reward on D1 and D2 receptormediated mechanisms in the NAS, and also the relative independence of cocaine reward from these mechanisms. They also confirmed the importance of the VTA and the PAG for morphine-induced CPP.

The very small number of studies examining the effects of 6-OHDA lesions established the role of dopaminergic mechanisms in the VP in the mediation of cocaine-induced CPP and confirmed the importance of NAS DA for novelty-induced CPP and the unimportance of dopaminergic mechanisms in the olfactory tubercle and the visceral cortex for psychostimulant and opiate reward. A larger number of studies using excitotoxic lesions once again confirmed the importance of the NAS for amphetamine-, but not for morphine-induced CPP, and also confirmed the role of the VP, the amygdala and the thalamus in reward-related mechanisms. The selective differential importance of specific subregions of the mPFC for the CPP induced by different classes of drugs was established as well as the importance of the PPTg for the acquisition of morphine- and amphetamine-induced CPP.

Studies examining inbred strains demonstrated that different strains or lines of mice or rats can show dramatic differences with respect to the potency of drugs to induce CPP. Studies using knockout mice lacking specific receptors or transporter proteins are just beginning to emerge, but the existing results have largely confirmed the presumed role of the missing receptor or transporter in the mediation of drug reward.

Since sensitization to the effects of drugs of abuse is presumed to play an important role in the development of drug addiction (see Robinson and Berridge, 1993), the issue of sensitization has not only been addressed in locomotor studies, but also by means of place conditioning. Thus, it has been established that sensitization to the rewarding effects (and/or tolerance to the aversive effects) can heavily influence the outcome of place conditioning experiments. Cross-sensitization of the rewarding effects of drugs from different classes, such as opiates and psychostimulants, or psychostimulants and antidepressants, was also found.

Naloxone-precipitated withdrawal-induced CPA was frequently used as a model of withdrawal distress. Several drugs were found to be able to reduce withdrawal-induced CPA, most notably 5-HT3 antagonists, NMDA antagonists,  $\alpha$ -agonists and  $\beta$ -antagonists.

The place preference conditioning paradigm has been extremely popular during the last decade with researchers examining the motivational effects of drugs and non-drug treatments. This popularity is at least partly due to the fact that the CPP paradigm does not require expensive technical equipment. Experiments can easily be run without automated control units, surgical preparation of the animals is not necessary (unless lesions or local injections are made), and the procedure does not involve lengthy training sessions. Once an experimental setup has been established, once it has been determined whether the setup is biased or unbiased, and once it has been confirmed that 'positive control' drugs like morphine or cocaine produce clear, reproducable CPP, the place conditioning procedure can yield sensitive and reliable measures of the motivational value of a given treatment. To exclude a possible interference of state-dependency effects, the animals should also be tested in the drugged state whenever no CPP (or CPA) was obtained in the undrugged test. Of course the CPP paradigm is no more than a model for reward and reinforcement processes. Thus, if a drug produces CPP, it does not necessarily have to be 'dismissed' as potentially addictive, and conversely, the lack of CPP does not mean that the drug is absolutely safe with respect to abuse potential. The motivational effects of drugs should be examined in all animal models available, each of which has its strengths but also its shortcomings. In the cases where this has been done in place preference conditioning as well as in self-administration and brain self-stimulation paradigms, usually a very good match was found for the results obtained with these different experimental procedures, and only combining and integrating the results of these different paradigms will yield valuable insight into the motivational properties of drugs and into the brain mechanisms of reward and reinforcement.

Acknowledgements—The author's work cited in and the preparation of this review was supported by the BMBF (Forschungsschwerpunkt Suchtforschung, Universität Tübingen, 01EB9420). Many thanks to Dr W. J. Schmidt for his help and support.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbott, F. V. and Franklin, K. B. (1991) Morphine-6-glucuronide contributes to rewarding effects of opiates. *Life Sci.* 48, 1157– 1163
- Ableitner, A. and Herz, A. (1989) Limbic brain structures are important sites of kappa-opioid receptor-mediated actions in the rat: a [14C]-2-deoxyglucose study. *Brain Res.* 478, 326–336.
- Abrahams, B. S., Rutherford, J. D., Mallet, P. E. and Beninger, R. J. (1998) Place conditioning with the dopamine D-1-like receptor agonist SKF 82958 but not SKF 81297 or SKF 77434. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 343, 111–118.
- Acquas, E. and Di Chiara, G. (1994) D1 receptor blockade stereospecifically impairs the acquisition of drug-conditioned place preference and place aversion. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 5, 555–569.
- Acquas, E., Carboni, E., Leone, P. and Di Chiara, G. (1988) 5-HT3 receptor antagonists block morphine- and nicotine- but not amphetamine-induced place-preference conditioning. *Pharmacol. Res. Commun.* 20, 1113–1114.
- Acquas, E., Carboni, E., Leone, P. and Di Chiara, G. (1989) SCH 23390 blocks drug-conditioned place-preference and place-aversion: anhedonia (lack of reward) or apathy (lack of motivation) after dopamine-receptor blockade? *Psychopharmacology* 99, 151–155.
- Acquas, E., Carboni, E., Garau, L. and Di Chiara, G. (1990) Blockade of acquisition of drug-conditioned place aversion by 5HT3 antagonists. *Psychopharmacology* **100**, 459–463.
- Advokat, C. (1985) Evidence of place conditioning after chronic intrathecal morphine in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 271–277.
- Agmo, A. and Berenfeld, R. (1990) Reinforcing properties of ejaculation in the male rat: role of opioids and dopamine. *Behav. Neurosci.* 104, 177–182.
- Agmo, A. and Gomez, M. (1991) Conditioned place preference produced by infusion of Met-enkephalin into the medial preoptic area. *Brain Res.* 550, 343–346.
- Agmo, A. and Gomez, M. (1993) Sexual reinforcement is blocked by infusion of naloxone into the medial preoptic area. *Behav. Neurosci.* 107, 812–818.
- Agmo, A. and Marroquin, E. (1997) Role of gustatory and postingestive actions of sweeteners in the generation of positive affect as evaluated by place preference conditioning. *Appetite* 29, 269–289.
- Agmo, A., Rojas, J. and Vazquez, P. (1992) Inhibitory effect of opiates on male rat sexual behavior may be mediated by opiate receptors outside the central nervous system. *Psychopharmacology* **107**, 89–96.
- Agmo, A., Federman, I., Navarro, V., Padua, M. and Velazquez, G. (1993) Reward and reinforcement produced by drinking water: role of opioids and dopamine receptor subtypes. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 46, 183–194.
- Agmo, A., Gomez, M. and Irazabal, Y. (1994) Enkephalinase inhibition facilitates sexual behavior in the male rat but does not produce conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 47, 771–778.
- Agmo, A., Galvan, A. and Talamantes, B. (1995) Reward and reinforcement produced by drinking sucrose: two processes that may depend on different neurotransmitters. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 52, 403–414.

- Aguiar, M. S. and Brandao, M. L. (1994) Conditioned place aversion produced by microinjections of substance P into the periaqueductal gray of rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 5, 369–373.
- Alexander, G. M., Packard, M. G. and Hines, M. (1994) Testosterone has rewarding affective properties in male rats: implications for the biological basis of sexual motivation. *Behav. Neurosci.* 108, 424–428.
- Ali, I. and Kelly, M. E. (1997) Buspirone fails to affect cocaineinduced conditioned place preference in the mouse. *Pharamcol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 311–315.
- Altman, J., Everitt, B. J., Glautier, S., Markou, A., Nutt, D., Oretti, R., Phillips, G. D. and Robbins, T. W. (1996) The biological, social and clinical bases of drug addiction: commentary and debate. *Psychopharmacology* 125, 285–345.
- Amalric, M., Cline, E. J., Martinez, J. L., Jr, Bloom, F. E. and Koob, G. F. (1987) Rewarding properties of beta-endorphin as measured by conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* 91, 14–19.
- Amit, Z. and Smith, B. R. (1985) A multi-dimensional examination of the positive reinforcing properties of acetaldehyde. *Alcohol* 2, 367–370.
- Asin, K. E. and Wirtshafter, D. (1985) Clonidine produces a conditioned place preference in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 85, 383– 385.
- Asin, K. E., Wirtshafter, D. and Tabakoff, B. (1985) Failure to establish a conditioned place preference with ethanol in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 169–173.
- Aulisi, E. F. and Hoebel, B. G. (1983) Rewarding effects of amphetamine and cocaine in the nucleus accumbens and block by alpha-flupenthixol. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 9, 121.
- Baker, D. A., Khroyan, T. V., O'Deell, L. E., Fuchs, R. A. and Neisewander, J. L. (1996) Differential effects of intra-accumbens sulpiride on cocaine-induced locomotion and conditioned place preference. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 279, 392–401.
- Bals-Kubik, R., Herz, A. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1988) Betaendorphin-(1-27) is a naturally occurring antagonist of the reinforcing effects of opioids. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 338, 392–396.
- Bals-Kubik, R., Herz, A. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1989) Evidence that the aversive effects of opioid antagonists and kappa-agonists are centrally mediated. *Psychopharmacology* 98, 203–206.
- Bals-Kubik, R., Shippenberg, T. S. and Herz, A. (1990) Involvement of central mu and delta opioid receptors in mediating the reinforcing effects of beta-endorphin in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **175**, 63–69.
- Bals-Kubik, R., Ableitner, A., Herz, A. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1993) Neuroanatomical sites mediating the motivational effects of opioids as mapped by the conditioned place preference paradigm in rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 264, 489–495.
- Bardo, M. T. (1998) Neuropharmacological mechanisms of drug reward: beyond dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.* **12**, 37–67.
- Bardo, M. T. and Neisewander, J. L. (1986) Single-trial conditioned place preference using intravenous morphine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 25, 1101–1105.
- Bardo, M. T. and Neisewander, J. L. (1987) Chronic naltrexone supersensitizes the reinforcing and locomotor-activating effects of morphine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 28, 267–273.
- Bardo, M. T., Neisewander, J. L. and Miller, J. S. (1986) Repeated testing attenuates conditioned place preference with cocaine. *Psychopharmacology* 89, 239–243.
- Bardo, M. T., Neisewander, J. L. and Pierce, R. C. (1989) Novelty-induced place preference behavior in rats: effects of opiate and dopaminergic drugs. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 32, 683–689.
- Bardo, M. T., Lacy, M. and Mattingly, B. A. (1990) Effects of apomorphine on novelty-induced place preference behavior in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 89–93.
- Bardo, M. T., Bowling, S. L., Robinet, P. M. and Rowlett, J. K. (1993) Role of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in novelty-maintained place preference. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 1, 101– 109.
- Bardo, M. T., Bowling, S. L., Rowlett, J. K., Manderscheid, P., Buxton, S. T. and Dwoskin, L. P. (1995a) Environmental enrichment attenuates locomotor sensitization, but not in vitro dopamine release, induced by amphetamine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 51, 397–405.
- Bardo, M. T., Rowlett, J. K. and Harris, M. J. (1995b) Conditioned place preference using opiate and stimulant drugs: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 19, 39-51.
- Bardo, M. T., Robinet, P. M. and Hammer, R. F. (1997) Effect of differential rearing environments on morphine-induced beha-

viors, opioid receptors and dopamine synthesis. Neuropharmacology 36, 251–259.

- Barr, G. A. and Rossi, G. (1992) Conditioned place preference from ventral tegmental injection of morphine in neonatal rats. *Dev. Brain Res.* 66, 133–136.
- Barr, G. A., Paredes, W. and Bridger, W. H. (1985) Place conditioning with morphine and phencyclidine: dose-dependent effects. *Life Sci.* 36, 363–368.
- Bauco, P. and Wise, R. A. (1994) Potentiation of lateral hypothalamic and midline mesencephalic brain stimulation reinforcement by nicotine: examination of repeated treatment. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 271, 294–301.
- Baumeister, A. A., Hurry, M., Curtis, W., Chaney, T. M., Wolf, E. and Leoni, R. R. (1993) The antinociceptive and motivational effects of intranigral injections of opioid agonists. *Neuropharmacology* 32, 1299–1303.
- Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1987) Kappa receptors mediate the peripheral aversive effects of opiates. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 28, 227–233.
- Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1989) The tegmental pedunculopontine nucleus: a brain-stem output of the limbic system critical for the conditioned place preferences produced by morphine and amphetamine. J. Neurosci. 9, 3400–3409.
- Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1992a) A single brain stem substrate mediates the motivational effects of both opiates and food in nondeprived rats but not in deprived rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 106, 351–363.
- Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1992b) Chronic exposure to morphine does not alter the neural tissues subserving its acute rewarding properties: Apparent tolerance is overshadowing. *Behav. Neurosci.* **106**, 364–373.
- Bechara, A., Zito, K. A. and van der Kooy, D. (1987) Peripheral receptors mediate the aversive conditioning effects of morphine in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 28, 219–225.
- Bechara, A., Harrington, F., Nader, K. and van der Kooy, D. (1992) Neurobiology of motivation: double dissociation of two motivational mechanisms mediating opiate reward in drug-naive versus drug-dependent animals. *Behav. Neurosci.* 106, 798–807.
- Bechara, A., Martin, G. M., Pridgar, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1993) The parabrachial nucleus: a brain stem substrate critical for mediating the aversive motivational effects of morphine. *Behav. Neurosci.* 107, 147–160.
- Bechara, A., Nader, K. and van der Kooy, D. (1995) Neurobiology of withdrawal motivation: evidence for two separate aversive effects produced in morphine-naive versus morphine-dependent rats by both naloxone and spontaneous withdrawal. *Behav. Neurosci.* 109, 91–105.
- Bell, S. M., Stewart, R. B., Thompson, S. C. and Meisch, R. A. (1997) Food deprivation increases cocaine-induced conditioned place preference and locomotor activity in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 131, 1–8.
- Beninger, R. J. (1989) Dissociating the effects of altered dopaminergic function on performance and learning. *Brain Res. Bull.* 23, 365–371.
- Beninger, R. J. and Miller, R. (1998) Dopamine D1-like receptors and reward-related incentive learning. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 22, 335–345.
- Beninger, R. J., Hoffman, D. C. and Mazurski, E. J. (1989) Receptor subtype-specific dopaminergic agents and conditioned behavior. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 13, 113–122.
- Bespalov, A. Y. (1996) The expression of both amphetamine conditioned place preference and pentylenetetrazol conditioned place aversion is attenuated by the NMDA receptor antagonist  $\pm$  CPP. Drug Alcohol Depend. **41**, 85–88.
- Bespalov, A., Dumpis, M., Piotrovsky, L. and Zvartau, E. (1994) Excitatory amino acid receptor antagonist kynurenic acid attenuates rewarding potential of morphine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 265, 233–239.
- Bevins, R. A., Klebaur, J. E. and Bardo, M. T. (1997) Individual differences in response to novelty, amphetamine-induced activity and drug discrimination in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 8, 113–123.
- Biala, G. and Langwinski, R. (1996a) Effects of calcium channel antagonists on the reinforcing properties of morphine, ethanol and cocaine as measured by place conditioning. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 47, 497–502.
- Biala, G. and Langwinski, R. (1996b) Rewarding properties of some drugs studied by place preference conditioning. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 48, 425–430.
- Bienkowski, P., Kuca, P. and Kostowski, W. (1995) Conditioned place preference after prolonged pre-exposure to ethanol. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 47, 189–191.

- Bienkowski, P., Kuca, P., Piasecki, J. and Kostowski, W. (1996) Low-dose ethanol induces conditioned place preference in rats after repeated exposures to ethanol or saline injections. *Alcohol Alcoholism* 31, 547–553.
- Bienkowski, P., Kuca, P., Piasecki, J. and Kostowski, W. (1997a) 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, tropisetron, does not influence ethanol-induced conditioned taste aversion and conditioned place aversion. *Alcohol* 14, 63–69.
- Bienkowski, P., Iwinska, K., Piasecki, J. and Kostowski, W. (1997b) 5,7-Dihydroxytryptamine lesion does not affect ethanolinduced conditioned taste and place aversion in rats. *Alcohol* 14, 439–443.
- Bilsky, E. J. and Reid, L. D. (1991) MDL72222, a serotonin 5-HT3 receptor antaginist, blocks MDMA's ability to establish a conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 39, 509–512.
- Bilsky, E. J., Marglin, S. H. and Reid, L. D. (1990a) Using antagonists to assess neurochemical coding of a drug's ability to establish a conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 425–431.
- Bilsky, E. J., Hui, Y. Z., Hubbell, C. L. and Reid, L. D. (1990b) Methylenedioxymethamphetamine's capacity to establish place preferences and modify intake of an alcoholic beverage. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 633–638.
- Bilsky, E. J., Hubbell, C. L., Delconte, J. D. and Reid, L. D. (1991) MDMA produces a conditioned place preference and elicits ejaculation in male rats: a modulatory role for the endogenous opioids. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 40, 443–447.
- Bilsky, E. J., Montegut, M. J., Delong, C. L. and Reid, L. D. (1992) Opioidergic modulation of cocaine conditioned place preferences. *Life Sci.* 50, PL85–90.
- Bilsky, E. J., Montegut, M. J., Nichols, M. L. and Reid, L. D. (1998) CGS 10746B, a novel dopamine release inhibitor, blocks the establishment of cocaine and MDMA conditioned place preferences. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 215–220.
- Bisaga, A., Sikora, J. and Kostowski, W. (1993) The effects of drugs interacting with serotonergic 5HT3 and 5HT4 receptors on morphine place conditioning. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 45, 513– 519.
- Bischoff, C. and Tiedtke, P. I. (1992) Competitive and non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonists in spatial learning tasks. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 213, 269–273.
- Boix, F., Sandor, P., Nogueira, P. J., Huston, J. P. and Schwarting, R. K. (1995) Relationship between dopamine release in nucleus accumbens and place preference induced by substance P injected into the nucleus basalis magnocellularis region. *Neuroscience* 64, 1045–1055.
- Bolanos, C. A., Garmsen, G. M., Clair, M. A. and McDougall, S. A. (1996) Effects of the kappa-opioid receptor agonist U 50 488 on morphine-induced place preference conditioning in the developing rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 317, 1–8.
- Borisova, E. V. and Sudakov, S. K. (1995) Thyrotropin-releasing hormone in the mechanisms of resistance and development of dependence on morphine. *Zh. Vyssh. Nerv. Deyat. Im. 1.P. Pavlova* 45, 1174–1181.
- Bormann, N. M. and Cunningham, C. L. (1998) Ethanol-conditioned place aversion in rats: effect of interstimulus interval. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 427–432.
- Borsini, F., Brambilla, A., Cesana, R. and Donetti, A. (1993) The effect of DAU 6215, a novel 5HT-3 antagonist, in animal models of anxiety. *Pharmacol. Res.* 27, 151–164.
- Bowling, S. L. and Bardo, M. T. (1994) Locomotor and rewarding effects of amphetamine in enriched, social, and isolate reared rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 48, 459–464.
   Bozarth, M. A. (1987a) Neuroanatomical boundaries of the
- Bozarth, M. A. (1987a) Neuroanatomical boundaries of the reward-relevant opiate-receptor field in the ventral tegmental area as mapped by the conditioned place preference method in rats. *Brain Res.* 414, 77–84.
- Bozarth, M. A. (1987b) Conditioned place preference: a parametric analysis using systemic heroin injections. In: *Methods of Assessing the Reinforcing Properties of Abused Drugs*, pp. 241– 273. Ed. M. A. Bozarth. Springer Verlag: New York.
- Bozarth, M. A. (1990) Evidence for the rewarding effects of ethanol using the conditioned place preference method. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 35, 485–487.
- Brockwell, N. T. and Beninger, R. J. (1996) The differential role of A1 and A2 adenosine receptor subtypes in locomotor activity and place conditioning in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 373–383.
- Brockwell, N. T., Eikelboom, R. and Beninger, R. J. (1991) Caffeine-induced place and taste conditioning: production of dose-dependent preference and aversion. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 38, 513–517.

- Brockwell, N. T., Ferguson, D. S. and Beninger, R. J. (1996) A computerized system for the simultaneous monitoring of place conditioning and locomotor activity in rats. J. Neurosci. Meth. 64, 227–232.
- Bronson, M. E., Wages, T. D., Beddingfield, T. and Horner, J. M. (1996) Morphine, MDMA, MDA, and Nexus produce a conditioned place preference in newly hatched chickens. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 4, 354–362.
- Brown, E. E. and Fibiger, H. C. (1993) Differential effects of excitotoxic lesions of the amygdala on cocaine-induced conditioned locomotion and conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* **113**, 123–130.
- Brown, E. E., Finlay, J. M., Wong, J. T., Damsma, G. and Fibiger, H. C. (1991) Behavioral and neurochemical interactions between cocaine and buprenorphine: implications for the pharmacotherapy of cocaine abuse. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 256, 119–126.
- Cabib, S., Puglisi-Allegra, S., Genua, C., Simon, H., Le Moal, M. and Piazza, P. V. (1996) Dose-dependent aversive and rewarding effects of amphetamine as revealed by a new place conditioning apparatus. *Psychopharmacology* **125**, 92–96.
- Cador, M., Ahmed, S. H., Koob, G. F., Le Moal, M. and Stinus, L. (1992) Corticotropin-releasing factor induces a place aversion independent of its neuroendocrine role. *Brain Res.* 597, 304– 309.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1991) Conditioned place aversion following the central administration of a novel dopamine release inhibitor CGS 10746B. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 40, 255–259.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1992a) Reducing the time needed to conduct conditioned place preference testing. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 16, 969–976.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1992b) Place conditioning reveals the rewarding aspect of social interaction in juvenile rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 51, 667–672.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1993a) Extinction of cocaine-induced place approach in rats: a validation of the 'biased' conditioning procedure. *Brain Res. Bull.* **30**, 695–700.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1993b) Place preference for the psychostimulant cathinone is blocked by pretreatment with a dopamine release inhibitor. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 17, 637–649.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1994a) Isradipine produces neither a conditioned place preference nor aversion. *Life Sci.* 54, PL81–86.
- Calcagnetti, D. J. and Schechter, M. D. (1994b) Nicotine place preference using the biased method of conditioning. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 18, 925–933.
- Calcagnetti, D. J., Keck, B. J., Quatrella, L. A. and Schechter, M. D. (1995) Blockade of cocaine-induced conditioned place preference: relevance to cocaine abuse therapeutics. *Life Sci.* 56, 475–483.
- Calcagnetti, D. J., Quatrella, L. A. and Schechter, M. D. (1996) Olfactory bulbectomy disrupts the expression of cocaineinduced conditioned place preference. *Physiol. Behav.* 59, 597– 604.
- Caldarone, B. J., Stock, H. S., Abrahamsen, G. C., Boechler, M. L., Svare, B. B. and Rosellini, R. A. (1996) Nonassociative processes and place preferences conditioned by testosterone. *Psychol. Rec.* 46, 373–390.
- Carboni, E., Acquas, E., Leone, P., Perezzani, L. and Di Chiara, G. (1988) 5-HT3 receptor antagonists block morphine- and nicotine-induced place-preference conditioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 151, 159–160.
- Carboni, E., Acquas, E., Leone, P. and Di Chiara, G. (1989) SHT3 receptor antagonists block morphine- and nicotine- but not amphetamine-induced reward. *Psychopharmacology* 97, 175– 178.
- Carey, R. J. and Damianopoulos, E. N. (1994) Caffeine effects on motoric stimulation, reward and corticosterone. *Pharmacopsychoecologia* 7, 137–150.
- Carlezon, W. A., Jr and Wise, R. A. (1993a) Morphine-induced potentiation of brain stimulation reward is enhanced by MK-801. Brain Res. 620, 339–342.
- Carlezon, W. A., Jr and Wise, R. A. (1993b) Phencyclidineinduced potentiation of brain stimulation reward: acute effects are not altered by repeated administration. *Psychopharmacology* 111, 402–408.
- Carlezon, W. A., Jr, Mendrek, A. and Wise, R. A. (1995) MK-801 disrupts the expression but not the development of bromocriptine sensitization: a state-dependency interpretation. *Synapse* 20, 1–9.

- Carney, J. M., Cheng, M.-S., Wu, C. and Seale, T. W. (1991) Issues surrounding the assessment of the genetic determinants of drugs as reinforcing stimuli. J. Addict. Dis. 10, 163–177.
- Carr, G. D. and White, N. M. (1986) Anatomical disassociation of amphetamine's rewarding and aversive effects: an Intracranial microinjection study. *Psychopharmacology* 89, 340–346.
- Carr, G. D., Phillips, A. G. and Fibiger, H. C. (1988) Independence of amphetamine reward from locomotor stimulation demonstrated by conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* 94, 221–226.
- Carr, G. D., Fibiger, H. C. and Phillips, A. G. (1989) Conditioned place preference as a measure of drug reward. In: *The Neuropharmacological Basis of Reward*, pp. 264–319. Eds. J. M. Liebman, S. J. Cooper. Clarendon Press: Oxford.
- Cervo, L. and Samanin, R. (1995) Effects of dopaminergic and glutamatergic antagonists on the acquisition and expression of cocaine conditioning place preference. *Brain Res.* 673, 242–250.
- Cervo, L., Rossi, C. and Samanin, R. (1993) Clonidine-induced place preference is mediated by alpha 2-adrenoceptors outside the locus coeruleus. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 238, 201–207.
- Cervo, L., Pozzi, L. and Samanin, R. (1996) 5-HT3 receptor antagonists do not modify cocaine place conditioning or the rise in extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens of rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 55, 33–37.
- Cervo, L., Mukherjee, S., Bertaglia, A. and Samanin, R. (1997) Protein kinases A and C are involved in the mechanisms underlying consolidation of cocaine place conditioning. *Brain Res.* 775, 30–36.
- Chaperon, F. and Thiebot, M. H. (1996) Effects of dopaminergic D3-receptor-preferring ligands on the acquisition of place conditioning in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 105–109.
- Chaperon, F., Soubrie, P., Puech, A. J. and Thiebot, M. H. (1998) Involvement of central cannabinoid (CB1) receptors in the establishment of place conditioning in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 135, 324–332.
- Cheeta, S., Broekkamp, C. and Willner, P. (1994) Stereospecific reversal of stress-induced anhedonia by mianserin and its (+)enantiomer. *Psychopharmacology* 116, 523–528.
- Chester, J. A. and Cunningham, C. L. (1998) Modulation of corticosterone does not affect the acquisition or expression of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in DBA/2J mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 67–75.
- Chester, J. A., Risinger, F. O. and Cunningham, C. L. (1998) Ethanol reward and aversion in mice bred for sensitivity to ethanol withdrawal. *Alcoholism—Clin. Exp. Res.* 22, 468–473.
- Clark, P. B., White, N. M. and Franklin, K. B. (1990) 6-Hydroxydopamine lesions of the olfactory tubercle do not alter (+)-amphetamine-conditioned place preference. *Behav. Brain Res.* 36, 185–188.
- Collu, M., Pani, L., Gessa, G. L. and Serra, G. (1994) Chronic imipramine potentiates cocaine-induced CPP. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 46, 315–315.
- Collu, M., Poggiu, A. S. and Serra, G. (1996) Antidepressants sensitize the dopamine mesolimbic system mediating reward. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7(Suppl. 1), 18–19.
- Collu, M., Poggiu, A. S., Pani, L. and Serra, G. (1997) Fluoxetine-induced conditioned place preference: a preliminary study. *Synapse* 25, 309–311.
- Contarino, A., Zanotti, A., Drago, F., Natolino, F., Lipartiti, M. and Giusti, P. (1997) Conditioned place preference: no tolerance to the rewarding properties of morphine. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 355, 589–594.
- Corbett, D. (1991) Cocaine enhances the reward value of medial prefrontal cortex self-stimulation. *Neuroreport* **2**, 805–808.
- Corcoran, M. E., Lanius, R. and Duren, A. (1992) Reinforcing and punishing consequences of kindling. *Epilepsy Res.* 13, 179– 186.
- Corrigall, W. A. and Linseman, M. A. (1988) Conditioned place preference produced by intra-hippocampal morphine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 30, 787–789.
- Costello, N. L., Carlson, J. N., Glick, S. D. and Bryda, M. (1989)
   Dose-dependent and baseline-dependent conditioning with damphetamine in the place conditioning paradigm. *Psychopharmacology* 99, 244–247.
   Coudereau, J. P., Debray M. Martin, T. -
- Coudereau, J. P., Debray, M., Monier, C., Bourre, J. M. and Frances, H. (1997) Isolation impairs place preference conditioning to morphine but not aversive learning in mice. *Psychopharmacology* **130**, 117–123.

- Coventry, T. L., D'Aquila, P. S., Brain, P. and Willner, P. (1997) Social influences on morphine conditioned place preference. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 8, 575–584.
- Crabbe, J. C., Phillips, T. J., Cunningham, C. L. and Belknap, J. K. (1992) Genetic determinants of ethanol reinforcement. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* **654**, 302–310.
- Cramer, C. M., Gardell, L. R., Boedeker, K. L., Harris, J. R., Hubbell, C. L. and Reid, L. D. (1998) Isradipine combined with naltrexone persistently reduces the reward-relevant effects of cocaine and alcohol. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **60**, 345–356.
- Crawford, C. A., McDougall, S. A., Bolanos, C. A., Hall, S. and Berger, S. P. (1995) The effects of the kappa agonist U-50 488 on cocaine-induced conditioned and unconditioned behaviors and Fos immunoreactivity. *Psychopharmacology* **120**, 392–399.
- Crowder, W. F. and Hutto, C. W., Jr. (1992a) Operant place conditioning measures examined using two nondrug reinforcers. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 41, 817–824.
- Crowder, W. F. and Hutto, C. W., Jr. (1992b) Operant place conditioning measures examined using morphine reinforcement. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 41, 825–835.
- Cunningham, C. L. (1995) Localization of genes influencing ethanol-induced conditioned place preference and locomotor activity in BXD recombinant inbred mice. *Psychopharmacology* **120**, 28– 41.
- Cunningham, C. L. and Niehus, J. S. (1993) Drug-induced hypothermia and conditioned place aversion. *Behav. Neurosci.* 107, 468–479.
- Cunningham, C. L. and Noble, D. (1992a) Conditioned activation induced by ethanol: role in sensitization and conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 43, 307–313.
- Cunningham, C. L. and Noble, D. (1992b) Methamphetamineinduced conditioned place preference or aversion depending on dose and presence of drug. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 654, 431–433.
- Cunningham, C. L. and Prather, L. K. (1992) Conditioning trial duration affects ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Anim. Learn. Behav.* 20, 187–194.
- Cunningham, C. L., Hallett, C. L., Niehus, D. R., Hunter, J. S., Nouth, L. and Risinger, F. O. (1991) Assessment of ethanols's hedonic effects in mice selectively bred for sensitivity to ethanolinduced hypothermia. *Psychopharmacology* **105**, 84–92.
- Cunningham, C. L., Malott, D. H., Dickinson, S. D. and Risinger, F. O. (1992a) Haloperidol does not alter expression of ethanolinduced conditioned place preference. *Behav. Brain Res.* 50, 1–5.
- Cunningham, C. L., Niehus, D. R., Malott, D. H. and Prather, L. K. (1992b) Genetic differences in the rewarding and activating effects of morphine and ethanol. *Psychopharmacology* **107**, 385–393.
- Cunningham, C. L., Niehus, J. S. and Noble, D. (1993) Species difference in sensitivity to ethanol's hedonic effects. *Alcohol* 10, 97–102.
- Cunningham, C. L., Dickinson, S. D. and Okorn, D. M. (1995) Naloxone facilitates extinction but does not affect acquisition or expression of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 3, 330–343.
- Cunningham, C. L., Okorn, D. M. and Howard, C. E. (1997) Interstimulus interval determines whether ethanol produces conditioned place preference or aversion in mice. *Anim. Learn. Behav.* 25, 31–42.
- Dai, H. and Carey, R. J. (1994) The NMDA antagonist MK-801 can impair attention to exteroceptive stimuli. *Behav. Brain Res.* 62, 149–156.
- D'Aquila, P., Monleon, S., Borsini, F., Brain, P. and Willner, P. (1997) Anti-anhedonic actions of the novel serotonergic agent flibanserin, a potential rapidly-acting antidepressant. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 340, 121–132.
- Davies, A. M. and Parker, L. A. (1993) Fenfluramine-induced place aversion in a three-choice apparatus. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 44, 595–600.
- Davies, B. T. and Parker, L. A. (1990) Novel versus familiar ethanol: a comparison of aversive and rewarding properties. *Alcohol* 7, 523–529.
- De Beun, R., Geerts, N. E., Jansen, E., Slangen, J. L. and van de Poll, N. E. (1991a) Luteinizing hormone-releasing hormoneinduced conditioned place-preference in male rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 39, 143–147.
- De Beun, R., Jansen, E., Smeets, M. A., Niesing, J., Slangen, J. L. and van de Poll, N. E. (1991b) Estradiol-induced conditioned taste aversion and place aversion in rats: sex- and dose-dependent effects. *Physiol. Behav.* 50, 995–1000.
- De Beun, R., Jansen, E., Geerts, N. E., Slangen, J. L. and van de Poll, N. E. (1992a) Temporal characteristics of appetitive stimu-

lus effects of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone in male rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **42**, 445–450.

- De Beun, R., Jansen, E., Slangen, J. L. and van de Poll, N. E. (1992b) Testosterone as appetitive and discriminative stimulus in rats: sex- and dose-dependent effects. *Physiol. Behav.* **52**, 629–634.
- De Beun, R., Lohmann, A. and DeVry, J. (1996a) Conditioned taste aversion and place preference induced by the calcium channel antagonist nimodipine in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 657–663.
- De Beun, R., Lohmann, A., Kuhl, E., Dalmus, M., Schreiber, R. and Devry, J. (1996b) Stimulus properties of the L-type calcium channel agonist Bay K 8644 in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 346–354.
- Dell'Omo, G., Laviola, G., Chiarotti, F., Alleva, E. and Bignami, G. (1993) Prenatal oxazepam effects on cocaine conditioned place preference in developing mice. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 15, 207–210.
- Dell'Omo, G., Fiore, M., Petruzzi, S., Alleva, E. and Bignami, G. (1995) Neurobehavioral development of CD-1 mice after combined gestational and postnatal exposure to ozone. *Arch. Toxicol.* **69**, 608–616.
- DelPozo, E., Barrios, M. and Baeyens, J. M. (1996) The NMDA receptor antagonist dizocilpine (MK-801) stereoselectively inhibits morphine-induced place preference conditioning in mice. *Psychopharmacology* **125**, 209–213.
- De Lucia, R., Planeta, C. S., Aizenstein, M. L. and Scavone, C. (1997) Repeated administration intensifies the reinforcing effect of fencamfamine in rats. *Gen. Pharmacol.* 29, 265–267.
- Devine, D. P., Reinscheid, R. K., Monsma, F. J., Civelli, O. and Akil, H. (1996) The novel neuropeptide orphanin FQ fails to produce conditioned place preference or aversion. *Brain Res.* 727, 225–229.
- De Vries, T. J., Babovic-Vuksanovic, D., Elmer, G. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1995) Lack of involvement of delta-opioid receptors in mediating the rewarding effects off cocaine. *Psychopharmacology* **120**, 442–448.
- De Witte, P. and Gewiss, M. (1987) Preference and aversion for brain stimulation estimated by the conditioned place preference. *Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochem.* 95, 147–152.
- Dickinson, S. D. and Cunningham, C. L. (1998) Altered ambient temperature and ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Alcohol* 16, 13–18.
- Di Scala, G. and Sandner, G. (1989a) Conditioned place aversion produced by microinjections of semicarbazide into the periaqueductal gray of the rat. *Brain Res.* **483**, 91–97.
- Di Scala, G. and Sandner, G. (1989b) Conditioned place aversion produced by FG 7142 is attenuated by haloperidol. *Psychopharmacology* 99, 176–180.
- Di Scala, G., Martin-Iverson, M. T., Phillips, A. G. and Fibiger, H. C. (1985) The effects of progabide (SL 76002) on locomotor activity and conditioned place preference induced by d-amphetamine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 107, 271–274.
- Di Scala, G., Oberling, P., Rocha, B. and Sandner, G. (1992) Conditioned place preference induced by Ro 16-6028, a benzodiazepine receptor partial agonist. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 41, 859–862.
- Durazzo, T. C., Gauvin, D. V., Goulden, K. L., Briscoe, R. J. and Holloway, F. A. (1994) Cocaine-induced conditioned place approach in rats: the role of dose and route of administration. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 49, 1001–1005.
- Duvauchelle, C. L. and Ettenberg, A. (1991) Haloperidol attenuates conditioned place preferences produced by electrical stimulation of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 38, 645–650.
- Duvauchelle, C. L., Levitin, M., MacConell, L. A., Lee, L. K. and Ettenberg, A. (1992a) Opposite effects of prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens infusions of flupenthixol on stimulantinduced locomotion and brain stimulation reward. *Brain Res.* 576, 104–110.
- Duvauchelle, C. L., MacConell, L. A., Eremia, A. D. and Ettenberg, A. (1992b) Pimozide prevents the development of conditioned place preferences induced by rewarding locus coeruleus stimulation. *Behav. Brain Res.* 50, 85–92.
- Dymshitz, J. and Lieblich, I. (1987) Opiate reinforcement and naloxone aversion, as revealed by place preference paradigm, in two strains of rats. *Psychopharmacology* **92**, 473–477.
- Elliott, P. J. (1988) Place aversion induced by the substance P analogue, dimethyl-C7, is not state dependent: implication of substance P in aversion. *Exp. Brain Res.* **73**, 354–356.
- Erb, S. M. and Parker, L. A. (1994) Individual differences in novelty-induced activity do not predict strength of amphet-

amine-induced place conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **48**, 581–586.

- Ettenberg, A. (1989) Dopamine, neuroleptics and reinforced behavior. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 13, 105–111.
- Ettenberg, A. and Duvauchelle, C. L. (1988) Haloperidol blocks the conditioned place preferences induced by rewarding brain stimulation. *Behav. Neurosci.* **102**, 687–691.
- Everitt, B. J., Morris, K. A., O'Brien, A. and Robbins, T. W. (1991) The basolateral amygdala-ventral striatal system and conditioned place preference: further evidence of limbic-striatal interactions underlying reward-related processes. *Neuroscience* 42, 1–18.
- Fantino, M. and Wieteska, L. (1993) Evidence for a direct central anorectic effect of tumor-necrosis-factor-alpha in the rat. *Physiol. Behav.* 53, 477–483.
- File, S. E. (1986) Aversive and appetitive properties of anxiogenic and anxiolytic agents. *Behav. Brain Res.* **21**, 189–194.
- Finlay, J. M., Jakubovic, A., Phillips, A. G. and Fibiger, H. C. (1988) Fentanyl-induced conditional place preference: lack of associated conditional neurochemical events. *Psychopharmacology* 96, 534–540.
- Psychopharmacology 96, 534-540.
  Finn, D. A., Phillips, T. J., Okorn, D. M., Chester, J. A. and Cunningham, C. L. (1997) Rewarding effect of the neuroactive steroid 3-alpha-hydroxy-5-alpha-pregnan-20-one in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 56, 261–264.
- Fleming, A. S., Korsmit, M. and Deller, M. (1994) Rat pups are potent reinforcers to the maternal animal: Effects of experience, parity, hormones, and dopamine function. *Psychobiology* 22, 44–53.
- Fletcher, P. J., Ming, Z. H. and Higgins, G. A. (1993) Conditioned place preference induced by microinjection of 8-OH-DPAT into the median raphe nucleus. *Psychopharmacology* 113, 31–36.
- Foltin, R. W. and Evans, S. M. (1997) A novel protocol for studying food or drug seeking in rhesus monkeys. *Psychopharmacology* **132**, 209–216.
- Franklin, K. B. J. (1998) Analgesia and abuse potential: an accidential association or a common substrate? *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 993–1002.
- Frisch, C., Hasenöhrl, R. U., Mattern, C. M., Hacker, R. and Huston, J. P. (1995) Blockade of lithium chloride-induced conditioned plave aversion as a test for antiemetic agents: comparison of metoclopramide with combined extracts of Zingiber officinale and Ginkgo biloba. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 52, 321–327.
- Fudala, P. J. and Iwamoto, E. T. (1986) Further studies on nicotine-induced conditioned place preference in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 25, 1041–1049.
- Fudala, P. J. and Iwamoto, E. T. (1987) Conditioned aversion after delay conditioning with nicotine. *Psychopharmacology* 92, 376–381.
- Fudala, P. J. and Iwamoto, E. T. (1990) Conditioned aversion after delay place conditioning with amphetamine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 35, 89–92.
- Fudala, P. J., Teoh, K. W. and Iwamoto, E. T. (1985) Pharmacologic characterization of nicotine-induced conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 237–241.
- Funada, M. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1996) Differential involvement of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in the expression of morphine withdrawal signs in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 448– 453.
- Funada, M., Suzuki, T., Narita, M., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1993) Blockade of morphine reward through the activation of kappa-opioid receptors in mice. *Neuropharmacology* **32**, 1315– 1323.
- Funada, M., Schutz, C. G. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1996) Role of delta-opioid receptors in mediating the aversive stimulus effects of morphine withdrawal in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **300**, 17– 24.
- Gagin, R., Kook, N., Cohen, E. and Shavit, Y. (1997) Prenatal morphine enhances morphine conditioned place preference in adult rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 525–528.
- Gaiardi, M., Bartoletti, M., Bacchi, A., Gubellini, C. and Babbini, M. (1987) Increased sensitivity to the stimulus properties of morphine in food-deprived rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 26, 719–723.
- Gaiardi, M., Bartoletti, M., Bacchi, A., Gubellini, C., Costa, M. and Babbini, M. (1991) Role of repeated exposure to morphine in determining its affective properties: place and taste conditioning studies. *Psychopharmacology* 103, 183–186.
- Gaiardi, M., Bartoletti, M., Bacchi, A., Gubellini, C. and Babbini, M. (1997) Motivational properties of buprenorphine as assessed

by place and taste conditioning in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **130**, 104–108.

- Gaiardi, M., Bartoletti, M., Gubellini, C., Bacchi, A. and Babbini, M. (1998) Modulation of the stimulus effects of morphine by damphetamine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 249–253.
- Gatley, S. J., Meehan, S. M., Chen, R., Pan, D. F., Schechter, M. D. and Dewey, S. L. (1996) Place preference and microdialysis studies with two derivatives of methylphenidate. *Life Sci.* 58, PL345–352.
- Gauvin, D. V. and Holloway, F. A. (1992) Historical factors in the development of ETOH-conditioned place preference. *Alcohol* 9, 1–7.
- Gauvin, D. V., Dormer, K. N. and Holloway, F. A. (1991) Pentylenetetrazole can induce a conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 40, 987–990.
- Gauvin, D. V., Briscoe, R. J., Goulden, K. L. and Holloway, F. A. (1994) Aversive attributes of ethanol can be attenuated by dyadic social interaction in the rat. *Alcohol* 11, 247–251.
- Gauvin, D. V., Briscoe, R. J., Baird, T. J., Vallett, M. and Holloway, F. A. (1997) The paradoxical hedonic valence of acute ethanol withdrawal (hangover) states in rats: place and taste conditioning. *Alcohol* 14, 261–268.
- Gerhardt, P., Hasenöhrl, R. U., Hock, F. J. and Huston, J. P. (1993) Mnemogenic effects of injecting RA-octil, a CE-inhibitor derivate, systemically or into the basal forebrain. *Psychopharmacology* **111**, 442–448.
- Gerhardt, P., Voits, M., Fink, H. and Huston, J. P. (1994) Evidence for mnemotropic action of cholecystokinin fragments Boc-CCK-4 and CCK-8S. *Peptides* 15, 689–697.
- Gerrits, M. A., Patkina, N., Zvartau, E. E. and van Ree, J. M. (1995) Opioid blockade attenuates acquisition and expression of cocaine-induced place preference conditioning in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **119**, 92–98.
- Gevaerd, M. S. and Takahashi, R. N. (1996) Interaction of mazindol with alcohol in mice. *Addict. Biol.* 1, 303–307.
- Goeders, N. E. and Smith, J. E. (1983) Cortical dopaminergic involvement in cocaine reinforcement. *Science* 221, 773–775.
- Goeders, N. E. and Smith, J. E. (1986) Reinforcing properties of cocaine in the medial prefrontal cortex: primary action on presynaptic dopaminergic terminals. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 25, 191–199.
- Gong, W. H., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1995) Increased sensitivity to cocaine place-preference conditioning by septal lesions in rats. *Brain Res.* 683, 221–227.
- Gong, W. H., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1996a) Locomotor response to novelty does not predict cocaine place preference conditioning in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 191–196.
- Gong, W. H., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1996b) Conditioned place preference and locomotor activation produced by injection of psychostimulants into ventral pallidum. *Brain Res.*, 707, 64–74.
- Gong, W. H., Justice, J. B., Jr. and Neill, D. B. (1997a) Dissociation of locomotor and conditioned place preference responses following manipulation of GABA A and AMPA receptors in ventral pallidum. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 21, 839–852.
- Gong, W. H., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1997b) 6-Hydroxydopamine lesion of ventral pallidum blocks acquisition of place preference conditioning to cocaine. *Brain Res.* 754, 103–112.
- Guyon, A., Assouly-Besse, F., Biala, G., Puech, A. J. and Thiebot, M. H. (1993) Potentiation by low doses of selected neuroleptics of food-induced conditioned place preference in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **110**, 460–466.
- Hand, T. H., Koob, G. F., Stinus, L. and Le Moal, M. (1988) Aversive properties of opiate receptor blockade: evidence for exclusively central mediation in naive and morphine-dependent rats. *Brain Res.* 474, 364–368.
- Hand, T. H., Stinus, L. and Le Moal, M. (1989) Differential mechanisms in the acquisition and expression of heroin-induced place preference. *Psychopharmacology* **98**, 61–67.
- Hansen, S. (1993) Effect of clonidine on the responsiveness of infant rats to maternal stimuli. *Psychopharmacology* 111, 78–84.
- Harrington, F. and van der Kooy, D. (1992) Deprivation state determines the motivational effects of neuroleptics in rats. *Psychobiology* 20, 294–299.
- Harris, G. C. and Aston-Jones, G. (1993) Beta-adrenergic antagonists attenuate somatic and aversive signs of opiate withdrawal. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 9, 303–311.

- Harris, G. C. and Aston-Jones, G. (1994) Involvement of D2 dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens in the opiate withdrawal syndrome. *Nature* 371, 155–157.
- Hasenöhrl, R. U., Oitzl, M. S. and Huston, J. P. (1989) Conditioned place preference in the corral: a procedure for measuring reinforcing properties of drugs. J. Neurosci. Meth. 30, 141–146.
- Hasenöhrl, R. U., Gerhardt, P. and Huston, J. P. (1991) Naloxone blocks conditioned place preference induced by substance P and [pGlu6]-SP(6-11). *Regul. Pept.* 35, 177–187.
- Hasenöhrl, R. U., Gerhardt, P. and Huston, J. P. (1992) Positively reinforcing effects of the neurokinin substance P in the basal forebrain: mediation by its C-terminal sequence. *Exp. Neurol.* 115, 282–291.
- Hasenöhrl, R. U., Frisch, C. and Huston, J. P. (1998) Evidence for anatomical specificity for the reinforcing effects of SP in the nucleus basalis magnocellularis. *Neuroreport* 9, 7–10.
- Healey, P. A., McGregor, I. S., Balleine, B. W. and Atrens, D. M. (1989) Environment-specific conditioning produced by electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus. *Physiol. Behav.* 46, 907–912.
- Heinrichs, S. C. and Martinez, J. L., Jr (1986) Modification of place preference conditioning in mice by systemically administered [Leu]enkephalin. *Behav. Brain Res.* 22, 249–255.
- Heinrichs, S. C., Menzaghi, F., Schulteis, G., Koob, G. F. and Stinus, L. (1995) Suppression of corticotropin-releasing factor in the amygdala attenuates aversive consequences of morphine withdrawal. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 6, 74–80.
- Hemby, S. E., Jones, G. H., Justice, J. B., Jr. and Neill, D. B. (1992a) Conditioned locomotor activity but not conditioned place preference following intra-accumbens infusions of cocaine. *Psychopharmacology* **106**, 330–336.
- Hemby, S. E., Jones, G. H., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1992b) 6-Hydroxydopamine lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex fail to influence cocaine-induced place conditioning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 49, 225–230.
- Hemby, S. E., Jones, G. H., Hubert, G. W., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr. (1994) Assessment of the relative contribution of peripheral and central components in cocaine place conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 47, 973–979.
- Heyser, C. J., Miller, J. S., Spear, N. E. and Spear, L. P. (1992) Prenatal exposure to cocaine disrupts cocaine-induced conditioned place preference in rats. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 14, 57– 64.
- Higgins, G. A., Nguyen, P., Joharchi, N. and Sellers, E. M. (1991a) Effects of 5-HT3 receptor antagonists on behavioral measures of naloxone-precipitated opioid withdrawal. *Psychopharmacology* **105**, 322–328.
- Higgins, G. A., Nguyen, P. and Sellers, E. M. (1991b) Blockade of morphine place conditioning by the CCK-A receptor antagonist devazepide. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 197, 229–230.
- Higgins, G. A., Joharchi, N., Nguyen, P. and Sellers, E. M. (1992a) Effect of the 5-HT3 receptor antagonists, MDL72222 and ondansetron on morphine place conditioning. *Psychopharamcology* **106**, 315–320.
- Higgins, G. A., Nguyen, P. and Sellers, E. M. (1992b) The NMDA antagonist dizocilpine (MK801) attenuates motivational as well as somatic aspects of naloxone-precipitated opioid withdrawal. *Life Sci.* **50**, PL167–172.
- Higgins, G. A., Nguyen, P. and Sellers, E. M. (1992c) Morphine place conditioning is differentially affected by CCK-A and CCK-B receptor antagonists. *Brain Res.* **572**, 208–215.
- Higgins, G. A., Joharchi, N. and Sellers, E. M. (1993) Behavioral effects of the 5-hydroxytryptamine3 receptor agonists 1-phenylbiguanide and m-chlorophenylbiguanide in rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 264, 1440–1449.
- Hinson, R. E., Wall, A.-M. and Swayze, I. G. (1991) Place avoidance conditioning with D-amphetamine: The effect of screening and the use of preferred and non-preferred sides. J. Psychopharmacol. 5, 207–214.
- Hinson, R. E., McKee, S. A., Lovenjak, T. and Wall, A.-M. (1993) The effect of the CS-UCS interval and extinction on place conditioning and analgesic tolerance with morphine. J. Psychopharmacol. 7, 164–172.
- Hiroi, N. and White, N. M. (1990) The reserpine-sensitive dopamine pool mediates (+)-amphetamine-conditioned reward in the place preference paradigm. *Brain Res.* **510**, 33–42.
- Hiroi, N. and White, N. M. (1991a) The amphetamine conditioned place preference: differential involvement of dopamine receptor subtypes and two dopaminergic terminal areas. *Brain Res.* 552, 141–152.

- Hiroi, N. and White, N. M. (1991b) The lateral nucleus of the amygdala mediates expression of the amphetamine-produced conditioned place preference. J. Neurosci. 11, 2107–2116.
- Hiroi, N. and White, N. M. (1993) The ventral pallidum area is involved in the acquisition but not expression of the amphetamine conditioned place preference. *Neurosci. Lett.* 156, 9–12.
- Hiroi, N., Brown, J. R., Haile, C. N., Ye, H., Greenberg, M. E. and Nestler, E. J. (1997) Fos-B mutant mice: loss of chronic cocaine induction of Fos-related proteins and heightened sensitivity to cocaine's psychomotor and rewarding effects. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94, 10397–10402.
- Hoffman, D. C. (1989) The use of place conditioning in studying the neuropharmacology of drug reinforcement. *Brain Res. Bull.* 23, 373–387.
- Hoffman, D. C. (1994) The noncompetitive NMDA antagonist MK-801 fails to block amphetamine-induced place conditioning in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 47, 907–912.
- Hoffman, D. C. and Beninger, R. J. (1988) Selective D1 and D2 dopamine agonists produce opposing effects in place conditioning but not in conditioned taste aversion learning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* **31**, 1–8.
- Hoffman, D. C. and Beninger, R. J. (1989) The effects of selective dopamine D1 or D2 receptor antagonists on the establishment of agonist-induced place conditioning in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 33, 273–279.
- Hoffman, D. C. and Donovan, H. (1995) Effects of typical, atypical, and novel antipsychotic drugs on amphetamine-induced place conditioning in rats. *Drug Develop. Res.* 36, 193–198.
- Hoffman, D. C., Dickson, P. R. and Beninger, R. J. (1988) The dopamine D2 receptor agonists, quinpirole and bromocriptine produce conditioned place preferences. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 12, 315–322.
- Holloway, F. A., King, D. A., Bedingfield, J. B. and Gauvin, D. V. (1992) Role of context in ethanol tolerance and subsequent hedonic effects. *Alcohol* 9, 109–116.
- Holzhauer-Oitzl, M. S., Boucke, K. and Huston, J. P. (1987) Reinforcing properties of substance P in the lateral hypothalamus revealed by conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 28, 511–515.
- Holzhauer-Oitzl, M. S., Hasenöhrl, R. and Huston, J. P. (1988) Reinforcing properties of substance P in the region of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis in rats. *Neuropharmacology* 27, 749–756.
- Hooks, M. S., Jones, G. H., Smith, A. D., Neill, D. B. and Justice, J. B., Jr (1991) Response to novelty predicts the locomotor and nucleus accumbens dopamine response to cocaine. *Synapse* 9, 121–128.
- Hooks, M. S., Juncos, J. L., Justice, J. B., Jr, Meiergerd, S. M., Povlock, S. L., Schenk, J. O. and Kalivas, P. W. (1994) Individual locomotor response to novelty predicts selective alterations in D1 and D2 receptors and mRNAs. *J. Neurosci.* 14, 6144–6152.
- Horan, B., Smith, M., Gardner, E. L., Lepore, M. and Ashby, C. R. (1997) (–)-Nicotine produces conditioned place preference in Lewis, but not Fischer 344 rats. *Synapse* 26, 93–94.
- Horger, B. A., Shelton, K. and Schenk, S. (1990) Preexposure sensitizes rats to the rewarding effects of cocaine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 707–711.
- Houdi, A. A., Bardo, M. T. and Van Loon, G. R. (1989) Opioid mediation of cocaine-induced hyperactivity and reinforcement. *Brain Res.* 497, 195–198.
- Hughes, A. M., Everitt, B. J. and Herbert, J. (1990) Comparative effects of preoptic area infusions of opioid peptides, lesions and castration on sexual behaviour in male rats: studies of instrumental behaviour, conditioned place preference and partner preference. *Psychopharmacology* **102**, 243–256.
- Hughes, R. A., Baker, M. R. and Rettig, K. M. (1995) Cocaineconditioned place preference in young precocial domestic fowl. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 3, 105–111.
- Huston, J. P., Hasenöhrl, R. U., Boix, F., Gerhardt, P. and Schwarting, R. K. (1993) Sequence-specific effects of neurokinin substance P on memory, reinforcement, and brain dopamine activity. *Psychopharmacology* **112**, 147–162.
- Huston, J. P., Schildein, S., Gerhardt, P., Privou, C., Fink, H. and Hasenöhrl, R. U. (1998) Modulation of memory, reinforcement and anxiety parameters by intra-amygdala injection of cholecystokinin-fragments Boc-CCK-4 and CCK-8s. *Peptides* 19, 27– 37
- Isaac, W. L., Nonneman, A. J., Neisewander, J. L., Landers, T. and Bardo, M. T. (1989) Prefrontal cortex lesions differentially disrupt cocaine-reinforced conditioned place preference but not conditioned taste aversion. *Behav. Neurosci.* 103, 345–355.

- Iwamoto, E. T. (1986a) Place-aversion conditioned by phencyclidine in rats: development of tolerance and pharmacologic antagonism. *Alcohol Drug Res.* 6, 265–276.
- Iwamoto, E. T. (1986b) Place-conditioning properties of mu, kappa, and sigma opioid agonists. *Alcohol Drug Res.* 6, 327– 339.
- Iwamoto, E. T. (1988) Dynorphin A [1-17] induces 'reward' in rats in the place conditioning paradigm. *Life Sci.* 43, 503–508.
- Iwamoto, E. T. (1989) Characterization of dynorphin A(1-17)induced place preference in rats. NIDA Res. Monogr. 95, 308– 309.
- Iwamoto, E. T. (1990) Nicotine conditions place preferences after intracerebral administration in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 100, 251–257.
- Jackson, A., Koek, W. and Colpaert, F. C. (1992) NMDA antagonists make learning and recall state-dependent. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 3, 415–421.
- Jaeger, T. V. and van der Kooy, D. (1996) Separate neural substrates mediate the motivating and discriminative properties of morphine. *Behav. Neurosci.* **110**, 181–201.
- Jorenby, D. E., Steinpreis, R. E., Sherman, J. E. and Baker, T. B. (1990) Aversion instead of preference learning indicated by nicotine place conditioning in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **101**, 533– 538.
- Josselyn, S. A. and Beninger, R. J. (1993) Neuropeptide Y: intraaccumbens injections produce a place preference that is blocked by cis-flupenthixol. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 46, 543–552.
- Kaddis, F. G., Uretsky, N. J. and Wallace, L. J. (1995) DNQX in the nucleus accumbens inhibits cocaine-induced conditioned place preference. *Brain Res.* 697, 76–82.
- Kalivas, P. W. and Stewart, J. (1991) Dopamine transmission in the initiation and expression of drug- and stress-induced sensitization of motor activity. *Brain Res. Rev.* 16, 223–244.
- Kalivas, P. W., Sorg, B. A. and Hooks, M. S. (1993) The pharmacology and neural circuitry of sensitization to psychostimulants. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 4, 315–334.
- Kamei, J. and Ohsawa, M. (1996) Effects of diabetes on methamphetamine-induced place preference in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **318**, 251–256.
- Katajamaki, J., Honkanen, A., Piepponen, T. P., Linden, I. B., Zharkovsky, A. and Ahtee, L. (1998) Conditioned place preference induced by a combination of L-DOPA and a COMT inhibitor, entacapone, in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 60, 23– 26.
- Kelley, B. M., Bandy, A. L. E. and Middaugh, L. D. (1997a) A novel chronic and detachable indwelling jugular catherization procedure for mice. *Physiol. Behav.* 62, 163–167.
- Kelley, B. M., Bandy, A. L. E. and Middaugh, L. D. (1997b) A study examining intravenous ethanol-conditioned place preference in C57BL/6J mice. *Alcoholism—Clin. Exp. Res.* 21, 1661– 1666.
- Kelsey, J. E. and Arnold, S. R. (1994) Lesions of the dorsomedial amygdala, but not the nucleus accumbens, reduce the aversiveness of morphine withdrawal in rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 108, 1119–1127.
- Kelsey, J. E., Carlezon, W. A., Jr and Falls, W. A. (1989) Lesions of the nucleus accumbens in rats reduce opiate reward but do not alter context-specific opiate tolerance. *Behav. Neurosci.* 103, 1327–1334.
- Khroyan, T. V., Baker, D. A. and Neisewander, J. L. (1995) Dose-dependent effects of the D3 preferring agonist 7-OH-DPAT on motor behaviors and place conditioning. *Psychopharmacology* **122**, 351–357.
- Khroyan, T. V., Fuchs, R. A., Baker, D. A. and Neisewander, J. L. (1997) Effects of D3 preferring agonists 7-OH-DPAT and PD-128 907 on motor behaviors and place conditioning. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 8, 65–74.
- Kim, H. S. and Jang, C. G. (1997) MK-801 inhibits methamphetamine-induced conditioned place preference and behavioral sensitization to apomorphine in mice. *Brain Res. Bull.* 44, 221–227.
- Kim, H. S., Jang, C. G., Oh, K. W., Seong, Y. H., Rheu, H. M., Cho, D. H. and Kang, S. Y. (1996a) Effects of Ginseng total saponin on cocaine-induced hyperactivity and conditioned place preference in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 185–190.
- Kim, H. S., Jang, C. G. and Park, W. K. (1996b) Inhibition by MK-801 of morphine-induced conditioned place preference and

postsynaptic dopamine supersensitivity in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 55, 11–17.

- Kim, H. S., Jang, C. G., Park, W. K., Oh, K. W., Rheu, H. M., Cho, D. H. and Oh, S. K. (1996c) Blockade by Ginseng total saponin of methamphetamine-induced hyperactivity and conditioned place preference in mice. *Gen. Pharmacol.* 27, 199–204.
- Kim, H. S., Park, W. K., Jang, C. G. and Oh, S. (1996d) Inhibition by MK-801 of cocaine-induced sensitization, conditioned place preference, and dopamine receptorsupersensitivity in mice. *Brain Res. Bull.* 40, 201–207.
- Kim, H. S., Park, W. K., Jang, C. G., Oh, K. W., Kong, J. Y., Oh, S., Rheu, H. M., Cho, D. H. and Kang, S. Y. (1997) Blockade by naloxone of cocaine-induced hyperactivity, reverse tolerance and conditioned place preference in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 85, 37-46.
- Kim, H. S., Hong, Y. T., Oh, K. W., Seong, Y. H., Rheu, H. M., Cho, D. H., Oh, S., Park, W. K. and Jang, C. G. (1998a) Inhibition by ginsenosides Rb-1 and Rg (1) of methamphetamine-induced hyperactivity, conditioned place preference and postsynaptic dopamine receptor supersensitivity in mice. *Gen. Pharmacol.* **30**, 783–789.
- Kim, H. S., Jang, C. G., Oh, K. W., Oh, S., Rheu, H. M., Rhee, G. S., Seong, Y. H. and Park, W. K. (1998b) Effects of ginseng total saponin on morphine-induced hyperactivity and conditioned place preference in mice. J. Ethnopharmacol. 60, 33–42.
- Kitaichi, K., Noda, Y., Hasegawa, T., Furukawa, H. and Nabeshima, T. (1996) Acute phencyclidine induces aversion, but repeated phencyclidine induces preference in the place conditioning test in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **318**, 7–9. Kivastik, T., Rutkauskaite, J. and Zharkovsky, A. (1996a) Nitric
- Kivastik, T., Rutkauskaite, J. and Zharkovsky, A. (1996a) Nitric oxide synthesis inhibition attenuates morphine-induced place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 1013–1015.
- Kivastik, T., Vuorikallas, K., Piepponen, T. P., Zharkovsky, A. and Ahtee, L. (1996b) Morphine- and cocaine-induced conditioned place preference: effects of quinpirole and preclamol. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 371–375.
  Kiyatkin, E. A. and Belyi, V. P. (1991) Reinforcing properties of
- Kiyatkin, E. A. and Belyi, V. P. (1991) Reinforcing properties of morphine chronically used in aversive life conditions: place-preference paradigm, long-term changes in behavioral reactivity. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 57, 193–203.
- Kling-Petersen, T., Ljung, E., Wollter, L. and Svensson, K. (1995a) Effects of the dopamine D3- and autoreceptor-preferring antagonist (–)-DS121 on locomotor activity, conditioned place preference and intracranial self-stimulation in the rat. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 6, 107–115.
- Kling-Petersen, T., Ljung, E., Wollter, L. and Svensson, K. (1995b) Effects of dopamine D3 preferring compounds on conditioned place preference and intracranial self-stimulation in the rat. J. Neural Transm. Gen. Sect. 101, 27–39.
- Koob, G. F., Vaccarino, F. J., Amalric, M. and Bloom, F. E. (1986) Neurochemical substrates for opiate reinforcement. *NIDA Res. Monogr.* 71, 146–164.
- Koob, G. F., Stinus, L., Le Moal, M. and Bloom, F. E. (1989) Opponent process theory of motivation: neurobiological evidence from studies of opiate dependence. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 13, 135–140.
- Kosten, T. A. (1994) Clonidine attenuates conditioned aversion produced by naloxone-precipitated opiate withdrawal. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 254, 59–63.
- Kosten, T. A. and Nestler, E. J. (1994) Clozapine attenuates cocaine conditioned place preference. *Life Sci.* 55, PL9–14.
- Kosten, T. A., Marby, D. W. and Nestler, E. J. (1991) Cocaine conditioned place preference is attenuated by chronic buprenorphine treatment. *Life Sci.* 49, PL201–206.
- Kosten, T. A., Miserendino, M. J., Chi, S. and Nestler, E. J. (1994) Fischer and Lewis rat strains show differential cocaine effects in conditioned place preference and behavioral sensitization but not in locomotor activity or conditioned taste aversion. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 269, 137–144.
- Kosten, T. A., DeCaprio, J. L. and Nestler, E. J. (1996) Longterm haloperidol administration enhances and short-term administration attenuates the behavioral effects of cocaine in a place conditioning procedure. *Psychopharmacology* **128**, 304– 312.
- Kosten, T. A., Miserendino, M. J., Haile, C. N., DeCaprio, J. L., Jatlow, P. I. and Nestler, E. J. (1997) Acquisition and maintenance of intravenous cocaine self-administration in Lewis and Fischer inbred rat strains. *Brain Res.* **778**, 418–429.
- Kruszewska, A., Romandini, S. and Samanin, R. (1986) Different effects of zimelidine on the reinforcing properties of d-amphetamine and morphine on conditioned place preference in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 125, 283–286.

- Kuribara, H. (1996) Effects of interdose interval on ambulatory sensitization to methamphetamine, cocaine and morphine in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **316**, 1–5.
- Kushner, J. A. (1997) Does selective breeding for cocaethylene preference produce different behaviors in rats? *Toxicol. Meth.* 7, 319–339.
- Kuzmin, A. V. and Zvartau, E. E. (1993) A comparative study of the reinforcing and analgesic properties of cocaine. *Eksp. Klin. Farmakol.* 56, 16–18.
- Kuzmin, A., Patkina, N., Pchelintsev, M. and Zvartau, E. (1992) Isradipine is able to separate morphine-induced analgesia and place conditioning. *Brain Res.* 593, 221–225.
- Kuzmin, A. V., Gerrits, M. A. F. M., van Ree, J. M. and Zvartau, E. E. (1997) Naloxone inhibits the reinforcing and motivational aspects of cocaine addiction in mice. *Life Sci.* 60, PL257–264.
- Laviola, G. and Adriani, W. (1998) Evaluation of unconditioned novelty-seeking and d-amphetamine-conditioned motivation in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 1011–1020.
- Laviola, G. and Dell'Omo, G. (1997) Precocious weaning and changes in social variables during prepuberty affect cocaine reinforcing properties in adult mice. *Psychobiology* 25, 163–170.
- Laviola, G., Dell'Omo, G., Alleva, E. and Bignami, G. (1992) Ontogeny of cocaine hyperactivity and conditioned place preference in mice. *Psychopharmacology* **107**, 221–228.
- Laviola, G., Dell'Omo, G., Chiarotti, F. and Bignami, G. (1994) D-amphetamine conditioned place preference in developing mice: relations with changes in activity and stereotypies. *Behav. Neurosci.* 108, 514–524.
- Lawley, S. I. and Kantak, K. M. (1990a) Postconditioning effects of magnesium on cocaine place preference in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 36, 531–538.
- Lawley, S. I. and Kantak, K. M. (1990b) Magnesium-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 36, 539–545.
- Layer, R. T., Kaddis, F. G. and Wallace, L. J. (1993a) The NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801 elicits conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 44, 245–247.
- Layer, R. T., Uretsky, N. J. and Wallace, L. J. (1993b) Effects of the AMPA/kainate receptor antagonist DNQX in the nucleus accumbens on drug-induced conditioned place preference. *Brain Res.* 617, 267–273.
- Leone, P. and Di Chiara, G. (1987) Blockade of D-1 receptors by SCH23390 antagonizes morphine- and amphetamine-induced place preference conditioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 135, 251–254.
- Le Pen, G., Du Terte-Boucher, D. and Costentin, J. (1996) Place conditioning with cocaine and the dopamine uptake inhibitor GBR12783. *Neuroreport* 7, 2839–2842.
- Lepore, M., Vorel, S. R., Lowinson, J. and Gardner, E. L. (1995) Conditioned place preference induced by delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol: comparison with cocaine, morphine, and food reward. *Life Sci.* 56, 2073–2080.
- Lett, B. T. (1988) Enhancement of conditioned preference for a place paired with amphetamine produced by blocking the association between place and amphetamine-induced sickness. *Psychopharmacology* **95**, 390–394.
- Lett, B. T. (1989a) Repeated exposures intensify rather than diminish the rewarding effects of amphetamine, morphine, and cocaine. *Psychopharmacology* 98, 357–362.
- Lett, B. T. (1989b) Ingestion of sweet water enhances the rewarding effect of morphine in rats. *Psychobiology* 17, 191–194.
- Lett, B. T. (1992) Pairings of a drug or place conditioned stimulus with lithium chloride produce conditioned sickness, not antisickness. *Behav. Neurosci.* 106, 106–111.
- Lew, G. and Parker, L. A. (1998) Pentobarbital-induced place aversion learning. Anim. Learn. Behav. 26, 219–224.
- Longoni, R., Cadoni, C., Mulas, A., Di Chiara, G. and Spina, L. (1998) Dopamine-dependent behavioural stimulation by nonpeptide delta opioids BW373U86 and SNC 80: place-preference and brain microdialysis studies in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 9, 9– 14.
- Lubow, R. E. (1989) Latent Inhibition and Conditioned Attention Theory. Cambridge University Press: New York.
- Luxton, T., Parker, L. A. and Siegel, S. (1996) Ibogaine fails to interrupt the expression of a previously established one-trial morphine place preference. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* **20**, 857–872.
- Lynch, M. R. (1991) Scopolamine enhances expression of an amphetamine-conditioned place preference. *Neuroreport* 2, 715– 718.

- Lyupina, Y. V., Sudakov, S. K. and Yarygin, V. N. (1996) Inhibitors of Ca2 + -dependent endopeptidases modulate morphine-induced effects in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 304, 23–27.
- Mackey, W. B. and van der Kooy, D. (1985) Neuroleptics block the positive reinforcing effects of amphetamine but not of morphine as measured by place conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 101–105.
- Mackey, W. B., Keller, J. and van der Kooy, D. (1986) Visceral cortex lesions block conditioned taste aversions induced by morphine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 24, 71–78.
- Maes, J. R. and Vossen, J. M. (1993) Context conditioning: positive reinforcing effects of various food-related stimuli. *Physiol. Behav.* 53, 1227–1229.
- Magnusson, J. E. and Fleming, A. S. (1995) Rat pups are reinforcing to the maternal rat: role of sensory cues. *Psychobiology* 23, 69–75.
- Maldonado, R., Saiardi, A., Valverde, O., Samad, T. A., Roques, B. P. and Borrelli, E. (1997) Absence of opiate rewarding effects in mice lacking dopamine D2 receptors. *Nature* 388, 586–589.
- Mallet, P. E. and Beninger, R. J. (1994) 7-OH-DPAT produces place conditioning in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **261**, R5–6.
- Mallet, P. E. and Beninger, R. J. (1998) D(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol, but not the endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand anandamide, produces conditioned place avoidance. *Life Sci.* 62, 2431–2439.
- Mamoon, A. M., Barnes, A. M., Ho, I. K. and Hoskins, B. (1995) Comparative rewarding properties of morphine and butorphanol. *Brain Res. Bull.* 38, 507–511.
- Marglin, S. H., MacKechnie, D. K., Mattie, M. E., Hui, Y. H. and Reid, L. D. (1988) Ethanol with small doses of morphine establishes a conditioned place preference. *Alcohol* 5, 309–313.
- Marglin, S. H., Milano, W. C., Mattie, M. E. and Reid, L. D. (1989) PCP and conditioned place preferences. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 33, 281–283.
- Marona-Lewicka, D., Rhee, G. S., Sprague, J. E. and Nichols, D. E. (1996) Reinforcing effects of certain serotonin-releasing amphetamine derivatives. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 99–105.
- Martellotta, M. C., Fattore, L., Cossu, G. and Fratta, W. (1997) Rewarding properties of gamma-hydroxybutyric acid: an evaluation through place preference paradigm. *Psychopharmacology* 132, 1–5.
- Martin, G. M., Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1988) Morphine preexposure attenuates the aversive properties of opiates without preexposure to the aversive properties. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 30, 687–692.
- Martinez, M., Guillen-Salazar, F., Salvador, F. and Simon, V. M. (1995) Successful intermale aggression and conditioned place preference in mice. *Physiol. Behav.* 58, 323–328.
- Martin-Iverson, M. T. and Reimer, A. R. (1996) Classically conditioned motor effects do not occur with cocaine in an unbiased conditioned place preferences procedure. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 303–314.
- Martin-Iverson, M. T., Ortmann, R. and Fibiger, H. C. (1985) Place preference conditioning with methylphenidate and nomifensine. *Brain Res.* 332, 59–67.
- Martin-Iverson, M. T., Radke, J. M. and Vincent, S. R. (1986) The effects of cysteamine on dopamine-mediated behaviors: evidence for dopamine-somatostatin interactions in the striatum. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 24, 1707–1714.
- Martin-Iverson, M. T., Reimer, A. R. and Sharma, S. (1997) Unbiased cocaine conditioned place preference (CPP) obscures conditioned locomotion, and nimodipine blockade of cocaine CPP is due to conditioned place aversions. *Psychopharmacology* 130, 327–333.
- Masukawa, Y., Suzuki, T. and Misawa, M. (1993) Differential modofication of the rewarding effects of methamphetamine and cocaine by opioids and antihistamines. *Psychopharmacology* 111, 139–143.
- Matsuzawa, S., Suzuki, T. and Misawa, M. (1998) Conditioned fear stress induces ethanol-associated place preference in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 341, 127–130.
- Matthes, H. W. D., Maldonado, R., Simonin, F., Valverde, O., Slowe, S., Kitchen, I., Befort, K., Dierich, A., Lemeur, M., Dolle, P., Tzavara, E., Hanoune, J., Roques, B. P. and Kieffer, B. L. (1996) Loss of morphine-induced analgesia, reward effect and withdrawal symptoms in mice lacking the mu opioid receptor gene. *Nature* 383, 819–823.
- Mattioli, R., Aguilar, C. and Vasconcelos, L. (1995) Reinforcing properties of the neuropeptide substance P in Carassius auratus: evidence of dopaminergic system involvement. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 50, 77–81.

- Mattioli, R., Coelho, J. and Martins, A. (1996) Reinforcing properties of the substance P C-fragment analog DIME-C7 in Carassius auratus. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* **29**, 495–499.
- Mattioli, R., Nelson, C. A., Huston, J. P. and Spieler, R. E. (1998) Conditioned place preference analysis in the goldfish with the H-1 histamine antagonist chlorpheniramine. *Brain Res. Bull.* 45, 41–44.
- Mayer, L. A. and Parker, L. A. (1993) Rewarding and aversive properties of IP and SC cocaine: assessment by place and taste conditioning. *Psychopharmacology* 112, 189–194.
  McAlonan, G. M., Robbins, T. W. and Everitt, B. J. (1993)
- McAlonan, G. M., Robbins, T. W. and Everitt, B. J. (1993) Effects of medial dorsal thalamic and ventral pallidal lesions on the acquisition of a conditioned place preference: further evidence for the involvement of the ventral striatopallidal system in reward-related processes. *Neuroscience* 52, 605–620.
- McGregor, I. S., Issakidis, C. N. and Prior, G. (1996) Aversive effects of the synthetic cannabinoid CP 55 940 in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 657–664.
- McKee, S. A., Hinson, R. E. and Baxter, B. W. (1994) A contextspecific detrimental effect of UCS preexposure on place conditioning with morphine. *Anim. Learn. Behav.* 22, 282–290.
- Meehan, S. M. and Schechter, M. D. (1998) Conditioned place preference/aversion to fenfluramine in Fawn hooded and Sprague–Dawley rats. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 18, 575–584.
- Meehan, S. M. and Schechter, M. D. (1994) LSD produces conditioned place preference in male but not female fawn hooded rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 105–108.
- Mehrara, B. J. and Baum, M. J. (1990) Naloxone disrupts the expression but not the acquisition by male rats of a conditioned place preference response for an oestrous female. *Psychopharmacology* **101**, 118–125.
- Meil, W. M. and Schechter, M. D. (1997) Olanzapine attenuates the reinforcing effects of cocaine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 340, 17–26.
- Meisel, R. L. and Joppa, M. A. (1994) Conditioned place preference in female hamsters following aggressive or sexual encounters. *Physiol. Behav.* 56, 1115–1118.
- Meisel, R. L., Joppa, M. A. and Rowe, R. K. (1996) Dopamine receptor antagonists attenuate conditioned place preference following sexual behavior in female Syrian hamsters. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **309**, 21–24.
- Meisenberg, G., Simmons, W. H. and Lorens, S. A. (1990) Aversive properties of bombesin in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 689–692.
- Menkens, K., Bilsky, E. J., Wild, K. D., Portoghese, P. S., Reid, L. D. and Porreca, F. (1992) Cocaine place preference is blocked by the delta-opioid receptor antagonist, naltrindole. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 219, 345–346.
- Miller, D. K. and Nation, J. R. (1997) Chronic cadmium exposure attenuates the conditioned reinforcing properties of morphine and fentanyl. *Brain Res.* 776, 162–169.
- Miller, R. L. and Baum, M. J. (1987) Naloxone inhibits mating and conditioned place preference for an estrous female in male rats soon after castration. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 26, 781– 789.
- Miner, L. L. (1997) Cocaine reward and locomotor activity in C57BL/6J and 129/SVJ inbred mice and their F1 cross. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 25–30.
- Miner, L. L., Drago, J., Chamberlain, P. M., Donovan, D. and Uhl, G. R. (1995) Retained cocaine conditioned place preference in D1 receptor deficient mice. *Neuroreport* 6, 2314–2316.
- Morency, M. A. and Beninger, R. J. (1986) Dopaminergic substrates of cocaine-induced place conditioning. *Brain Res.* 399, 33–41.
- Moroz, I., Parker, L. A. and Siegel, S. (1997) Ibogaine interferes with the establishment of amphetamine place preference learning. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 5, 119–122.
- Morris, R. G. M., Anderson, E., Lynch, G. S. and Baudry, M. (1986) Selective impairment of learning and blockade of longterm potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist, AP5. *Nature* **319**, 774–776.
- Morutto, S. L. and Phillips, G. D. (1997) Isolation-rearing enhances the locomotor stimulant properties of intra-perifornical sulpiride, bit impairs the acquisition of a conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* **133**, 224–232.
- Morutto, S. L. and Phillips, G. D. (1998) Interactions between intra-perifornical region sulpiride and intra-ventral tegmental area AP5 on measures of locomotor activity and conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* 136, 105–113.
- Mucha, R. F. (1987) Is the motivational effect of opiate withdrawal reflected by common somatic indices of precipitated with-

drawal? A place conditioning study in the rat. Brain Res. 418, 214–220.

- Mucha, R. F. and Herz, A. (1985) Motivational properties of kappa and mu opioid receptor agonists studied with place and taste preference conditioning. *Psychopharmacology* 86, 274–280.
- Mucha, R. F. and Herz, A. (1986) Preference conditioning produced by opioid active and inactive isomers of levorphanol and morphine in rat. *Life Sci.* 38, 241–249.
- Mucha, R. F. and Walker, M. J. (1987) Aversive property of opioid receptor blockade in drug-naive mice. *Psychopharmacology* 93, 483–488.
- Mucha, R. F., Millan, M. J. and Herz, A. (1985) Aversive properties of naloxone in non-dependent (naive) rats may involve blockade of central beta-endorphin. *Psychopharmacology* 86, 281–285.
- Muscat, R., Papp, M. and Willner, P. (1992) Reversal of stressinduced anhedonia by the atypical antidepressants, fluoxetine and maprotiline. *Psychopharmacology* **109**, 433–438.
- Museo, E. and Wise, R. A. (1994) Place preference conditioning with ventral tegmental injections of cytisine. *Life Sci.* 55, 1179– 1186.
- Nabeshima, T., Kitaichi, K. and Noda, Y. (1996) Functional changes in neuronal systems induced by phencyclidine administration. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* **801**, 29–38.
- Nadal, R., Pallares, M. and Ferre, N. (1992) Conditioned place preference for ethanol and individual differences in rats. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 13, 287–294.
- Nader, K. and van der Kooy, D. (1994) The motivation produced by morphine and food is isomorphic: approaches to specific motivational stimuli are learned. *Psychobiology* 22, 68–76.
- Nader, K. and van der Kooy, D. (1996) Clonidine antagonizes the aversive effects of opiate withdrawal and the rewarding effects of morphine only in opiate withdrawn rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 110, 389–400.
- Nader, K. and van der Kooy, D. (1997) Deprivation state switches the neurobiological substrates mediating opiate reward in the ventral tegmental area. J. Neurosci. 17, 383–390.
- Nader, K., Bechara, A., Roberts, D. C. and van der Kooy, D. (1994) Neuroleptics block high- but not low-dose heroin place preferences: further evidence for a two-system model of motivation. *Behav. Neurosci.* **108**, 1128–1138.
- Nader, K., Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1996) Lesions of the lateral parabrachial nucleus block the aversive motivational effects of both morphine and morphine withdrawal but spare morphine's discriminative properties. *Behav. Neurosci.* 110, 1496–1502.
- Nader, K., Bechara, A. and van der Kooy, D. (1997) Neurobiological constraints on behavioral models of motivation. Ann. Rev. Psychol. 48, 85–114.
- Nagase, H., Hayakawa, J., Kawamura, J., Kawai, K., Takezawa, Y., Matsuura, H., Tajima, C. and Endo, T. (1998) Discovery of a structurally novel opioid kappa-agonist derived from 4,5epoxymorphinan. *Chem. Pharmaceut. Bull.* 46, 366–369.
- Navarro, M., Rubio, P. and de Fonseca, F. R. (1995) Behavioural consequences of maternal exposure to natural cannabinoids in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 122, 1–14.
- Neisewander, J. L., Pierce, R. C. and Bardo, M. T. (1990a) Naloxone enhances the expression of morphine-induced conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* **100**, 201–205.
- Neisewander, J. L., McDougall, S. A., Bowling, S. L. and Bardo, M. T. (1990b) Conditioned taste aversion and place preference with buspirone and gepirone. *Psychopharmacology* **100**, 485– 490.
- Noble, F., Fournie-Zaluski, M. C. and Roques, B. P. (1993) Unlike morphine the endogenous enkephalins protected by RB101 are unable to establish a conditioned place preference in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 230, 139–149.
- Nomikos, G. G. and Spyraki, C. (1988a) Effects of ritanserin on the rewarding properties of d-amphetamine, morphine and diazepam revealed by conditioned place preference in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 30, 853–858.
- Nomikos, G. G. and Spyraki, C. (1988b) Cocaine-induced place conditioning: importance of route of administration and other procedural variables. *Psychopharmacology* **94**, 119–125.
- Oberling, P., Rocha, B., Di Scala, G. and Sandner, G. (1993) Evidence for state-dependent retrieval in conditioned place aversion. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 60, 27–32.
  O'Dell, L. E., Khroyan, T. V. and Neisewander, J. L. (1996)
- O'Dell, L. E., Khroyan, T. V. and Neisewander, J. L. (1996) Dose-dependent characterization of the rewarding and stimulant properties of cocaine following intraperitoneal and intravenous administration in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **123**, 144–153.

- Oitzl, M. S., Hasenöhrl, R. U. and Huston, J. P. (1990) Reinforcing effects of peripherally administered substance P and its C-terminal sequence pGlu6-SP6-11 in the rat. *Psychopharmacology* **100**, 308–315.
- Oldenburger, W. P., Everitt, B. J. and de Jonge, F. H. (1992) Conditioned place preference induced by sexual interaction in female rats. *Horm. Behav.* 26, 214–228.
- Olmstead, M. C. and Franklin, K. B. (1993) Effects of pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus lesions on morphine-induced conditioned place preference and analgesia in the formalin test. *Neuroscience* 57, 411–418.
- Olmstead, M. C. and Franklin, K. B. (1994) Lesions of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus block drug-induced reinforcement but not amphetamine-induced locomotion. *Brain Res.* 638, 29–35.
- Olmstead, M. C. and Franklin, K. B. (1996) Differential effects of ventral striatal lesions on the conditioned place preference induced by morphine or amphetamine. *Neuroscience* **71**, 701– 708.
- Olmstead, M. C. and Franklin, K. B. J. (1997a) The development of a conditioned place preference to morphine: effects of lesions of various CNS sites. *Behav. Neurosci.* 111, 1313–1323.
- Olmstead, M. C. and Franklin, K. B. J. (1997b) The development of a conditioned place preference to morphine: effects of microinjections into various CNS sites. *Behav. Neurosci.* 111, 1324– 1334.
- Ortmann, R. (1985) The conditioned place preference paradigm in rats: effect of bupropion. *Life Sci.* 37, 2021–2027.
- Overton, D. A. (1978) Major theories of state dependent learning. In: *Drug Discrimination and State Dependent Learning*, pp. 283– 318. Eds. B. T. Ho, D. W. Richards, D. L. Chute. Academic Press: New York.
- Packard, M. G., Cornell, A. H. and Alexander, G. M. (1997) Rewarding affective properties of intra-nucleus accumbens injections of testosterone. *Behav. Neurosci.* 111, 219–224.
- Pain, L., Oberling, P., Sandner, G. and Di Scala, G. (1996) Effect of propofol on affective state as assessed by place conditioning paradigm in rats. *Anesthesiology* 85, 121–128.
- Pain, L., Oberling, P., Sandner, G. and Di Scala, G. (1997) Effect of midazolam on propofol-induced positive affective state assessed by place conditioning in rats. *Anesthesiology* 87, 935– 943.
- Pani, L., Kuzmin, A., Martellotta, M. C., Gessa, G. L. and Fratta, W. (1991) The calcium antagonist PN 200-110 inhibits the reinforcing properties of cocaine. *Brain Res. Bull.* 26, 445– 447.
- Papp, M. (1988a) Different effects of short- and long-term treatment with imipramine on the apomorphine- and food-induced place preference conditioning in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 30, 889–893.
- Papp, M. (1988b) Similar effects of diazepam and the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist ICS 205-930 on place aversion conditioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 151, 321–324.
- Papp, M. (1989) Differential effects of short- and long-term antidepressant treatments on the food-induced place preference conditioning in rats. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 1, 69–74.
- Papp, M. and Moryl, E. (1994) Rewarding properties of non-competitive and competitive NMDA antagonists as measured by place preference conditioning in rats. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 46, 79– 81.
- Papp, M. and Willner, P. (1991) 8-OH-DPAT-induced place preference and place aversion: effects of PCPA and dopamine antagonists. *Psychopharmacology* **103**, 99–102.
- Papp, M., Willner, P. and Muscat, R. (1991) An animal model of anhedonia: attenuation of sucrose consumption and place preference conditioning by chronic unpredictable mild stress. *Psychopharmacology* **104**, 255–259.
- Papp, M., Lappas, S., Muscat, R. and Willner, P. (1992) Attenuation of place preference conditioning but not place aversion conditioning by chronic mild stress. J. Psychopharmacol. 6, 352–356.
- Papp, M., Muscat, R. and Willner, P. (1993a) Subsensitivity to rewarding and locomotor stimulant effects of a dopamine agonist following chronic mild stress. *Psychopharmacology* 110, 152–158.
- Papp, M., Willner, P. and Muscat, R. (1993b) Behavioural sensitization to a dopamine agonist is associated with reversal of stress-induced anhedonia. *Psychopharmacology* 110, 159–164.
- Papp, P., Moryl, E. and Maccecchini, M. L. (1996) Differential effects of agents acting at various sites of the NMDA receptor complex in a place preference conditioning model. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 317, 191–196.

- Paredes, R. G. and Alonso, A. (1997) Sexual behavior regulated (paced) by the female induces conditioned place preference. *Behav. Neurosci.* 111, 123–128.
- Parker, J. L. and van der Kooy, D. (1995) Tegmental pedunculopontine nucleus lesions do not block cocaine reward. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 52, 77–83.
- Parker, L. A. (1992) Place conditioning in a three- or four-choice apparatus: role of stimulus novelty in drug-induced place conditioning. *Behav. Neurosci.* 106, 294–306.
- Parker, L. A. (1996) LSD produces place preference and flavor avoidance but does not produce flavor aversion in rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 110, 503–508.
- Parker, L. A. and Rennie, M. (1992) Naltrexone-induced aversions: assessment by place conditioning, taste reactivity, and taste avoidance paradigms. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 41, 559–565.
- Parker, L. A., Tomlinson, T., Horn, D. and Erb, S. M. (1994) Relative strength of place conditioning produced by cocaine and morphine assessed in a three-choice paradigm. *Learn. Motivat.* 25, 83–94.
- Parker, L. A., Siegel, S. and Luxton, T. (1995) Ibogaine attenuates morphine-induced conditioned place preference. *Exp. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 3, 344–348.
- Parker, L. A., Limebeer, C. L. and Simpson, G. R. (1998) Chlordiazepoxide-induced conditioned place and taste aversion learning in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 33–37.
- Pchelintsev, M. V., Gorbacheva, E. N. and Zvartau, E. E. (1991) Simple methodology of assessment of analgesics' addictive potential in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 39, 873–876.
- Perks, S. M. and Clifton, P. G. (1997) Reinforcer revaluation and conditioned place preference. *Physiol. Behav.* 61, 1–5.
- Pettit, H. O. and Mueller, K. (1989) Infusions of cholecystokinin octapeptide into the ventral tegmental area potentiate amphetamine conditioned place preferences. *Psychopharmacology* 99, 423–426.
- Pettit, H. O., Batsell, W. R., Jr. and Mueller, K. (1989) Triazolam attenuates amphetamine but not morphine conditioned place preferences. *Psychopharmacology* 98, 483–486.
- Phillips, A. G. and Fibiger, H. C. (1990) Role of reward and enhancement of conditioned reward in persistence of responding for cocaine. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 1, 269–282.
- Piazza, P. V., Deminiere, J. M., Le Moal, M. and Simon, H. (1989) Factors that predict individual vulnerability to amphetamine self-administration. *Science* 229, 1511–1513.
- Piazza, P. V., Rouge-Pont, F., Deminiere, P. V., Kharoubi, M., Le Moal, M. and Simon, S. (1991) Dopaminergic activity is reduced in the prefrontal cortex and increased in the nucleus accumbens of rats predisposed to develop amphetamine self-administration. *Brain Res.* 567, 169–174.
- Piepponen, T. P., Kivastik, T., Katajamaki, J., Zharkovsky, A. and Ahtee, L. (1997) Involvement of opioid mul receptors in morphine-induced conditioned place preference in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 58, 275–279.
- Pierce, R. C., Crawford, C. A., Nonneman, A. J., Mattingly, B. A. and Bardo, M. T. (1990) Effect of forebrain dopamine depletion on novelty-induced place preference behavior in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 36, 321–325.
- Pierce, R. C., Rowlett, J. K., Rebec, G. V. and Bardo, M. T. (1995) Ascorbate potentiates amphetamine-induced conditioned place preference and forebrain dopamine release in rats. *Brain Res.* 688, 21–26.
- Pierce, R. C., Meil, W. M. and Kalivas, P. W. (1997) The NMDA antagonist, dizocilpine, enhances cocaine reinforcement without influencing mesoaccumbens dopamine transmission. *Psychopharmacology* 133, 188–195.
- Planeta da Silva, C. and DeLucia, R. (1998) Involvement of dopamine receptors in diethylpropion-induced conditioned place preference. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 31, 561–564.
- Planeta da Silva, C., Aizenstein, M. L. and DeLucia, R. (1995) Reinforcing properties of fencamfamine: involvement of dopamine and opioid receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 50, 35– 40.
- Popik, P. and Danysz, W. (1997) Inhibition of reinforcing effects of morphine and motivational aspects of naloxone-precipitated opioid withdrawal by N-methyl-D-aspartate-receptor antagonist, memantine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 280, 854–865.
- Post, R. M. (1980) Intermittent versus continuous stimulation: effect of time interval on the development of sensitization or tolerance. *Life Sci.* 26, 1275–1282.
- Pruitt, D. L., Bolanos, C. A. and McDougall, S. A. (1995) Effects of dopamine D1 and D2 receptor antagonists on cocaine-

induced place preference conditioning in preweanling rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **283**, 125–131.

- Pucilowski, O., Garges, P. L., Rezvani, A. H., Hutheson, S. and Janowsky, D. S. (1993) Verapamil suppresses d-amphetamineinduced place preference conditioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 240, 89–92.
- Pucilowski, O., Plaznik, A. and Overstreet, D. H. (1995) Isradipine suppresses amphetamine-induced conditioned place preference and locomotor stimulation in the rat. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 12, 239–244.
- Rafieian-Kopaei, M., Gray, A. M., Spencer, P. S. and Sewell, R. D. (1995) Contrasting actions of acute or chronic paroxetine and fluvoxamine on morphine withdrawal-induced place conditioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 275, 185–189.
- Ranaldi, R., French, E. and Roberts, D. C. (1996) Systemic pretreatment with MK-801 (dizocilpine) increases breaking points for self-administration of cocaine on a progressive-ratio schedule in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 128, 83–88.
- Ranaldi, R., Bauco, P. and Wise, R. A. (1997) Synergistic effects of cocaine and dizocilpine (MK-801) on brain stimulation reward. *Brain Res.* 760, 231–237.
- Randall, C. K., Kraemer, P. J. and Bardo, M. T. (1998) Morphine-induced conditioned place preference in preweanling and adult rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 60, 217–222.
- Reid, L. D. and Hubbell, C. L. (1994) An assessment of the addiction potential of the opioid associated with milk. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 672–675.
- Reid, L. D., Hunter, G. A., Beaman, C. M. and Hubbell, C. L. (1985) Toward understanding ethanol's capacity to be reinforcing: a conditioned place preference following injections of ethanol. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 483–487.
- Reid, L. D., Marglin, S. H., Mattie, M. E. and Hubbell, C. L. (1989) Measuring morphine's capacity to establish a place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 33, 765–775.
- Reilly, S., Grigson, P. S. and Norgren, R. (1993) Parabrachial nucleus lesions and conditioned taste aversion: evidence supporting an associative deficit. *Behav. Neurosci.* 107, 1005–1017.
- Richardson, N. R., Piercey, M. F., Svensson, K., Collins, R. J., Myers, J. E. and Roberts, D. C. S. (1993) Antagonism of cocaine self-administration by the preferential dopamine autoreceptor antagonist, (+)-AJ76. *Brain Res.* 619, 15–21.
- Rigon, A. R. and Takahashi, R. N. (1996) Stimulant activities of dimethocaine in mive: reinforcing and anxiogenic effects. *Psychopharmacology* 127, 323–327.
- Risinger, F. O. (1997) Fluoxetine's efects on ethanol's rewarding, aversive and stimulus properties. *Life Sci.* 61, PL235–242.
- Risinger, F. O. and Oakes, R. A. (1995) Nicotine-induced conditioned place preference and conditioned place aversion in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 51, 457–461.
- Risinger, F. O. and Oakes, R. A. (1996a) Mianserin enhancement of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 7, 294–298.
- Risinger, F. O. and Oakes, R. A. (1996b) Dose- and conditioning trial-dependent ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in Swiss Webster mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 55, 117–123.
- Risinger, F. O., Dickinson, S. D. and Cunningham, C. L. (1992a) Haloperidol reduces ethanol-induced motor activity stimulation but not conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology* 107, 453–456.
- Risinger, F. O., Malott, D. H., Riley, A. L. and Cunningham, C. L. (1992b) Effect of Ro 15-4513 on ethanol-induced conditioned place preference. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 43, 97–102.
- Risinger, F. O., Malott, D. H., Prather, L. K., Niehus, D. R. and Cunningham, C. L. (1994) Motivational properties of ethanol in mice bred for ethanol-induced locomotor differences. *Psychopharmacology* **116**, 207–216.
- Risinger, F. O., Bormann, N. M. and Oakes, R. A. (1996) Reduced sensitivity to ethanol reward, but not ethanol aversion, in mice lacking 5-HT1B receptors. *Alcohol—Clin. Exp. Res.* 20, 1401–1405.
- Robertson, A. and Laferriere, A. (1989) Disruption of the connections between the mediodorsal and sulcal prefrontal cortices alters the associability of rewarding medial cortical stimulation to place and taste stimuli in rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* 103, 770–778.
- Robinson, T. E. and Becker, J. B. (1986) Enduring changes in brain and behavior produced by chronic amphetamine administration: a review and evaluation of animal models of amphetamine psychosis. *Brain Res. Rev.* 11, 157–198.
- Robinson, T. E. and Berridge, K. C. (1993) The neural basis of drug craving: an incentive-sensitization theory of addiction. *Brain Res. Rev.* 18, 247–291.

- Rocha, B., Di Scala, G., Jenck, F. and Moreau, J.-L. (1993a) Conditioned place aversion induced by 5-HT1C receptor antagonists. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 4, 101–106.
- Rocha, B., Di Scala, G., Rigo, M., Hoyer, D. and Sandner, G. (1993b) Effect of 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine lesion on mianserininduced conditioned place aversion and on 5hydroxytryptamine1C receptors in the rat brain. *Neuroscience* 56, 687-693.
- Rodgers, R. J., Richards, C. and Precious, J. I. (1984) Naloxone administration following brief exposure to novelty reduces activity and rearing in mice upon 24-h retest: a conditioned aversion? *Psychopharmacology* 82, 322–326.
- Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Rubio, P., Martin-Calderon, J. L., Caine, S. B., Koob, G. F. and Navarro, M. (1995) The dopamine receptor agonist 7-OH-DPAT modulates the acquisition and expression of morphine-induced place preference. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 274, 47–55.
- Rowlett, J. K., Gibson, T. R. and Bardo, M. T. (1994) Dissociation of buprenorphine-induced locomotor sensitization and conditioned place preference in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 49, 241–245.
- Rubio, P., Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Munoz, R. M., Ariz-Navarreta, C., Martin-Calderon, J. L. and Navarro, M. (1995) Long-term behavioral effects of perinatal exposure to delta 9tetrahydrocannabinol in rats: possible role of pituitary-adrenal axis. *Life Sci.* 56, 2169–2176.
- Sala, M., Braida, D., Calcaterra, P., Leone, M. P. and Gori, E. (1992) Dose-dependent conditioned place preference produced by etonitazene and morphine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 217, 37–41.
- Sala, M., Braida, D., Colombo, M., Groppetti, A., Sacco, S., Gori, E. and Parenti, M. (1995) Behavioral and biochemical evidence of opioidergic involvement in cocaine sensitization. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 274, 450–457.
- Sanudo-Pena, M. C., Tsou, K., Delay, E. R., Hohman, A. G., Force, M. and Walker, J. M. (1997) Endogenous cannabinoids as an aversive or counter-rewarding system in the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* 223, 125–128.
- Scatton, B., Claustre, Y., Cudennec, A., Oblin, A., Perrault, G., Sanger, D. J. and Schoemaker, H. (1997) Amisulpiride: from animal pharmacology to therapeutic action. *Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* **12**(Suppl.), S29–36.
- Schalomon, P. M., Robertson, A. M. and Laferriere, A. (1994) Prefrontal cortex and the relative associability of taste and place cues in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 65, 57–65.
- Schechter, M. D. (1991a) Effect of learned behavior upon conditioned place preference to cathinone. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 38, 7–11.
- Schechter, M. D. (1991b) Effect of MDMA neurotoxicity upon its conditioned place preference and discrimination. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 38, 539–544.
- Schechter, M. D. (1992a) Rats bred for differences in preference to cocaine: other behavioral measurements. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 43, 1015–1021.
- Schechter, M. D. (1992b) Locomotor activity but not conditioned place preference is differentially affected by a moderate dose of ethanol administered to P and NP rats. *Alcohol* 9, 185–188.
- Schechter, M. D. (1995) Cocaethylene produces conditioned place preference in rats. *Pharmacol.Biochem. Behav.* 51, 549–552.
- Schechter, M. D. and Calcagnetti, D. J. (1993) Trends in place preference conditioning with a cross-indexed bibliography; 1957–1991. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 17, 21–41.
- Schechter, M. D. and Krimmer, E. C. (1992) Differences in response to the aversive properties and activity effects of low dose ethanol in LAS and HAS selectively bred rats. *Psychopharmacology* 107, 564–568.
- Schechter, M. D. and McBurney, D. (1991) Effect of repeated administrations upon cathinone discrimination and conditioned place preference. *Gen. Pharmacol.* 22, 779–782.
- Schechter, M. D. and Meehan, S. M. (1993) Conditioned place preference produced by the psychostimulant cathinone. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 232, 135–138.
- Schechter, M. D. and Meehan, S. M. (1994) Conditioned place aversion produced by dopamine release inhibition. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 260, 133–137.
- Schechter, M. D., Meehan, S. M. and Schechter, J. B. (1995) Genetic selection for nicotine activity in mice correlates with conditioned place preference. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 279, 59–64.
- Schenk, S., Ellison, F., Hunt, T. and Amit, Z. (1985) An examination of heroin conditioning in preferred and nonpreferred environments and in differentially housed mature and immature rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 22, 215–220.

- Schenk, S., Hunt, T., Malovechko, R., Robertson, A., Klukowski, G. and Amit, Z. (1986) Differential effects of isolation housing on the conditioned place preference produced by cocaine and amphetamine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 24, 1793–1796.
- Schildein, S., Agmo, A., Huston, J. P. and Schwarting, R. K. W. (1998) Intraacumbens injections of substance P, morphine and amphetamine: effects on conditioned place preference and behavioral activity. *Brain Res.* **790**, 185–194.
- Schnur, P. and Morrell, J. (1990) Morphine conditioned place preference in the hamster. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 37, 383– 385.
- Schulteis, G., Markou, A., Gold, L. H., Stinus, L. and Koob, G. F. (1994) Relative sensitivity to naloxone of multiple indices of opiate withdrawal: a quantitative dose-response analysis. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 271, 1391–1398.
- Scoles, M. T. and Siegel, S. (1986) A potential role of saline trials in morphine-induced place-preference conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 25, 1169–1173.
- Seale, T. W. and Carney, J. M. (1991) Genetic determinants of susceptibility to the rewarding and other behavioral actions of cocaine. J. Addict. Dis. 10, 141–162.
- Seidman, M. H., Lau, C. E., Chen, R. and Falk, J. L. (1992) Orally self-administered cocaine: reinforcing efficacy by the place preference method. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 43, 235– 241.
- Self, D. W. and Stein, L. (1992) Receptor subtypes in opioid and stimulant reward. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* **70**, 87–94.
- Semenova, S., Kuzmin, A. and Zvartau, E. (1995) Strain differences in the analgesic and reinforcing action of morphine in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 50, 17–21.
- Shaham, Y. (1996) Effect of stress on opioid-seeking behavior: evidence from studies with rats. Ann. Behav. Med. 18, 255–263.
- Shippenberg, T. S. (1991) Conditioned reinforcing effects of 8hydoxy-2-(di-*N*-propylamino)tetralin: involvement of 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A and D1 dopamine receptors. *Neurosci. Lett.* 121, 136–138.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Bals-Kubik, R. (1995) Involvement of the mesolimbic dopamine system in mediating the aversive effects of opioid antagonists in the rat. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 6, 99–106.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Heidbreder, C. (1995a) Sensitization to the conditioned rewarding effects of cocaine: pharmacological and temporal characteristics. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 273, 808–815.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Heidbreder, C. (1995b) The delta-opioid receptor antagonist naltrindole prevents sensitization to the conditioned rewarding effects of cocaine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 280, 55–61.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Herz, A. (1986) Differential effects of mu and kappa opioid systems on motivational processes. *NIDA Res. Monogr.* 75, 563–566.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Herz, A. (1987) Place preference conditioning reveals the involvement of D1-dopamine receptors in the motivational properties of mu- and kappa-opioid agonists. *Brain Res.* 436, 169–172.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Herz, A. (1988) Motivational effects of opioids: influence of D-1 versus D-2 receptor antagonists. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **151**, 233–242.
- Shippenberg, T. S. and Herz, A. (1991) Influence of chronic lithium treatment upon the motivational effects of opioids: alteration in the effects of mu- but not kappa-opioid receptor ligands. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 256, 1101–1106.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Bals-Kubik, R. and Herz, A. (1987) Motivational properties of opioids: evidence that an activation of delta-receptors mediates reinforcement processes. *Brain Res.* 436, 234–239.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Emmett-Oglesby, M. W., Ayesta, F. J. and Herz, A. (1988a) Tolerance and selective cross-tolerance to the motivational effects of opioids. *Psychopharmacology* **96**, 110– 115.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Millan, M. J., Mucha, R. F. and Herz, A. (1988b) Involvement of beta-endorphin and mu-opioid receptors in mediating the aversive effect of lithium in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **154**, 135–144.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Emmett-Oglesby, M. W. and Herz, A. (1989) Morphine-induced place conditioning is not confounded by drug-induced alterations in locomotor activity. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 32, 129–132.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Bals-Kubik, R. and Herz, A. (1991) Neuroanatomical substrates mediating the aversive effects of D-1 dopamine receptor antagonists. *Psychopharmacology* 103, 209–214.
- Shippenberg, T. S., Bals-Kubik, R. and Herz, A. (1993) Examination of the neurochemical substrates mediating the

motivational effects of opioids: role of the mesolimbic dopamine system and D1 vs. D2 dopamine receptors. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **265**, 53–59.

- Shippenberg, T. S., Heidbreder, C. and LeFevour, A. (1996a) Sensitization to the conditioned rewarding effects of morphine: pharmacology and temporal characteristics. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 299, 33–39.
- Shippenberg, T. S., LeFevour, A. and Heidbreder, C. (1996b) Kappa-opioid receptor agonists prevent sensitization to the conditioned rewarding effects of cocaine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 276, 545–554.
- Shippenberg, T. S., LeFevour, A. and Thompson, A. C. (1998) Sensitization to the conditioned rewarding effects of morphine and cocaine: differential effects of the k-opioid receptor agonist U69593. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 345, 27–34.
- Shoaib, M., Stolerman, I. P. and Kumar, R. C. (1994) Nicotineinduced place preferences following prior nicotine exposure in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 113, 445–452.
- Shoaib, M., Spanagel, R., Stohr, T. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1995) Strain differences in the rewarding and dopamine-releasing effects of morphine in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **117**, 240–247.
- Singh, L., Field, M. J., Hunter, J. C., Oles, R. J. and Woodruff, G. N. (1996a) Modulation of the in vivo actions of morphine by the mixed CCK A/B receptor antagonist PD 142898. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **307**, 283–289.
- Singh, L., Oles, R. J., Field, M. J., Atwal, P., Woodruff, G. N. and Hunter, J. C. (1996b) Effect of CCK receptor antagonists on the antinociceptive, reinforcing and gut motility properties of morphine. Br. J. Pharmacol. 118, 1317–1325.
- Spanagel, R., Herz, A., Bals-Kubik, R. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1991) Beta-endorphin-induced locomotor stimulation and reinforcement are associated with an increase in dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. *Psychopharmacology* **104**, 51–56.
- Spanagel, R., Almeida, O. F., Bartl, C. and Shippenberg, T. S. (1994) Endogenous kappa-opioid systems in opiate withdrawal: role in aversion and accompanying changes in mesolimbic dopamine release. *Psychopharmacology* 115, 121–127.
- Sprick, U., Hasenöhrl, R. U., Krauth, J., Klapdor, K. and Huston, J. P. (1996) Effects of chronic substance P treatment and intracranial fetal grafts on learning after hippocampal kainic acid lesions. *Peptides* 17, 275–285.
- Spyraki, C. and Fibiger, H. C. (1988) A role of the mesolimbic dopamine system in the reinforcing properties of diazepam. *Psychopharmacology* 94, 133–137.
- Spyraki, C. and Nomikos, G. (1991) On the role of serotonin in drug reward: studies with the place conditioning procedure. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* **43**, 221–229.
- Spyraki, C., Kazandjian, A. and Varonos, D. (1985) Diazepaminduced place preference conditioning: appetitive and antiaversive properties. *Psychopharmacology* 87, 225–232.
- Spyraki, C., Nomikos, G. G. and Varonos, D. D. (1987) Intravenous cocaine-induced place preference: attenuation by haloperidol. *Behav. Brain Res.* 26, 57–62.
- Spyraki, C., Nomikos, G. G., Galanopoulou, P. and Daifotis, Z. (1988) Drug-induced place preference in rats with 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine lesions of the nucleus accumbens. *Behav. Brain Res.* 29, 127–134.
  Staubli, U. and Huston, J. P. (1985) Central action of substance P:
- Staubli, U. and Huston, J. P. (1985) Central action of substance P: possible role in reward. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 43, 100–108.
- Stefurak, T. L. and van der Kooy, D. (1992) Saccharin's rewarding, conditioned reinforcing, and memory-improving properties: mediation by isomorphic or independent processes? *Behav. Neurosci.* **106**, 125–139.
- Stefurak, T. L. and van der Kooy, D. (1994) Tegmental pedunculopontine lesions in rats decrease saccharin's rewarding effects but not its memory-improving effect. *Behav. Neurosci.* 108, 972– 980.
- Stefurak, T. L., Martin, G. and van der Kooy, D. (1990) The representation in memory of morphine's unconditioned motivational effects depends on the nature of the conditioned stimulus. *Psychobiology* 18, 435–442.
- Steinpreis, R. E., Kramer, M. A., Mix, K. S. and Piwowarczyk, M. C. (1995) The effects of MK801 on place conditioning. *Neurosci. Res.* 22, 427–430.
- Steinpreis, R. E., Rutell, A. L. and Parrett, F. A. (1996) Methadone produces conditioned place preference in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 339–341.
- Stewart, J. and Badiani, A. (1993) Tolerance and sensitization to the behavioral effects of drugs. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 4, 289–312.
- Stewart, R. B. and Grupp, L. A. (1986) Conditioned place aversion mediated by orally self-administered ethanol in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 24, 1369–1375.

- Stewart, R. B. and Grupp, L. A. (1989) Conditioned place aversion mediated by self-administered ethanol in the rat: a consideration of blood ethanol levels. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 32, 431–437.
- Stewart, R. B., Perlanski, E. and Grupp, L. A. (1988) Ethanol as a reinforcer for rats: factors of facilitation and constraint. *Alcohol—Clin. Exp. Res.* 12, 599–608.
- Stewart, R. B., Murphy, J. M., McBride, W. J., Lumeng, L. and Li, T. K. (1996) Place conditioning with alcohol in alcohol-preferring and -nonpreferring rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 487–491.
- Stinus, L., Nadaud, D., Deminiere, J. M., Jauregui, J., Hand, T. T. and Le Moal, M. (1989) Chronic flupentixol treatment potentiates the reinforcing properties of systemic heroin administration. *Biol. Psychiatry* 26, 363–371.
- Stinus, L., Le Moal, M. and Koob, G. F. (1990) Nucleus accumbens and amygdala are possible substrates for the aversive stimulus effects of opiate withdrawal. *Neuroscience* 37, 767–773.
- Stohr, T., Wermeling, D. S., Weiner, I. and Feldon, J. (1998) Rat strain differences in open-field behavior and the locomotor stimulating and rewarding effects of amphetamine. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 59, 813–818.
- Stolerman, I. P. and Shoaib, M. (1991) The neurobiology of tobacco addiction. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 12, 467–473.
- Sufka, K. J. (1994) Conditioned place preference paradigm: a novel approach for analgesic drug assessment against chronic pain. *Pain* 58, 355–366.
- Sufka, K. J. and Roach, J. T. (1996) Stimulus properties and antinociceptive effects of selective bradykinin B1 and B2 receptor antagonists in rats. *Pain* 66, 99–103.
- Suzuki, T. and Misawa, M. (1995) Sertindole antagonizes morphine-, cocaine-, and methamphetamine-induced place preference in the rat. *Life Sci.* 57, 1277–1284.
- Suzuki, T., George, F. R. and Meisch, R. A. (1988) Differential establishment and maintenance of oral ethanol reinforced behavior in Lewis and Fischer 344 inbred rat strains. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 245, 164–170.
- Suzuki, T., Masukawa, Y. and Misawa, M. (1990) Drug interactions in the reinforcing effects of over-the-counter cough syrups. *Psychopharmacology* **102**, 438–442.
- Suzuki, T., Funada, M., Narita, M., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1991a) Pertussis toxin abolishes mu- and delta-opioid agonistinduced place preference. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 205, 85–88.
- Suzuki, T., Masukawa, Y., Shiozaki, Y. and Misawa, M. (1991b) Potentiation of pentazocine conditioned place preference by tripelennamine in rats. *Psychopharmacology* **105**, 9–12.
- Suzuki, T., Shiozaki, Y. and Misawa, M. (1991c) Morphine conditioned place preference after chronic treatment with naloxone in the rat. *Res. Comm. Sub. Abuse* 12, 119–131.
- Suzuki, T., Shiozaki, Y., Masukawa, Y. and Misawa, M. (1992a) Effects of calcium antagonists on the cocaine- and methamphetamine-induced conditioned place preference. *Arukoru. Kenkyuto Yakubutsu Ison.* 27, 81–90.
- Suzuki, T., Shiozaki, Y., Moriizumi, T. and Misawa, M. (1992b) Establishment of the ethanol-induced place preference in rats. *Arukoru. Kenkyuto Yakubutsu Ison.* 27, 111–123.
- Suzuki, T., Shiozaki, Y., Masukawa, Y. and Misawa, M. (1992c) 5-HT3 receptor antagonists block cocaine- and methamphetamine-induced place preference. *Yakubutsu Seishin. Kodo.* 12, 33–38.
- Suzuki, T., Shiozaki, Y., Masukawa, Y., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1992d) The role of mu- and kappa-opioid receptors in cocaine-induced conditioned place preference. *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.* 58, 435–442.
- Suzuki, T., George, F. R. and Meisch, R. A. (1992e) Etonitazene delivered orally serves as a reinforcer for Lewis but not Fischer 344 rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 42, 579–586.
- Suzuki, T., Funada, M., Narita, M., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1993a) Morphine-induced place preference in the CXBK mouse: characteristics of mu opioid receptor subtypes. *Brain Res.* 602, 45–52.
- Suzuki, T., Yoshiike, M., Funada, M., Mizoguchi, H., Kamei, J. and Misawa, M. (1993b) Effect of cyclosporine A on the morphine-induced place preference. *Neurosci. Lett.* 160, 159–162.
- Suzuki, T., Funada, M., Sugano, Y., Misawa, M., Okutomi, T., Soma, G. and Mizuno, D. (1994a) Effects of a lipopolysaccharide from Pantoea agglomerans on the cocaine-induced place preference. *Life Sci.* 54, PL75–80.Suzuki, T., Yoshiike, M., Mizoguchi, H., Kamei, J., Misawa, M.
- Suzuki, T., Yoshiike, M., Mizoguchi, H., Kamei, J., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1994b) Blockade of delta-opioid receptors prevents morphine-induced place preference in mice. *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.* 66, 131–137.

- Suzuki, T., Sugano, Y., Funada, M. and Misawa, M. (1995a) Adrenalectomy potentiates the morphine- but not cocaineinduced place preference in rats. *Life Sci.* 56, PL339–344.
- Suzuki, T., Takamori, K., Misawa, M. and Onodera, K. (1995b) Effects of the histaminergic system on the morphine-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Brain Res.* 675, 195–202.
- Suzuki, T., Tsuda, M., Funada, M. and Misawa, M. (1995c) Blockade of morphine-induced place preference by diazepam in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 280, 327–330.
- Suzuki, T., Ise, Y., Tsuda, M., Maeda, J. and Misawa, M. (1996a) Mecamylamine-precipitated nicotine withdrawal aversion in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **314**, 281–284.
- Suzuki, T., Kishimoto, Y. and Misawa, M. (1996b) Formalin- and carrageenan-induced inflammation attenuates place preferences produced by morphine, methamphetamine and cocaine. *Life Sci.* 59, 1667–1674.
- Suzuki, T., Tsuji, M., Mori, T., Misawa, M., Endoh, T. and Nagase, H. (1996c) Effect of the highly selective and nonpeptide delta-opioid receptor agonist TAN67 on the morphine-induced place preference in mice. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 279, 177– 185.
- Suzuki, T., Tsuji, M., Mori, T., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1996d) The effects of dopamine D1 and D2 receptor antagonists on the rewarding effects of delta(1) and delta(2) opioid receptor agonists in mice. *Psychopharmacology* **124**, 211–218.
- Suzuki, T., Ikeda, H., Tsuji, M., Misawa, M., Narita, M. and Tseng, L. F. (1997a) Antisense oligodeoxynucleotide to deltaopioid receptors attenuates morphine dependence in mice. *Life Sci.* **61**, PL165–170.
- Suzuki, T., Ise, Y., Mori, T. and Misawa, M. (1997b) Attenuation of mecamylamine-precipitated nicotine withdrawal aversion by the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist ondansetron. *Life Sci.* 61, PL249–254.
- Suzuki, T., Tsuji, M., Ikeda, H., Narita, M. and Tseng, L. F. (1997c) Antisense oligodeoxynucleotide to delta-opioid receptors blocks cocaine-induced place preference in mice. *Life Sci.* 60, PL283–288.
- Suzuki, T., Tsuji, M., Mori, T., Ikeda, H., Misawa, M. and Nagase, H. (1997d) Involvement of dopamine-dependent and independent mechanisms in the rewarding effects mediated by delta-opioid receptor subtypes in mice. *Brain Res.* 744, 327–334.
- Symonds, M. and Hall, G. (1997) Contextual conditioning with lithium-induced nausea as the US: evidence from a blocking procedure. *Learn. Motivat.* 28, 200–215.
- Takahashi, M. and Tokuyama, S. (1998) Pharmacological and physiological effects of ginseng on actions induced by opioids and psychostimulants. *Meth. Find. Exp. Clin. Pharmacol.* 20, 77–84.
- Takahashi, N., Miner, L. L., Sora, I., Ujike, H., Revay, R. S., Kostic, V., Jackson-Lewis, V., Przedborski, S. and Uhl, G. R. (1997) VMAT2-knockout mice: heterozygotes display reduced amphetamine conditioned reward, enhanced amphetamine locomotion, and enhanced MPTP toxicity. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.* USA 94, 9938–9943.
- Tierney, C., Nadaud, D., Koenig-Berard, E. and Stinus, L. (1988) Effects of two alpha 2 agonists, rilmenidine and clonidine, on the morphine withdrawal syndrome and their potential eddictive properties in rats. Am. J. Cardiol. 61, 35D–38D.
- Timar, J., Gyarmati, Z., Barna, L. and Knoll, B. (1996) Differences in some behavioural effects of deprenyl and amphetamine enantiomers in rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 60, 581–587.
- Tokuyama, S., Nakamura, F., Nakao, K., Takahashi, M. and Kaneto, H. (1996a) A potent mu-opioid receptor agonist, dihydroetorphine, fails to produce the conditioned place preference in mice. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 71, 357–360.
- Tokuyama, S., Takahashi, M. and Kaneto, H. (1996b) The effect of Ginseng extract on locomotor sensitization and conditioned place preference induced by methamphetamine and cocaine in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 671–676.
- Trujillo, K. A. and Akil, H. (1995) Excitatory amino acids and drugs of abuse: a role for N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in drug tolerance, sensitization and physical dependence. *Drug* Alcohol Depend. 38, 139–154.
- Trujillo, K. A., Belluzzi, J. D. and Stein, L. (1991) Naloxone blockade of amphetamine place preference conditioning. *Psychopharmacology* **104**, 265–274.
- Tsuda, A., Ida, Y., Nishimura, H. and Tanaka, M. (1989) Anxiogenic effects of beta-CCE as measured in two different conditioning paradigms. *Psychobiology* 17, 202–206.
- Tsuji, M., Nakagawa, Y., Ishibashi, Y., Yoshii, T., Takashima, T., Shimada, M. and Suzuki, T. (1996) Activation of ventral teg-

mental GABA(B) receptors inhibits morphine-induced place preference in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **313**, 169–173.

- Tuazon, D. B., Suzuki, T., Misawa, M. and Watanabe, S. (1992) Methylxanthines (caffeine and theophylline) blocked methamphetamine-induced conditioned place preference in mice but enhanced that induced by cocaine. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 654, 531–533.
- Turenne, S. D., Miles, C., Parker, L. A. and Siegel, S. (1996) Individual differences in reactivity to the rewarding/aversive properties of drugs: assessment by taste and place conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 511–516.
- Tzschentke, T. M. and Schmidt, W. J. (1995) N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid-receptor antagonists block morphine-induced conditioned place preference in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 193, 37–40.
- Tzschentke, T. M. and Schmidt, W. J. (1997) Interactions of MK-801 and GYKI 52466 with morphine and amphetamine in place preference conditioning and behavioural sensitization. *Behav. Brain Res.* 84, 99–107.
- Tzschentke, T. M. and Schmidt, W. J. (1998a) Blockade of morphine- and amphetamine-induced conditioned place preference in the rat by riluzole. *Neurosci. Lett.* 242, 114–116.
- Tzschentke, T. M. and Schmidt, W. J. (1998b) Discrete quinolinic acid lesions of the rat prelimbic medial prefrontal cortex affect cocaine- and MK-801-, but not morphine- and amphetamineinduced reward and psychomotor activation as measured with the place preference conditioning paradigm. *Behav. Brain Res.*, in press.
- Tzschentke, T. M. and Schmidt, W. J. (1998c) Effects of discrete quinolinic acid lesions of the rat infralimbic medial prefrontal cortex on drug-induced conditioned place preference. *Behav. Pharmacol.*, 9, Suppl. 1, S87.
- Vaccarino, A. L., Plamondon, H. and Melzack, R. (1992) Analgesic and aversive effects of naloxone in BALB/c mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 117, 216–218.
- Valverde, O. and Roques, B. P. (1998) Cholecystokinin modulates the aversive component of morphine withdrawal syndrome in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 244, 37–40.
- Valverde, O., Fournie-Zaluski, M. C., Roques, B. P. and Maldonado, R. (1996a) The CCK-B antagonist PD 134,308 facilitates rewarding effects of endogenous enkephalins but does not induce place preference in rats. *Psychopharmacology* 123, 119–126.
- Valverde, O., Tzavara, E., Hanoune, J., Roques, B. P. and Maldonado, R. (1996b) Protein kinases in the rat nucleus accumbens are involved in the aversive component of opiate withdrawal. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 8, 2671–2678.
- Valverde, O., Smadja, C., Roques, B. P. and Maldonado, R. (1997) The attenuation of morphine conditioned place preference following chronic mild stress is reversed by a CCK-B receptor antagonist. *Psychopharmacology* 131, 79–85.
- van der Kooy, D. (1987) Place conditioning: a simple and effective method for assessing the motivational properties of drugs. In: *Methods of Assessing the Reinforcing Properties of Abused Drugs*, pp. 229–240. Ed. M. A. Bozarth. Springer Verlag: New York.
- Van der Kooy, D., O'Shaughnessy, M., Mucha, R. F. and Kalant, H. (1983) Motivational properties of ethanol in naive rats as studied by place conditioning. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 19, 441-445.
- Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J., Tjon, G. H. K., Nestby, P., Mulder, A. H., Schoffelmeer, A. N. M. and De Vries, T. J. (1997) Morphine-induced long-term sensitization to the locomotor effects of morphine and amphetamine depends on the temporal pattern of the pretreatment regimen. *Psychopharmacology* 131, 115–122.
- Vezina, P. and Stewart, J. (1987a) Conditioned locomotion and place preference elicited by tactile cues paired exclusively with morphine in an open field. *Psychopharmacology* **91**, 375–380.
- Vezina, P. and Stewart, J. (1987b) Morphine conditioned place preference and locomotion: the effect of confinement during training. *Psychopharmacology* **93**, 257–260.
- Wall, A., Hinson, R. E., Schmidt, E., Johnston, C. and Streather, A. (1990) Place conditioning with d-amphetamine: the effect of the CS-UCS interval and evidence of a place avoidance. *Anim. Learn. Behav.* 18, 393–400.
- Weingartner, H. (1978) Human state dependent learning. In: Drug Discrimination and State Dependent Learning, pp. 361–382. Eds. B. T. Ho, D. W. Richards, D. L. Chute. Academic Press: New York.
- White, N. M. (1996) Addictive drugs as reinforcers: multiple partial actions on memory systems. Addiction 91, 921–949.

- White, N. M. and Hiroi, N. (1992) Pipradrol conditioned place preference is blocked by SCH23390. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 43, 377–380.
- White, N. M. and McDonald, R. J. (1993) Acquisition of a spatial conditioned place preference is impaired by amygdala lesions and improved by fornix lesions. *Behav. Brain Res.* 55, 269–281.
  White, N. M., Messier, C. and Carr, G. D. (1987)
- White, N. M., Messier, C. and Carr, G. D. (1987) Operationalizing and measuring the organizing influence of drugs on behavior. In: *Methods of Assessing the Reinforcing Properties of Abused Drugs*, pp. 591–617. Ed. M. A. Bozarth. Springer Verlag: New York.
- White, N. M., Packard, M. G. and Hiroi, N. (1991) Place conditioning with dopamine D1 and D2 agonists injected peripherally or into nucleus accumbens. *Psychopharmacology* 103, 271– 276.
- Wilks, L. J. and File, S. E. (1988) Evidence for simultaneous anxiolytic and aversive effects several hours after administration of sodium phenobarbitone to the rat. *Neuropsychobiology* 19, 86–89.
- Willner, P., Lappas, S., Cheeta, S. and Muscat, R. (1994) Reversal of stress-induced anhedonia by the dopamine receptor agonist, pramipexole. *Psychopharmacology* **115**, 454–462.
- Wise, R. A. (1989) Opiate reward: sites and substrates. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 13, 129–133.
- Wise, R. A. (1996) Addictive drugs and brain stimulation reward. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 19, 319–340.
- Wise, R. A. and Leeb, K. (1993) Psychomotor-stimulant sensitization: a unitary phenomenon? *Behav. Pharmacol.* 4, 339–349.
- Wise, R. A. and Munn, E. (1993) Effects of repeated amphetamine injections on lateral hypothalamic brain stimulation reward and subsequent locomotion. *Behav. Brain Res.* 55, 195–201.
- Witt, E. D. (1994) Mechanisms of alcohol abuse and alcoholism in adolescents: a case for developing animal models. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 62, 168–177.

- Wongwitdecha, N. and Marsden, C. A. (1995) Isolation rearing prevents the reinforcing properties of amphetamine in a conditioned place preference paradigm. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 279, 99– 103.
- Wongwitdecha, N. and Marsden, C. A. (1996) Effect of social isolation on the reinforcing properties of morphine in the conditioned place preference test. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 53, 531–534.
- Yavich, L., Patkina, N. and Zvartau, E. E. (1994) Experimental estimation of addictive potential of a mixture of organic solvents. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 4, 111–118.
- Yeomans, J. S., Kofman, O. and McFarlane, V. (1985) Cholinergic involvement in lateral hypothalamic rewarding brain stimulation. *Brain Res.* 329, 19–26.
- Zajaczkowski, W., Quack, G. and Danysz, W. (1996) Infusion of (+)-MK-801 and memantine—contrasting effects on radial maze learning in rats with entorhinal cortex lesion. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 296, 239–246.
- Zarrindast, M. R. and Moghadamnia, A. A. (1997) Adenosine receptor agents and conditioned place preference. *Gen. Pharmacol.* 29, 285–289.
- Zito, K. A., Bechara, A., Greenwood, C. and van der Kooy, D. (1988) The dopamine innervation of the visceral cortex mediates the aversive effects of opiates. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 30, 693–699.
- Zurita, A., Murua, S. and Molina, V. (1996) An endogenous opiate mechanism seems to be involved in stress-induced anhedonia. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 299, 1–7.
- Zvartau, E. E., Patkina, N. A. and Morozova, A. S. (1986) Reinforcing, but no analgesic, effect of opioid stimulation of the ventral tegmental area. *Biull. Eksp. Biol. Med.* **102**, 172–174.

672